Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Julia Marie Baker

Date

Multi-scale assessment of rotavirus vaccination:

determinants of immunological, clinical and population-level effects

By

Julia Marie Baker

Doctor of Philosophy

Epidemiology

Benjamin A. Lopman, Ph.D. Advisor

Michael J. Haber, Ph.D. Committee Member

Juan Leon, Ph.D.

Committee Member

Jacqueline E. Tate, Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Multi-scale assessment of rotavirus vaccination:

determinants of immunological, clinical and population-level effects

By

Julia Marie Baker

B.S., University of Mary Washington, 2008 M.P.H., The George Washington University, 2011

Advisor: Benjamin A. Lopman, Ph.D.

An abstract of

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the

James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in Epidemiology

2019

Abstract

Multi-scale assessment of rotavirus vaccination: determinants of immunological, clinical and population-level effects

By Julia Marie Baker

Starting in 2006, rotavirus vaccines have been integrated into 96 national immunization programs. Yet, rotavirus gastroenteritis continues to cause 128,500-215,000 deaths among children under 5 years of age annually. This research aimed to generate insights that will help mitigate two major challenges preventing global success of the rotavirus vaccine and to understand the population-level effects of vaccination.

Rotavirus vaccines are substantially less immunogenic in high child mortality settings when compared to low child mortality settings. In **Aim 1**, we assessed individual and country-level factors associated with rotavirus vaccine immunogenicity. We pooled individual-level data on vaccinated infants from 22 clinical trials conducted across child mortality settings. Using multilevel logistic regression, we found oral polio vaccination given concomitantly with the first two rotavirus vaccine doses reduced seroconversion by 37% (OR=0.63, 95% CI=0.47, 0.84).

Given the need for improved rotavirus vaccine performance, a simple and effective method for evaluating new vaccination strategies and potential vaccine candidates is essential. In **Aim 2**, we assessed serum IgA as a correlate of protection for reduced risk of rotavirus gastroenteritis in high and low child mortality settings. Survival analysis methods were applied to follow-up data for vaccinated infants from pooled, individual-level clinical trial data. While no clear threshold indicating perfect protection across settings was identified, seroconversion served as a strong indicator of reduced risk of severe rotavirus gastroenteritis (child mortality setting: low: HR=0.04, 95% CI=0.01, 0.32; high: HR=0.48, 95% CI=0.26, 0.90).

Aim 3 estimated the longer-term, population-wide impacts of rotavirus vaccination in the United States. Time series data on monthly rates of rotavirus gastroenteritis hospitalizations in the preand post-vaccine periods were analyzed using negative binomial logistic regression. Declines in rotavirus gastroenteritis and a shift from annual to biennial patterns were apparent across age groups. The results highlight the important role infants play in rotavirus transmission and the underappreciated burden in older populations. Overall, rotavirus gastroenteritis hospitalizations decreased by 69% (95% CI=62%, 76%).

Seroconversion is valuable for identifying drivers of differential vaccine immunogenicity and for predicting risk of rotavirus gastroenteritis. Introduction of the rotavirus vaccine can lead to altered longer-term patterns in rotavirus gastroenteritis across age groups.

Multi-scale assessment of rotavirus vaccination:

determinants of immunological, clinical and population-level effects

By

Julia Marie Baker

B.S., University of Mary Washington, 2008 M.P.H., The George Washington University, 2011

Advisor: Benjamin A. Lopman, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the

James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in Epidemiology

2019

Acknowledgements

Each member of my dissertation committee has been an integral part of my education. I can hardly express the depth of my gratitude for Dr. Ben Lopman who has provided unwavering support and guidance over the last three years. His encouragement to be ambitious and bold throughout my research has given me the confidence and drive necessary for both successfully completing this dissertation and for becoming an accomplished public health researcher. Dr. Michael Haber has been a kind and generous mentor providing guidance on the statistical components of my research when I felt lost and overwhelmed. Dr. Juan Leon's thoughtful feedback and practical advice provided an important balance to my sometimes overly wild ideas. Dr. Jackie Tate has been a calm and steady support since the beginning of my research and has demonstrated how to be an accomplished and respected woman making a real-world impact in global public health.

This dissertation is dedicated to my family. I'm endlessly grateful for the values my parents instilled in me, especially an appreciation for curiosity, social awareness and education. Their support and encouragement brought me to the public health field and has allowed me to achieve my educational goals. I also couldn't have accomplished all that I have over the last decade without the support of my better half, Johnny. His love, humor, and encouragement have made life a wonderful adventure and he has boosted my confidence when I needed it most. I'm grateful to my daughter, Ginny, who has been a pure joy and who occasionally sacrificed her favorite bedtime story in exchange for an update on the latest rotavirus literature. Finally, thank you to my little bundle, due in September, who has been my constant companion through the long days and late nights as I finished up my research.

My peers, the tremendous faculty, and my support network in the Rollins School of Public Health have allowed my journey through the doctoral program to be a success. I would probably be working on my analysis for years to come if it weren't for Molly Steele's endless willingness to troubleshoot my R code and her comedic relief in the process. I'm grateful to my friends in the doctoral program who have provided a much-needed balance to the challenges of academic life.

Lastly, thank you to everyone else who made this research possible, including my network of collaborators at Emory University, collaborators at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Division of Viral Diseases, the Data Sharing Team at GlaxoSmithKline, and the study participants.

Table of Contents

1 Background1
1.1 Child mortality and rotavirus burden of disease among young children1
1.2 Rotavirus burden among older children and adults2
1.3 Viral characteristics, transmission and infection
1.4 Rotavirus immunology4
1.4.1 Mucosal and systemic immune response to rotavirus infection
1.4.2 Correlates of protection against rotavirus infection and rotavirus gastroenteritis 6
1.5 Seasonality of rotavirus gastroenteritis
1.6 Rotavirus vaccines
1.6.1 Vaccine safety
1.6.2 Currently available vaccines
1.6.3 Correlates of immunogenicity for rotavirus vaccines
1.7 Rotavirus vaccine challenges14
1.7.1 Vaccine performance
1.7.2 Identification of a correlate of protection
1.8 Vaccine evaluation
1.9 Longer-term direct and indirect vaccine effects
2 Study rationale, specific aims and significance
2.1 Study rationale

2	2.2	Aims overview	25
3	Dat	a sources	28
2	8.1	GSK clinical trials	28
2	3.2	Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project State Inpatient Database	36
3	3.3	National Center for Health Statistics Bridged Race data	37
3	3.4	MarketScan	38
4	Ain	1 - Vaccine immunogenicity	41
5	Ain	n 2- Correlates of protection	75
6	Ain	a 3- Longer-term direct and indirect vaccine effects	08
7	Ain	n 3- Supplemental Study 1	33
8	Pub	lic Health Impact	63
8	3.1	Overview1	63
8	3.2	Contribution of each specific aim1	63
	8.2.	1 Aim 1- Immunogenicity 1	63
	8.2.	2 Aim 2- Correlates of protection	66
	8.2.	3 Aim 3- Direct and indirect vaccine effects	69
8	3.3	Summary1	75
9	Ref	erences1	76
10	App	pendix	10

List of Figures

Background

Figure 1. Number of rotavirus deaths among children under 5 years of age by country, 2013 2
Figure 2. Rotavirus structure and viral proteins
Figure 3. Countries that introduced or are planning to introduce rotavirus vaccines as of January
2019
Figure 4. Three broad scales for evaluating a vaccine
Figure 5. Measurement of vaccine effects
Figure 6. States included in the HCUP SID analysis
Figure 7. States included in the MarketScan analysis

Manuscript 1

Figure 1. GSK clinical trial sites	47
Figure 2a. Percent of infants who seroconverted by country	59
Figure 2b. Post-vaccine anti-rotavirus IgA titer (U/mL) by country	60

Manuscript 2

Figure 1. Cumulative proportion of infants experiencing mild/moderate or severe	rotavirus
gastroenteritis during the entire follow-up	
period, by anti-rotavirus IgA antibody (U/mL), severity of rotavirus gastroenteritis	and child
mortality setting	

Manuscript 3

Figure 2a-h. Monthly all-cause acute gastroenteritis (AGE) and rotavirus gastr	oenteritis (RVGE)
hospitalization rate ratios comparing the pre-vaccine period (2000-2006) to p	ost-vaccine period
(2008-2013) by year; United States 2000 to 2013	

Manuscript 4

Figure 1. Monthly inpatient RVGE rates per 10,000 person-years, United States, July 2001-June
2016, children 0-4 years
Figure 2. Monthly inpatient RVGE rates per 10,000 person-years by age group, United States, July
2001-June 2016
Figure 3. Direct and indirect VE against RVGE by post-vaccine year, ^a United States, children aged
0-4 years
Figure 4. Direct and indirect VE against RVGE for each post-vaccine year, ^a United States, by age
group
Figure 5. Time series of monthly inpatient AGE rates per 10,000 person-years, United States, July
2001-June 2016
Supplementary Figure 1. Time series of monthly inpatient AGE rates per 10,000 person-years by
age group, United States, July 2001- June 2016 162

List of Tables

Background

Table 1. Comparison of currently available rotavirus vaccines	12
Table 2. Factors that may compromise rotavirus vaccine efficacy or immune response	16
Table 3. Similarities across GSK study protocols and definitions	30
Table 4. GSK study sites by mortality stratum	32
Table 5. Basic details of GSK clinical trials available for Aim 1 and Aim 2	34

Manuscript 1

Table 1. Trial characteristics by GSK trial ID 48
Table 2. Similarities across GSK trial protocols and definitions
Table 3. Vaccine, individual and country level characteristics of infants from 22 trials conducted
in 33 countries/territories beginning in 2000-2010
Table 4. Vaccine, individual and country level characteristics by anti-rotavirus IgA seroconversion
and anti-rotavirus IgA titer outcomes
Table 5. Final anti-rotavirus IgA seroconversion model developed using both child mortality
stratum combined ($n = 6,589$)
Table 6. Final anti-rotavirus IgA titer model developed using both child mortality stratum
combined (n = 5,161)
Table S1. Final seroconversion model applied to each child mortality stratum individually 73
Table S2. Final seroconversion model applied to subset of infants with confirmed seronegative
status via anti-rotavirus IgA serology sample prior to vaccination ($n = 4,473$)

Manuscript 2

Table 1. Study characteristics by trial number
Table 2. Similarities across trial protocols and definitions 82
Table 3. Individual, country and follow-up characteristics of infants from 9 trials conducted in 16
countries beginning in 2000-2010
Table 4a. Survival analysis results for infants in low child mortality settings during follow-up to 1
year of age
Table 4b. Survival analysis results for infants in high child mortality settings during follow-up to
1 year of age
Table 5. Survival analysis results for infants in low child mortality settings further stratified into
very low and low child mortality during follow-up to 1 year of age
Table S1. Comparison of HR estimates for anti-rotavirus IgA threshold alone, in a full model
controlling for all possible confounders, and the final model after backwards elimination 105
Table S2a. Survival analysis results for infants in low child mortality settings during follow-up
from 1 year of age to 2 years of age 106
Table S2b. Survival analysis results for infants in high child mortality settings during follow-up
from 1 year of age to 2 years of age

Manuscript 3

Manuscript 4

Table 1. Vaccine effectiveness against RVGE hospitalization during the	post-vaccine period by
age group	
Table 2. Projected direct VE calculated in a hypothetical population co	ompared with true and
observed direct VE	
Supplemental Table 1. Number of RVGE and AGE cases by age group, U	nited States, July 2001-
June 2016	

1 Background

1.1 Child mortality and rotavirus burden of disease among young children

It is estimated that 5.5 million children died worldwide in 2017, approximately 39 per 1,000 live births.¹ While this represents a tremendous decline of 58% since 1990, child mortality remains an imperative global challenge.¹ Diarrheal disease contributes to child morbidity and mortality both directly and indirectly. Worldwide, children under 5 years of age experience 1.1 billion episodes of diarrheal disease resulting in approximately 446,000 deaths² (the second leading cause of death outside of neonatal deaths)³ each year. Further compounding the burden, diarrheal disease is considered a primary cause of malnutrition,⁴ which is estimated to contribute to 45% of deaths among young children.⁵

Rotavirus gastroenteritis is estimated to cause between 128,500 and 215,000 deaths among infants and children under 5 years of age annually^{6,7}—more than one quarter of all diarrhea-related deaths in this age group.^{6,8,9} An estimated 85% of rotavirus-related deaths occur in Africa and Asia and nearly half of all rotavirus deaths occur in the countries of India, Nigeria, Pakistan and Democratic Republic of Congo.⁷ Almost every child will experience rotavirus infection by their fifth birthday^{10,11} and, in some high incidence settings, almost all children will have been infected by the time they turn 2-3 years of age.^{10,12} Severe disease and life-threatening complications from rotavirus most frequently occur with the first infection in early childhood.¹³



Figure 1. Number of rotavirus deaths among children under 5 years of age by country, 2013

Tate, JE et al. Global, regional and national estimates of rotavirus mortality in children <5 years of age, 2000-2013. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2016 May 1;62 Suppl 2:S96-S105. By permission of Oxford University Press and the Infectious Diseases Society of America

1.2 Rotavirus burden among older children and adults

While the primary burden of diarrheal disease and rotavirus gastroenteritis is felt among the youngest children, there is a potentially under-recognized rotavirus burden outside the pediatric age range.¹⁴ Importantly, there is some uncertainty about the burden in this age group.¹⁵ Some estimates suggest that almost one-quarter (23%) of rotavirus deaths occur among older children, adolescents and adults.⁸ Across the age range, rotavirus is potentially the leading cause of diarrhea-related deaths in countries of all but the highest level of development⁸ and is estimated to cause over 15% of the 1.3 million diarrhea-related deaths worldwide.⁹

Rotavirus, first discovered in humans in 1973,¹⁶ is a double-stranded RNA virus with a characteristic wheel-like appearance when viewed under an electron microscope.¹⁷ The eight species of the virus (groups A through H) are known to infect humans and other animals, with

Rotavirus A being the most frequent culprit in human disease causing up to 90% of cases.¹⁸ The virus' 11 segment genome sequence codes for the production of structural and non-structural viral proteins shown in Figure 2¹⁹ VP6, the proteins that make up the inner capsid (the middle layer of the virus' three-layer protein shell), determines the viral group. VP4 and VP7 are proteins on the outer surface of the virus

Figure 2. Rotavirus structure and viral proteins



and define the P and G rotavirus serotypes, respectively, with at least 42 different P-G combinations recognized.²⁰ VP8* is a surface protein located on VP4 and plays a critical role in infection, interacting with receptor proteins (histo-blood group antigens, HBGAs) on host mucosal cells.^{18,21} Various strains, representing different combinations of genotypes, circulate in the environment as a result of genetic re-assortment.¹⁸ Some regions, such as Africa, have particularly high diversity of strains in circulation^{18,22,23} whereas in regions such as North America and Europe, one serotype (P1A[8]G1) is thought to cause a majority (70%) of infections.²²

The virus is transmitted via the fecal-oral route, most commonly through person-to-person contact or contact with fomites.¹³ Its stability allows it to survive in a variety of environments and spread through contamination of food, water, surfaces and objects. Once ingested, rotavirus damages mucosal cells lining the small intestine causing symptoms including vomiting and watery diarrhea that can last up to eight days, often accompanied by abdominal pain, fever, loss of appetite and/or dehydration. Disease is typically self-limiting and oral rehydration treatment may be given to prevent or reduce dehydration. Hospitalization and rehydration with intravenous fluids are used to treat the most severe episodes.¹⁷

The non-specific symptoms of rotavirus-related gastroenteritis are often clinically indistinguishable from gastroenteritis caused by other pathogens.¹³ Identification of rotavirus as the cause of illness can be achieved through standard diagnosis techniques utilizing a fecal sample assay. Because the results of a rotavirus test do not alter the clinical management of gastroenteritis (i.e. rehydration), there is little incentive to conduct the test in the medical setting.²⁴ This rationale is apparent in reviews of medical records from children hospitalized in the United States for acute gastroenteritis in which only half were tested for rotavirus.^{25,26} As a result of limited testing, estimates of the rotavirus disease burden based on medical records are likely underestimates.²⁶

1.4 Rotavirus immunology

1.4.1 Mucosal and systemic immune response to rotavirus infection

The immune response to rotavirus has been well studied in animals but remains less well understood in humans.¹⁸ Our understanding of the human response to rotavirus infection is

primarily based on animal models supplemented with studies from adult volunteers or natural infection among children.²⁷

The response to rotavirus infection begins in the small intestine where the local mucosal immune response is induced though antibody secreting cells, B cells and T cells.¹⁸ Antibody secreting cells direct the antiviral effect.²⁸ When the virus infects the epithelial cells lining the small intestine, antibodies in the gut mucosa are released into the intestinal lumen.²⁹ Rotavirus-specific neutralizing antibodies (NAs) are produced in response to the VP4 and VP7 viral proteins on the surface of the virus.²⁷ These NAs are specific both to the rotavirus serotype causing infection as well as other serotypes.³⁰ Antibody secreting cells also stimulate the production of anti-rotavirus immunoglobulin A (IgA) and anti-rotavirus immunoglobulin G (IgG)³¹ which are actively involved in neutralizing the virus locally; these antibodies bind to the virus and prevent cell entry.¹⁸ Specifically, secretory anti-rotavirus IgA (dimeric in structure) is produced in the gut and is active at mucosal surfaces where it prevents rotavirus from binding to mucosal cells of the intestine.³² In the days following infection, anti-rotavirus immunoglobulin M (IgM) is also triggered though its mucosal presence is relatively short-lived.³³ Memory B cells are produced in the small intestine with receptors that allow them to circulate in the blood and return to the intestine with future infections.²⁸ T cells are also thought to be an essential component of long-term antiviral immunity through their role in stimulating B cells to produce anti-rotavirus IgA antibodies in the intestine.

Rotavirus infection also induces a systemic immune response, which has been the focus of many human immunology studies.^{18,29} Memory B cells and antibody secreting cells both contribute to the production of anti-rotavirus IgA and anti-rotavirus IgG which circulates in serum.²⁸ The level

of these antibodies vary widely and seem to be positively associated with child age and number of infections.³³ Importantly, levels of serum anti-rotavirus antibodies may be reflective of mucosal antibody activity.²⁹ Specifically, the level of serum anti-rotavirus IgA (typically monomeric in structure)³⁴ has been shown to be correlated with duodenal anti-rotavirus IgA, suggesting serum anti-rotavirus IgA may be approximately representative of local immunity in the gut.³⁵ Antibodies in the intestine have been shown to "spillover" into serum and vice versa, though the mechanisms behind this process are not fully understood.²⁸

A primary rotavirus infection can elicit both homotypic (against a single serotype) and heterotypic (against multiple serotypes) NA activity which indicates cross-reactive neutralizing epitopes are present. However, this type of response may be dependent on the serotype associated with the initial infection.³⁶ It is likely that the immune response to an initial rotavirus infection is primarily homotypic while heterotypic responses develop with subsequent exposures.¹⁸

1.4.2 Correlates of protection against rotavirus infection and rotavirus gastroenteritis

Research into the association between specific components of the immune response to rotavirus and the protection provided against future infection and symptomatic illness has frequently produced conflicting results. Intestinal and serum neutralizing antibodies, intestinal and stool anti-rotavirus IgA and anti-rotavirus IgG, and serum anti-rotavirus IgA and anti-rotavirus IgG have all been explored.²⁷

The primary defense against rotavirus infection occurs in the gut where anti-rotavirus specific antibodies are actively engaged.²⁷ Intestinal NAs and anti-rotavirus IgA antibodies specifically

targeting VP6 reflect the immune system's ability to neutralize viral particles encountered in the gut and provide mucosal protection from infection.^{28,37} These antibodies likely represent the strongest correlate of protection against rotavirus infection²⁸ Given the difficulty in measuring intestinal antibodies, fecal anti-rotavirus IgA has been assessed as a possible representative of intestinal antibody levels. Fecal IgA has been found to be correlated with duodenal anti-rotavirus IgA, however, fecal anti-rotavirus IgA was not found to be associated with protection against rotavirus infection against rotavirus infection against

There is uncertainty regarding whether serum antibodies contribute to protection against rotavirus infection and illness or whether they are correlated with other immune mechanisms more directly involved in protection against infection and illness.³⁸ NAs in serum have been shown to be associated with a reduced risk of rotavirus infection and illness, and, relatedly, individuals with low homotypic and heterotypic serum NAs titers are more likely to experience symptomatic rotavirus illness.¹⁸ Two of the more promising (and most frequently assessed) indicators of protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis are serum anti-rotavirus IgA and serum anti-rotavirus IgG. Though study results have been mixed, several studies of natural rotavirus infection against symptomatic rotavirus infection.^{28,38} A groundbreaking study of natural rotavirus infection among Mexican infants demonstrated that serum anti-rotavirus IgA and anti-rotavirus IgG provided little evidence of protection against infection, were modestly associated with protection against mild disease, and were most strongly associated with protection against severe disease. In addition, protection was shown to increase with subsequent infections.^{10,39} Overall, total anti-rotavirus IgA

in serum is likely a strong correlate of intestinal anti-rotavirus IgA levels, however, the mechanisms behind this relationship are not fully understood.²⁸

An important characteristic of rotavirus is its ability to induce imperfect immunity against symptomatic illness.^{10,40–42} Immunity to rotavirus infection, or at least symptomatic disease, builds with each subsequent infection.^{10,12,42} The level of protection against symptomatic illness afforded by previous infections varies by setting. A study of children in India estimated 79% protection against moderate to severe illness after three prior infections¹² whereas complete protection was afforded after just two infections among infants in Mexico.¹⁰ With repeat exposure to the virus, the immune system develops full or partial immunity to rotavirus gastroenteritis for the specific strains with which an individual has been infected as well as to other strains with which the individual has not been infected (homotypic and heterotypic defenses).^{43,44} Interestingly, host expression of HBGAs, the receptor carbohydrates that interact with VP8* on the surface of rotavirus, vary by host genetics and development, indicating that human susceptibility to rotavirus infection varies.^{18,45–47}

1.5 Seasonality of rotavirus gastroenteritis

Distinct patterns in seasonal prevalence of rotavirus gastroenteritis can be observed in different settings. Low-income countries (perhaps driven by characteristics such as birth rate and transmission rates⁴⁸) more typically experience year-round prevalence whereas high income countries typically have a defined rotavirus season with little detection of the virus outside the season.⁴⁹ Other factors such as climate, latitude and population density may also contribute to

seasonal patterns.^{50–52} Changes in rotavirus seasonality have been observed in some countries after introduction to the rotavirus vaccine (discussed below).⁵³

1.6 Rotavirus vaccines

Vaccination plays a vital role in reducing the rotavirus disease burden,⁵⁴ particularly because of the virus' high infectivity and the limited role of water, sanitation and hygiene conditions in reducing transmission.⁵⁵

1.6.1 Vaccine safety

The first rotavirus vaccine, which is no longer available, was introduced in 1998 and was only administered in the United States before being pulled from use less than a year later. This vaccine, RotaShield (Wyeth Lederle Vaccines), was found to increase intussusception, a rare and very serious bowel obstruction.⁵⁶ The vaccines available today (described below) have been rigorously studied to assess the risk of intussusception as well as other possible adverse events. The World Health Organization (WHO) Global Advisory Committee on Vaccine Safety continuously monitors rotavirus vaccine safety and has affirmed that the benefits of rotavirus vaccination outweigh the small risks.^{57,58}

1.6.2 Currently available vaccines

Until recently, only two vaccines were available globally: GlaxoSmithKline's (GSK's) monovalent vaccines, Rotarix, and Merck's pentavalent vaccine, RotaTeq.⁵⁹ Promising clinical

trial results from the two manufacturers were released in 2006 with the vaccines demonstrating safety and efficacy over 90% against severe rotavirus disease in some high- and middle- income settings.^{60–62} Of note, these two vaccines contain rotavirus genotypes thought to cover 90% of circulating rotavirus strains⁶³ and provide good cross protective (heterotypic) immunity.⁶⁴ By January 2019, rotavirus vaccines had been integrated into 96 national immunization programs around the world (Figure 3).⁶⁵ Forty-six of these countries have been able to introduce the vaccines because of financial support from Gavi, The Vaccine Alliance,⁶⁶ which plays a crucial role in assisting developing countries in purchasing and increasing coverage of childhood vaccines.⁶⁶ Unfortunately, the vaccines are still not accessible to approximately 90 million infants born each year, many of whom are in low-income countries with sub-optimal access to care and the highest rotavirus disease burdens.^{67,68}

Figure 3. Countries that introduced or are planning to introduce rotavirus vaccines as of January 2019⁶⁶



GSK's Rotarix vaccine is a monovalent, live attenuated, oral rotavirus vaccine licensed in more than 100 countries.⁶⁹ A full vaccine regimen consists of two 1 mL doses, the first of which is recommended for administration at 6 weeks of age and the second after a four-week interval, but by 24 weeks of age, according to the manufacturer.⁷⁰ Vaccine efficacy from clinical trials conducted in Europe is 90% against severe rotavirus gastroenteritis and 72% for all-cause diarrheal hospitalizations.⁶⁰ Efficacy is substantially lower in many low-resource settings, such as Malawi, where the vaccine is 49% effective in preventing severe rotavirus disease.⁷¹

Merck's RotaTeq vaccine is integrated into the immunization programs of 22 countries.⁶⁶ This pentavalent, oral vaccine is administered in a series of three, 2 mL doses beginning when an infant is 6 to 12 weeks of age. The two subsequent doses are administered at 4 to 10 week intervals with the third dose given by 32 weeks of age.⁷² As with Rotarix, RotaTeq's efficacy varies by setting. Efficacy ranges from as low as 51% in high child mortality settings to 100% in countries with low child mortality.^{73,74}

In 2018, the WHO prequalified two new oral rotavirus vaccines, the Serum Institute of India's heat-stable vaccine, Rotasiil, and Bharat Biotech's monovalent and locally produced, low-cost vaccine (India), Rotavac.^{54,75–77}WHO prequalification means these vaccines are now available for purchase by UN agencies and Gavi.⁷⁷ Among infants in high child mortality settings, both Rotasiil and Rotavac have demonstrated efficacy similar to Rotarix and RotaTeq, with modest efficacy of 40-67% against severe rotavirus gastroenteritis.^{75,78,79} Several characteristics of the four WHO prequalified vaccines are compared in Table 1.

			Number of	
		Valency/	countries	Efficacy against severe rotavirus
	Manufacturer	Antigens	using ^{66,80}	gastroenteritis ^{74,75,78,79} (95% CI)
Rotarix	GSK	Monovalent/	92	49% (11-72) (Malawi)
		G1, P8		72% (40-88) (South Africa)
				72% (54-84) (China)
				81% (88-100) (Latin America)
				90% (85-94) (Europe)
				92% (62-99) (Japan)
RotaTeq	Merck	Pentavalent/	22	51% (13-73) (Bangladesh/Vietnam)
		G1, G2, G3,		64% (40-79) (Kenya/Ghana/Mali)
		G4, P8		98% (88-100) (US/Finland)
				100% (55-100) (Japan)
Rotasiil	Serum Institute of	Pentavalent/	1	40% (27-50) (India)
	India	G1, G2, G3,		67% (50-78) (Niger)
		G4, G9		
Rotavac	Bharat Biotech	Monovalent/	1	54% (35-67) (India)
	International	G9, P11		
	Limited, India			

Table 1. Comparison of currently available rotavirus vaccines

Following the introduction of rotavirus vaccines into national immunization programs, countries around the world have experienced declines in diarrhea-related morbidity along with reductions in all-cause and rotavirus-related hospitalizations among young children.^{81–87} In the United States,

for example, rotavirus hospitalizations among children under 5 years of age have declined by 80%.⁸⁸ In Latin America and the Caribbean, vaccination reduced the risk of severe gastroenteritis by 50%-80% and hospitalization or emergency department visits by 85%-90%.⁸⁹ Botswana observed a 23% reduction in gastroenteritis hospitalizations among young children following vaccine introduction.⁹⁰ In Bangladesh, hospitalization from acute rotavirus diarrhea decreased by nearly one-third among children under 2 years of age after vaccine was introduced as part of a demonstration project.⁹¹ The introduction of rotavirus vaccines has led to dramatic reductions in rotavirus risk in certain settings,^{60,61,73,92,93} yet, between 128,500 and 215,000 children under 5 years of age still die from rotavirus gastroenteritis each year.^{6,8,9} Moreover, in many settings, rotavirus remains the dominant cause of hospitalization from severe diarrheal disease among children under 5 years of age despite vaccine introduction.^{94,95} This remaining disease burden emphasizes the critical need for ongoing research to improve rotavirus vaccine implementation and performance.

1.6.3 Correlates of immunogenicity for rotavirus vaccines

Vaccine-induced immune response against rotavirus infection and gastroenteritis has been studied as part of rotavirus vaccine development and post-licensure evaluation. As with the correlates of protection against rotavirus infection and gastroenteritis, study results have frequently been mixed and uncertainty remains.⁴³ Vaccination has been shown to induce serum anti-rotavirus IgA and serum anti-rotavirus NAs which have then been correlated with a reduced risk of mild/moderate and severe rotavirus gastroenteritis.^{18,27,28} Other studies, however, have found anti-rotavirus NAs to be poorly associated with protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis.⁴³ One possibility is that it is neither the level of anti-rotavirus IgA or anti-rotavirus IgG levels alone that dictate protection against rotavirus infection and disease, but rather a combination of the two.⁴³ As with natural infection, the vaccine-induced immune response has been shown to be both homotypic (stimulating an immune response to the specific vaccine strain) and heterotypic (stimulating an immune response to other strains of the virus not included in the vaccine).⁴³

1.7 Rotavirus vaccine challenges

1.7.1 Vaccine performance

A central impediment to further reducing the rotavirus burden is the relatively low efficacy of the vaccine in settings where the incidence of severe disease and death is highest, such as Africa and Asia.^{7,96} In high child mortality settings, vaccine efficacy against severe rotavirus gastroenteritis can be as low as 36%, as compared to over 90% in areas of low child mortality.^{62,73,97} This pattern of lower efficacy in settings of lower socioeconomic development was observed under clinical trial conditions,^{62,73,97} indicating weaker protection conferred by vaccination (distinct from lower vaccine uptake, i.e. lower level of vaccine coverage), and the mechanisms behind this variation in efficacy are not fully understood.⁹⁸

Relatedly, rotavirus vaccines are substantially less immunogenic (i.e. stimulates a weaker immune response) in high child mortality settings when compared to low child mortality settings.^{73,97} Rotavirus vaccine immunogenicity, represented by serum anti-rotavirus IgA, has been shown to vary by country and is inversely associated with a country's under 5 mortality rate at the aggregate level.⁹⁹ This trend has been demonstrated for two measures of vaccine immunogenicity; mean

geometric concentration (GMC) of anti-rotavirus IgA titers and anti-rotavirus seroconversion rates are substantially lower among infants in low-income countries compared to infants in high-income countries.⁹⁸ Identifying the reasons for poor immune response at the individual-level is a critical step in determining relevant factors contributing to disparate efficacy of vaccination at the population-level.

Current literature suggests host characteristics may influence rotavirus vaccine immunogenicity by reducing the effective vaccine virus titer (plaque forming units, pfu) delivered to the intestines or impairing host immune response.⁹⁸ For instance, high levels of antibodies received from breast milk may decrease the effective vaccine virus titer by binding to the vaccine virus and preventing replication.¹⁰⁰ Co-infection with other pathogens or malnutrition may reduce an infant's immune response to the vaccine⁹⁸ through changes in the gut microbiome (with which the vaccine virus interactions and where it replicates) or suppression of immune function.¹⁰¹ Other possible explanations include differences in circulating strains of rotavirus,²² variations in the force of infection,^{73,98,102} and environmental enteropathy (chronic inflammation).¹⁰³ Table 2 summarizes potentially relevant factors for vaccine immunogenicity and efficacy at the host, household and country level.

Host (H)	Household (F)	Country (C)		
Age at vaccination	Breastfeeding practices	Development/income level		
Micronutrient malnutrition	(interval between breastfeeding	Child mortality rate		
Zinc deficiency	and vaccination)	Circulating rotavirus strains		
Concomitant oral polio	Socioeconomic status			
vaccinationCo-infections				
Gut flora				
Gastric acid in digestive track				
Components of breast milk				
Transplacental antibodies				
Environmental enteropathy				

Table 2. Factors that may compromise rotavirus vaccine efficacy or immune response ^{22,73,98,102–}

Concomitant (concurrent) vaccination with oral polio vaccine (OPV) is another potential factor influencing immune response to rotavirus vaccination. Poliovirus is transmitted through the fecaloral route and replicates in the intestines where it can lead to gastrointestinal symptoms and, in severe cases, ultimately cause neurological damage. As with rotavirus vaccine, OPV is a live, attenuated oral vaccine favored in high burden settings due to its ability to provoke a response in both the mucosal and systemic immune systems.¹⁰⁵ Due to the high risk of rotavirus and polio during infancy and early childhood in high child mortality settings, it is critical that both vaccines be administered during the first months of life and the two vaccines are frequently given concomitantly according to routine childhood immunization schedules.¹⁰⁶ Unfortunately, it has been demonstrated in several countries that concurrent OPV and rotavirus vaccination reduces rotavirus seroconversion rates.^{107–110} This interaction seems to be strongest for the first rotavirus dose¹⁰⁸ and there is some suggestion that staggering vaccination even by just one day might negate potential interference.¹⁰⁷ The mechanisms behind this interaction are poorly understood but may relate to competition between rotavirus and poliovirus for receptors on mucosal cells reducing viral entry or poliovirus causing downregulation of components of the immune system response to rotavirus.¹⁰⁷

This interaction is of particular interest as changes in the polio vaccination strategy are expected over the next several years. The Global Polio Eradication Initiative is a three-decade long, worldwide effort led by the WHO to completely eradicate poliovirus.¹¹¹ As poliovirus transmission continues to be reduced, particularly in high child mortality settings, countries will likely remove OPV from their national immunization programs and replace it with a safer, inactivated polio vaccine (IPV). Importantly, IPV is a killed vaccine which is administered intramuscularly or intradermally and acts through a different mechanism than OPV to simulate the immune system.¹¹² Concomitant administration of IPV with rotavirus vaccine does not seem to interact with rotavirus vaccine immunogenicity.¹¹⁰ The impact of removing OPV from routine use on rotavirus vaccine performance remains to be seen.

1.7.2 Identification of a correlate of protection

A correlate of protection predicts protection against clinical disease.^{27,113} When used as part of a vaccine study, it can function as a substitute for clinical endpoints and predict the efficacy of a vaccine.^{27,113} A reliable correlate of protection is important for a vaccine program because of its

ability to predict vaccine efficacy without the need for long, large-scale trials with clinical endpoints.²⁷

Reductions in rotavirus-related morbidity and mortality have been impeded by progressively slower vaccine uptake in recent years.⁵⁴ Logistic challenges including vaccine supply constraints, prohibitively high cost per dose and cold-chain requirements mean the utility of some existing vaccines are limited, particularly in settings where the vaccines are needed most.¹¹⁴ Given the demand for and potential volume of new interventions for reducing the rotavirus disease burden, including new vaccine candidates in the pipeline, a simple and effective method for evaluating new vaccination strategies and vaccine candidates without the need for large-scale trials with clinical endpoints is essential.¹¹⁵ Within this context, serum anti-rotavirus IgA antibodies are being explored as possible markers for protection²⁸ and have demonstrated value as predictors of vaccine efficacy on the aggregate level, when comparing countries by income level.⁹⁹ Research related to individual-level correlates of protection, however, has been limited.^{116–119} Early investigations of individual-level correlates of protection evaluated vaccines or vaccine candidates not available for use today.²⁸ More recently, Cheuvart et al found vaccine-induced seropositivity measured via serum anti-rotavirus IgA to be moderately associated with reduced rotavirus gastroenteritis in a small subset of clinical trials.¹¹⁹ Further insights into the value of anti-rotavirus IgA as a predictor of protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis on the individual-level may be gained by assessing this relationship among individuals from a diversity of settings.

1.8 Vaccine evaluation

The effects of a vaccine can be evaluated on several scales including (a) vaccine immunogenicity, (b) direct vaccine effects, and (c) population-level vaccine effects which include indirect, total and overall effects. These three broad categories are shown in Figure 4 and each measure is described in detail below.





A fundamental measure for evaluating a vaccine relates to how the vaccine interacts with the immune system of a vaccinated individual. Immunogenicity describes "the ability of a molecule or substance to provoke an immune response" in an individual or the "magnitude of an immune response" when exposed to a substance.¹²⁰ Anti-rotavirus IgA antibodies are an integral component of the immune response to rotavirus infection.¹²¹ For rotavirus vaccines, serum anti-rotavirus IgA is a standard measure of immunogenicity in clinical trials and observational studies. Anti-rotavirus IgA response is often measured as:²⁷

- 1. Seroconversion: the appearance of anti-rotavirus IgA antibodies in subjects seronegative prior to the first vaccine dose
- 2. IgA titer: post-vaccination serum anti-rotavirus IgA concentration

Another important scale upon which a vaccine's effects can be evaluated is how well it prevents a clinical outcome of interest among those who receive it. Direct vaccine efficacy represents the biological protection against illness obtained from vaccination at the individual level.¹²² Direct vaccine efficacy is defined as the percent reduction in the risk of the outcome of interest in a vaccinated individual compared to an unvaccinated individual when both are exposed to the same sources of infection.¹²³ It is considered a characteristic of a vaccine that, theoretically, remains constant over time (except with waning immunity) and is not impacted by changes in vaccine coverage. Efficacy is used when describing the percentage reduction under ideal conditions, such as a in a randomized clinical trial, while vaccine effectiveness is analogously calculated under more typical, real-world conditions.

A third scale for evaluating a vaccine involves measuring the change in the prevalence/rate of the outcome of interest at the population-level. These population-level effects include (a) indirect effects or "herd protection" provided to members of the population either from reduced exposure to infected individuals or reduced infectiousness of infected individuals,¹²² (b) total effects which describe the combination of biologic and indirect protection received by vaccinated individuals, and (c) the overall effects, also called "vaccine impact", which quantify the public health benefit of a vaccination program in terms of the vaccine-induced reduction in the cumulative incidence of the outcome of interest that can be attributed to the vaccination program. In contrast with direct

vaccine effects, population-level effects vary with changes in vaccine coverage levels, population immunity, and social mixing patterns.^{124–126}

Measurement of vaccine effects are described in Halloran et al.'s vaccine evaluation framework.¹²⁶ Ideally, population vaccine effects would be estimated in a cluster randomized trial (shown schematically in Figure 5) with a "control cluster" and an "intervention cluster." The entire population in the control cluster has not received the intervention. For a vaccine evaluation, the control cluster would contain only unvaccinated individuals. In the intervention cluster, a portion of the population has received the intervention (i.e. are vaccinated). In practice, this type of study design is difficult to achieve and is not frequently conducted. However, "natural experiments" from populations with different vaccine coverage can be used to evaluate the same measures. To measure the effects of the rotavirus vaccine in a particular population, the pre-vaccine era represents the control cluster and the post-vaccine era, in which a portion of the population has been vaccinated, represents the intervention cluster.





1.9 Longer-term direct and indirect vaccine effects

Globally, introduction of the rotavirus vaccine has profoundly impacted gastroenteritis-related morbidity and mortality among children. A recent review found an overall reduction of 38% in all-cause acute gastroenteritis and a 67% reduction in rotavirus-specific gastroenteritis among children under 5 years of age since vaccine introduction.¹²⁷ High and low-income countries around the world have experienced declines in diarrhea-related morbidity along with reductions in all-cause and rotavirus-related hospitalizations among young children.^{81–87} Possible indirect benefits of the vaccine to unvaccinated children have also been demonstrated in some settings.^{83,85,87,128,129}

The United States was one of the first countries to introduce rotavirus vaccine nationally^{130,131} with RotaTeq and Rotarix included in the routine infant vaccination schedule in 2006 and 2008, respectively, based on recommendations from the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices.^{130,132} Before vaccine introduction, rotavirus was the leading cause of severe pediatric gastroenteritis in the United States causing an estimated 55,000-70,000 hospitalizations among young children annually.^{130,133} Rotavirus vaccine coverage increased rapidly in the years immediately following its introduction, however, national coverage rates have plateaued around 73% since 2013.^{134,135} This is relatively modest coverage when compared with more established, routine infant immunizations such as DTaP where three-dose coverage was 94% in 2017.¹³⁵ In the decade-long post-vaccine period, there has been a dramatic decline in rotavirus-related hospitalizations,^{87,129,136} ED visits^{136,137} and physician office visits^{87,136} among children under 5 years of age.
There is substantial evidence from the United States that demonstrates clear direct vaccine benefits among the vaccinated,^{60,61} however, potential effects of the rotavirus vaccine on the unvaccinated population and longer-term trends in rotavirus gastroenteritis have been less well evaluated.⁶² A recent meta-analysis on rotavirus vaccination in the United States estimates direct vaccine effectiveness is approximately 84% against rotavirus-associated hospitalizations and emergency department visits.¹³⁴ Supplementing the direct effects, the estimated reduction in rotavirus disease have exceeded vaccine coverage, which suggests unvaccinated children are experiencing indirect benefits from their vaccinated counterparts.¹³⁸ These indirect benefits may extend to newborns too young to be vaccinated as well as older children, adolescents, and adults who are age-ineligible for vaccination, as reductions in rotavirus gastroenteritis and all-cause gastroenteritis have been observed in these populations.¹³⁹ Importantly, the literature evaluating indirect effects is limited to short-term periods immediately following vaccine introduction,^{139,140} projections of future disease burden¹⁴¹ or restricted to select age groups.^{87,129,136,142,143}

2 Study rationale, specific aims and significance

2.1 Study rationale

Despite the remarkable declines in gastroenteritis that have resulted from rotavirus vaccine introduction in countries around the world,¹²⁷ the potential of the vaccine has not been fully realized and rotavirus gastroenteritis remains a substantial threat to the health of young children.

As previously mentioned, rotavirus vaccines are substantially less immunogenic in high child mortality settings when compared to low child mortality settings.^{73,99} Identifying the reasons for

poor immune response at the individual-level is a critical step for understanding the disparate efficacy of vaccination at the population-level. Conditions or factors that may contribute to poor IgA response have been hypothesized, however, the influence of these factors have typically been assessed in individual countries or in isolation from other potential confounding factors.⁹⁸ The role of these factors have not been assessed in a large, pooled analysis of individual level clinical trial data controlling for host and country-level characteristics. Identifying predictors of rotavirus vaccine immunogenicity across settings may highlight modifiable vaccine strategies or interventions for enhancing vaccine performance.

A reliable correlate of protection would benefit rotavirus vaccine programs because of its ability to predict vaccine efficacy.²⁷ The future of rotavirus vaccine research will inevitably require a considerable number of vaccine studies, including assessments of improved vaccination strategies and evaluation of vaccine candidates currently under development in the robust rotavirus vaccine pipeline.¹⁴⁴ A simple and effective method for evaluating new vaccination strategies and potential vaccine candidates without the need for large-scale, long-term trials with clinical endpoints is essential for rapidly improving rotavirus vaccine performance.¹¹⁵ The value of IgA antibodies as a rotavirus vaccine correlate of protection has only been explored in limited research.^{116–119} Assessing IgA as a correlate of protection among individuals from a diversity of settings will provide further insights into its value as a predictor of protection against gastroenteritis.

Lastly, a better understanding of the longer-term, population-level impacts of rotavirus vaccination is needed to fully appreciate the rotavirus disease burden across the age range. While the direct benefits of vaccination to those who receive it are well known,^{60,61} questions remain about the

potential effects of the rotavirus vaccine on the unvaccinated population and longer-term trends.⁶² Assessment of the indirect effects of the vaccination program among older children, adolescents and adults may reveal a considerable severe disease burden outside the pediatric age range that is preventable by infant immunization. Evaluations of longer-term data are needed to confirm and quantify these population-level effects. Settings such as the United States, where the vaccine has been in use for many years, provide a unique opportunity to assess the longer-term, population-level trends in rotavirus illness.

The primary goal of this research is to generate insights that will help mitigate some of the major challenges preventing full global success of the rotavirus vaccine. To do so, this research will evaluate the rotavirus vaccine on three interconnected scales: (1) how host characteristics influence rotavirus vaccine immunogenicity, (2) how immune response predicts clinical disease within an individual, and (3) how rotavirus vaccination impacts severe gastrointestinal illness at the population-level. Improved understanding of the rotavirus vaccine on these three scales may provide insight into enhanced vaccination strategies, rapid and efficient methods for evaluating new interventions, and the long-term impacts of vaccination across the age range.

2.2 Aims overview

Aim 1: Identify host characteristics that contribute to rotavirus vaccine immunogenicity measured approximately 4 – 12 weeks after receipt of the last vaccine dose in high and low child mortality settings.

Individual-level data from GSK's Rotarix phase II and phase III clinical trials will be pooled and analyzed to achieve this aim. Infant characteristics such as gender, age at first dose, and nutritional status will be assessed as predictors of immune response to Rotarix immunization while controlling for country factors as covariates and potential confounders using a hierarchical model approach. Immune response will be measured as:

- Seroconversion defined as serum anti-rotavirus IgA antibody concentrations ≥ 20 U/mL in subjects initially seronegative
- 2. Post-vaccine serum anti-rotavirus IgA antibody titer among infants who seroconverted

Multilevel logistic regression and linear regression of log-transformed data will be used to analyze anti-rotavirus IgA seroconversion and antibody titer, respectively. Models will first be run with data from all countries combined and then applied to each child mortality stratum individually. Child mortality is a frequently used indicator of economic development ¹ and child mortality stratum will be defined based on WHO classification methods.¹⁴⁵

Aim 2: Quantify a threshold of post-vaccine anti-rotavirus IgA antibody units that serves as an individual-level immune correlate of protection against mild/moderate and severe rotavirus disease among infants in high and low child mortality settings.

Individual-level data from GSK's Rotarix phase II and phase III clinical trials will be analyzed to achieve this aim. This aspect of the study will identify if there exists a cutoff value of post-vaccine serum anti-rotavirus IgA antibody, measured approximately 4 - 12 weeks after receipt of the last

vaccine dose, which is associated with dramatically reduced risk or near perfect protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis among infants. Four outcomes will be assessed:

1. At least one episode of mild/moderate rotavirus gastroenteritis through 1 year of age

- 2. At least one episode of mild/moderate rotavirus gastroenteritis between 1 and 2 years of age
- 3. At least one episode of severe rotavirus gastroenteritis through 1 year of age
- 4. At least one episode of severe rotavirus gastroenteritis between 1 and 2 years of age

The dichotomous outcomes of interest will be analyzed using survival analysis methods. Several anti-rotavirus IgA thresholds will be tested to evaluate their utility in predicting protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis.

Aim 3: Estimate the direct effects (among young children) and indirect effects (among all age groups) of the 2006/2007 infant rotavirus vaccine introduction in the United States on the monthly rates of acute gastroenteritis and rotavirus hospitalization.

This analysis will measure the monthly rates of all-cause gastrointestinal and rotavirus-specific hospitalizations across age groups during the pre- and post-vaccine eras to identify changes in disease burden and seasonal patterns of illness. Data from community hospitals will be used to conduct a time series analysis of monthly discharges in the pre- and post-vaccine eras for acute gastroenteritis and rotavirus from 2000 through 2013. Three comparisons will be made for each outcome to estimate rate ratios and corresponding 95% confidence intervals:

- 1. Combined monthly pre-vaccine rates (2000-2006) vs. combined monthly post-vaccine rates (2008-2013)
- Combined monthly pre-vaccine rates (2000-2006) vs. combined monthly post-vaccine rates for even (2008, 2010, 2012) and odd calendar years (2009, 2011, 2013) separately to assess biennial patterns
- Combined monthly pre-vaccine rates (2000-2006) vs. monthly post-vaccine rates (2008-2013) for each individual post-vaccine year to provide more detail on the potentially dynamic effects of vaccination over time.

Changes in hospitalization rates and patterns among young children will represent the combined direct and indirect benefits of vaccination in this population while additional indirect impacts will be represented by changes in hospitalization rates and patterns among older children, adolescents and adults.

3 Data sources

3.1 GSK clinical trials

The analyses for Aim 1 and 2 utilized individual-level data from infants enrolled in 22 of GSK's clinical trials of the Rotarix vaccine (20 individual National Clinical Trial study IDs). These data were requested from GSK through their Clinical Trial Data Request system.

Conceptualization of this project began in late 2016. In early February 2017, a formal proposal describing our planned research and requesting the data was submitted to GSK. The proposal

underwent review by GSK's Independent Review Panel, and the specifics of the data requested were discussed and clarified. Within a month and a half, GSK had approved the proposal and began formal discussions regarding methods for data sharing and legal requirements. A data sharing agreement was signed by GSK and Emory in June 2017 and data preparation officially began by GSK's Data Sharing Team at that time (patient anonymization, obfuscation of dates, compilation of raw datasets and code books, etc.). By late July 2017, the first collection of trial data were made available and additional trial data were added to the data sharing portal through September 2017. The following year was spent reviewing trial protocols in detail, becoming oriented with the available data and dataset structures, and preparing for analysis.

Each of these trials is a randomized, double-blind, placebo controlled, phase II or III clinical trial with similar study designs in terms of data collection techniques, vaccine dose and administration, immunogenicity outcome measures and follow-up protocols where applicable (Table 3). Protocol consistencies across studies enabled combination of the individual-level data for pooled analyses. The data sets provided by GSK for this analysis were comprised of carefully collected, detailed data on all aspects of the original trials, including, but not limited to, infant demographics, anthropometrics, vaccination dates and doses, serology data, medicines and vaccines received, and gastrointestinal illness occurring during follow-up.

Category	Study protocol and definitions
Inclusion	• Male and female infants
criteria	• Healthy subjects ^a free of all obvious health problems (established by medical history
	and physical exam)
	• Use of investigational or non-registered product (drug or vaccine) w/in 30 days prior
	to study vaccine dose
	• Planned administration of a vaccine not foreseen by the study protocol w/in 14 days
	of study vaccine dose
	• Chronic administration (defined as >14 days) of immunosuppressants anytime since
Exclusion	birth
&/or	• Any confirmed or suspected immune-suppressive or deficient condition based on
elimination	medical history and exam
criteria	Significant history of chronic gastrointestinal disease
	• History of allergic reaction to any vaccine component
	• Acute disease, defined as the presence of a moderate or severe illness w/ or w/o fever,
	at the time of enrollment (warrants deferral of vaccination)
	• Administration of immunoglobulins and/or blood product since birth or planned
	administration during the study
	• GSK RIX 4414 HRV vaccine
Vaccine	• Vaccinated arm w/ viral suspension of $\geq 10^{6.0} \text{ CCID}_{50}^{b}$
	• Doses administered 1-2 months apart
Medical exam	
& history	• Medical exam and history obtained at enrollment

Table 3. Similarities across GSK study protocols and definitions

	• Concomitant medications/vaccinations, history of medication/vaccination recorded at
	study visits
	• Anthropometric measurements obtained
	• Defined as diarrhea w/ or w/o vomiting
Gastro-	• Diarrhea defined as \geq 3 looser than normal stools in 24hr
intestinal	• Severity measured on Vesikari scale
illness*	• Symptoms, duration, medical treatment sought recorded on a diary card provided by
	the study
Stool	• Collected as soon as possible and no later than 7 days of severe gastrointestinal illness
samples*	• Tested via ELISA, including RV strain determination
	• Collected 1-2 months after final vaccine dose
Serology	• Samples tested via ELISA, assay cutoff of \geq 20 anti-rotavirus IgA U/mL

* Only collected in studies with follow-up for RVGE (Aim 2)

^a Study NCT0042074 included "medically stable" preterm infants

^b Highest viral suspensions of 10^{4.7} and 10^{5.8} median CCID₅₀ in NCT00385320 and NCT00425737,

respectively

Because a primary objective of this study was to uncover host factors contributing to differences in vaccine immunogenicity and efficacy between low and high child mortality settings, GSK clinical trials that occurred in countries of varying levels of development were included in the combined dataset. The final dataset was comprised of infants from 33 countries/territories listed in Table 4 by child mortality stratum. Each country's mortality stratum was identified using WHO classification methods.¹⁴⁵ WHO divides countries into mortality strata based on under 5 mortality rates for all WHO Member Countries from the year 1999. The countries are divided into quintiles with countries in the lowest quintile considered "very low child mortality," the second and third quintiles considered "low child mortality," and the highest two quintiles considered "high child mortality."¹⁴⁵ For this study, the same methods were applied to UNICEF under 5 mortality rate estimates¹⁴⁶ for all WHO Member Countries in 2004, the mean start year for the GSK trials. For analysis purposes, the "very low" and "low" child mortality strata were combined to represent settings with low child mortality.

Low	High
Argentina	Bangladesh
Brazil	Dominican Republic
Chile	India
China	Malawi
Colombia	South Africa
Honduras	
Mexico	
Nicaragua	
Panama	
Peru	
Philippines	
Venezuela	
Vietnam	
	LowArgentinaBrazilChileChinaColombiaHondurasMexicoNicaraguaPanamaPeruPhilippinesVenezuelaVietnam

Table 4. GSK study sites by mortality stratum^{145–148}

A basic description of the number of infants and data available for the GSK trials is provided in Table 5. Data used for Aim 1 analyses were restricted to participating infants who received the rotavirus vaccine (as opposed to placebo) and from whom post-vaccination blood samples were collected approximately 4 - 12 weeks after receipt of the final vaccine dose. Of the GSK trials requested, a total of 53,292 infants received the rotavirus vaccine and post-vaccine serology data were collected from 7,300 (13.7%) of these infants.

Aim 2 used a subset of the GSK clinical trial data described for Aim 1. As with Aim 1, the data were restricted to infants who received rotavirus vaccine and for whom serology data were available. Aim 2 data were further limited to the clinical trials in which children were followed up to 1 or 2 years of age during which time data on gastroenteritis episodes were collected. A total of 5,817 infants had follow-up data. Two follow-up periods were defined for this analysis: post-vaccine IgA sample up to 1 year of age (5,817 children) and 1 year of age up to 2 years of age (4,517 children).

				Age at	Vacc-	Serol	ogy (n)	Follow	-Up (n)
Study ID	GSK Study	Study Sites	Study	Dose 1	inated	Pre-	Post-		
(NCT#)	ID		Phase	(Wks)	(n)	Vacc	Vacc	1 yr	2 yr
00480324	107625	Japan	3	6-14	492	34	34	34	34
		Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia,							
00140673	444563/023	Dominican Republic, Finland, Honduras,	3	6-13	29,753	393	393	393	381
		Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama, Peru, Venezuela							
00139347	444563/024	Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, Dominican	3	6-12	4 234	0	176	176	56
		Republic, Honduras, Panama	5	0 12	1,231	Ū	170	170	50
00107210	444563/028/	Sinconono Hong Kong Toiwon	2	6 17	5 215	115	115	115	114
00197210	029/030	Singapore, Hong Kong, Taiwan	3	0-17	5,215	115	115	115	114
00140686	102247	Czech Republic, Finland, France, Germany,	3	6-14	2 613	797	707	707	701
00140000	102247	Italy, Spain	5	0-14	2,015	101	/0/	/0/	704
00241644	102248	Malawi, South Africa	3	5-10	2,803	221	2,297	2,295	1,577
01171963	113808	China	3	6-16	1,518	391	391	391	374
00429481	444563/007	Singapore	2	11-17	1,737	453	454	454	448

Table 5. Basic details of GSK clinical trials available for Aim 1 and Aim 2

00425737	444563/004	Finland	2	6-12	249	209	209	209	204
00729001	444563/005	Canada, US	2	6-12	372	239	270	270	175
00385320	444563/006	Brazil, Mexico, Venezuela	2	6-12	1,498	427	432	432	280
00383903	444563/013	South Africa	2	5-10	337	262	264	261	90
00345956	105722	Vietnam	3	6-10	281	249	249		
00289172	103792	India	3	8-10	173	115	115		
00757770	444563/033	Columbia, Mexico, Peru	3	6-12	683	466	468		
00420745	106481	France, Poland, Portugal, Spain	3	6-14	655	147	147		
00134732	103478	Republic of Korea	3	6-12	99	48	48		
None	101555	Philippines	2	6-12	95	76	76		
00432380	109216	Philippines	2	5-10	292	240	240		
00139334	103992	Bangladesh	2	5-7	193	134	135		
Total					53,292	5,006	7,300	5,817	4,517

*Countries in bold are classified as high child mortality

3.2 Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project State Inpatient Database

To assess Aim 3, hospitalization data from 2000 – 2013 were obtained from the Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP) State Inpatient Database (SID),¹⁴⁹ sponsored by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) within the United States Department of Health and Human Services. The data were available thanks to collaboration with the Division of Viral Diseases at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases.

The HCUP SID is a compilation of monthly discharge data from all community hospitals within participating states.¹⁴⁹ This analysis was restricted to the 26 states for which data were available for the entire 14 year study period: Arizona, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Florida, Georgia, Hawaii, Iowa, Illinois, Kansas, Kentucky, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Missouri, North Carolina, New Jersey, New York, Oregon, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Washington, Wisconsin, and West Virginia (Figure 6). These 26 states represent approximately three-quarters (74.25%) of the total United States population in 2013.¹⁵⁰ Available data included the number of acute gastroenteritis and rotavirus hospitalizations by year, month, state, age group, sex and race/ethnicity.

Rotavirus or acute gastroenteritis diagnoses were extracted from discharge data. The International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision (ICD-9) code of 008.61 noted as the primary diagnosis or listed in any of the other diagnosis fields in a discharge record was used to identify rotavirus hospitalizations. Rotavirus-coded discharges are likely the most specific indicator of rotavirus

rates, however, restricting the analysis to only rotavirus-specified episodes may underestimate the true rotavirus burden because of limited testing for rotavirus in the clinical setting.¹⁵¹ Therefore, data on all-cause acute gastroenteritis were compiled using the same method as described for rotavirus and included bacterial, parasitic, and viral gastrointestinal illness of determined cause and presumed infectious or noninfectious gastrointestinal illness of undetermined cause.¹⁵² A total of 13,527,516 acute gastroenteritis hospitalizations and 224,099 rotavirus hospitalizations from 2000-2013 were analyzed.





Created with mapchart.net

3.3 National Center for Health Statistics Bridged Race data

The SID data were combined with state population data from the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) Bridged Race population dataset¹⁵³ developed by the United States Census Bureau, enabling calculation of rotavirus and acute gastroenteritis rates for use in Aim 3. These data included population numbers by state, age and race/ethnicity.

3.4 MarketScan

Data for the Aim 3 supplemental study was obtained from the IBM[®] MarketScan[®] Commercial Database. Access to MarketScan[®] data were again available through a collaboration with the Division of Viral Diseases at the CDC. Working closely with collaborators in the Division of Viral Diseases, we conceptualized the structure of the database and extracted data tailored specifically for this study.

The MarketScan[®] Commercial Database is a collection of national medical claims and encounters data from commercially insured individuals aged 64 years and younger in the United States. The database contains individual level, de-identified information on several million individuals each year.¹⁵⁴ Detailed insurance enrollment, inpatient medical data and outpatient medical data are available for employees, their spouses and dependents with employer-sponsored health care insurance. A variety of health plans are contained in the dataset including, but not limited to Preferred Provider Organizations (PPOs), point-of-service (POS) plans and Health Maintenance Organizations (HMOs). Notably, claims covered by Medicaid are not available. Data are collected in all states.

A time series database was created which described monthly rotavirus gastroenteritis and all-cause acute gastroenteritis hospitalization rates for July 2001 through June 2016 (the latest available data). Monthly counts of rotavirus gastroenteritis hospitalizations included individuals with a

rotavirus International Classification of Diseases, Ninth and Tenth Revision (ICD-9 and ICD-10) code of 008.61 and A08.0, respectively. Additional data on all-cause acute gastroenteritis were also compiled to capture possible rotavirus gastroenteritis not specifically identified as rotavirus-related due to imperfect coding.¹⁵¹ Records which indicated rotavirus gastroenteritis and/or all-cause acute gastroenteritis ICD-9/10 codes in one of 15 diagnosis fields from inpatient admission claims were included in the analysis.

A total of 9,211 episodes of rotavirus gastroenteritis and 726,528 episodes of all-cause acute gastroenteritis were extracted among individuals from 0 through 64 years of age. The number of enrollment member days were summed by month, year, age group, and vaccination status to provide the monthly enrolled population denominator and enable calculation of rates. Rotavirus vaccination status was tracked beginning in July 2006 when the first cohort of newborns became age-eligible for vaccination the following month.¹³⁰ Any infant who received one or more doses of either available rotavirus vaccine, RotaTeq or Rotarix, was considered vaccinated. Individuals from all states, except those residing in states with universal vaccine purchasing programs, which provide immunizations to children free of charge (Alaska, Connecticut, Idaho, Massachusetts, Maine, North Dakota, New Hampshire, New Mexico, Oregon, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Vermont, Washington, Wisconsin, and Wyoming) were included in the analysis (Figure 7). This was critical as vaccination in these states may not be recorded in insurance claim records compiled in the database.





Created with mapchart.net

[Manuscript 1]

Oral polio vaccine interferes with full-course rotavirus vaccine immunogenicity: an individual level analysis of pooled clinical trial data in high and low child mortality settings

Julia M. Baker, Jacqueline E. Tate, Juan Leon, Michael J. Haber, Benjamin A. Lopman

Abstract

Background: Despite the success of rotavirus (RV) vaccines over the last decade, RV remains a leading cause of severe diarrheal disease among young children. Further progress in reducing the burden of disease is inhibited, in part, by vaccine underperformance in certain settings. Individual level characteristics may influence vaccine immunogenicity by reducing the effective vaccine titer delivered to the intestines or impairing immune response to vaccination. Early trials suggest that oral polio vaccine (OPV), when administered concomitantly with RV vaccine, reduces RV seroconversion rates after the first RV dose but that RV vaccine immunogenicity is unaffected after completion of the full RV vaccine course. This study aimed to identify a range of individual-level characteristics that contribute to RV vaccine immunogenicity measured via serum anti-RV immunoglobulin A (IgA) in high and low child mortality settings controlling for individual and country level factors.

Methods: Pooled, individual level data from 22 of GlaxoSmithKline's phase II and III clinical trials of the Rotarix vaccine across 33 countries/territories were analyzed. Two standard markers for immune response were examined including seroconversion (defined as the appearance of serum anti-rotavirus IgA antibodies in subjects initially seronegative) and serum anti-rotavirus IgA titer, both collected approximately 4-12 weeks after the last administration of RV vaccine. Mixed effect logistic regression and mixed effect linear regression of log-transformed data were used to identify individual and country level predictors of seroconversion (dichotomous) and antibody titer (continuous), respectively.

Results: Data from 7,280 vaccinated infants were analyzed. A higher proportion of infants in low child mortality settings seroconverted (77%) compared to high child mortality settings (62%). Similarly, among those who seroconverted, post-vaccine anti-rotavirus IgA titers of infants in low child mortality settings (geometric mean = 240, SD = 4) were higher than that of infants in high child mortality settings (199, SD = 4). Infants who received OPV concomitantly with both their first and second doses of RV vaccine were 37% less likely to seroconvert (OR = 0.63, 95% CI = 0.47, 0.84) compared to infants who received OPV but not concomitantly with either dose. Few modifiable factors were found to be associated with IgA titer (time from last rotavirus dose to serology, $\beta = 0.92$, 95% CI = 0.90, 0.95).

Conclusions: Our findings strongly suggest that OPV given concomitantly with RV vaccine is a substantial contributor to reduced immunogenicity and this interference is apparent after the second RV dose. The eventual withdrawal of OPV from the infant immunization schedule could improve RV vaccine immunogenicity.

Background

Globally, rotavirus (RV) is the leading cause of severe diarrheal disease among infants and children under 5 years of age, estimated to cause 128,500–215,000 deaths in this age group each year.^{6,7} The virus is highly infectious and improvements in water, sanitation and hygiene conditions have limited impact in reducing its spread.⁵⁵ RV is a ubiquitous infection among young children,⁶ the majority of whom will experience at least one RV infection in the first two years of life.^{10–12} As such, vaccination is an essential public health measure for preventing infections and reducing the severity of RV gastroenteritis.⁵⁴

Currently, four live attenuated, oral RV vaccines administered during infancy have received World Health Organization (WHO) prequalification: GlaxoSmithKline's (GSK's) monovalent vaccine (Rotarix), Merck's pentavalent vaccine (RotaTeq), the Serum Institute of India's pentavalent vaccine (Rotasiil), and Bharat Biotech's monovalent vaccine (Rotavac).⁵⁹ Since the first clinical trial results were released in 2006 (GSK and Merck),^{60–62} RV vaccines have been integrated into the national immunization programs of approximately 96 countries.⁶⁵ The introduction of these vaccines has led to dramatic reductions in RV disease in many settings.^{60,61,73,92,93} Despite this success, RV remains a leading cause of severe diarrheal disease among young children⁷ and continues to be the predominant cause of hospitalization for severe diarrheal disease in certain settings, even in countries where the vaccine is in use.^{94,95}

A primary obstacle preventing further reductions in the RV burden is vaccine underperformance in settings where the incidence of severe disease and death is highest.^{7,96} An estimated 85% of RV- related deaths occur among children in Africa and Asia,⁷ and in these high child mortality settings, vaccine efficacy against severe gastroenteritis can be as low as 36%.^{155,97} In contrast, vaccine efficacy is greater than 90% in low child mortality settings.^{62,73,97} Similarly, RV vaccines are substantially less immunogenic in high child mortality settings when compared to low child mortality settings.^{73,97} RV vaccine immunogenicity, represented by serum anti-RV immunoglobulin A (IgA) antibodies, has been shown to vary by country and is inversely associated with a country's under 5 mortality rate at the country level.⁹⁹

Reasons for this disparate immunogenicity and efficacy are poorly understood.^{98,156} Individual level characteristics may play a central role in vaccine immunogenicity by reducing the effective vaccine virus titer delivered to the intestines or impairing immune response to vaccination.^{98,156} For example, IgG antibodies received from breast milk might decrease the effective vaccine virus titer delivered to the gut while malnutrition may reduce an infant's immune response to the vaccine.⁹⁸ Additional factors that may compromise vaccine performance relate to genetic susceptibility to RV,^{18,45–47} differences in force of infection,^{73,98,102} and environmental enteropathy (chronic inflammation).¹⁰³

One potentially modifiable factor is interaction with live oral polio vaccine (OPV). Polio vaccines are generally administered on the same schedule as RV. In low child mortality settings, inactivated polio vaccine (IPV) is primarily administered, whereas in high child mortality settings, OPV is used and frequently given concomitantly with RV vaccines.¹⁰⁶ OPV administered concomitantly with RV vaccine has been shown to reduce RV seroconversion rates.^{107–110,157} Early clinical trials suggest that this inhibitory effect is largely restricted to the first RV vaccine dose and that vaccine

immunogenicity is unaffected after completion of the full RV vaccine course.¹⁵⁸ In contrast, there is limited evidence that interference from OPV may persist after two doses of RV vaccine.¹⁰⁷ If and how changes in the polio eradication strategy, including modification of viral strains included in the vaccine and the eventual global OPV withdrawal,¹⁵⁹ may impact RV vaccine performance remains to be seen.

Developing strategies to improve vaccine performance may first require identification of individual level factors associated with immune response. Isolating factors associated with vaccine immunogenicity across settings may highlight potentially modifiable vaccine strategies or interventions for enhancing vaccine performance and further reducing the burden of RV disease. RV vaccine clinical trials were powered to assess vaccine efficacy, however, they were not specifically designed to identify individual level factors associated with vaccine response. This study used pooled clinical trial data to identify a range of individual level characteristics that contribute to Rotarix vaccine immunogenicity measured via serum anti-rotavirus IgA in high and low child mortality settings controlling for individual and country level factors.

Methods

GSK clinical trial data

We pooled individual-level data from infants enrolled in GSK's phase II and III clinical trials of the Rotarix vaccine (Table 1). Rotarix is an oral two-dose vaccine based on a live, attenuated human rotavirus strain (G1P[8]). GSK recommends that the first dose be administered beginning at 6 weeks of age and the second dose be given after an interval of four or more weeks and by 24 weeks of age.⁷⁰

The 22 trials included were randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials conducted in a total of 33 countries/territories including 28 low/very low child mortality and 5 high child mortality countries (Figure 1). The child mortality strata were based on 2004 under 5 mortality rates as previously described.^{145,146} Research protocols across trials were similar in terms of data collection techniques, vaccine administration, and immunogenicity outcome measures (Table 2). Since the primary aim of the analysis was to examine factors associated with RV vaccine immunogenicity, data were limited to trial participants who received the Rotarix vaccine (n = 53,292). Data were further restricted to infants whose trial participation was completed according to protocol (classified by GSK) and who participated in the RV immunogenicity sub-studies of the trials (n = 8,309). Lastly, infants who had serum sample collection approximately 4-12 weeks from receipt of his/her last rotavirus vaccine dose were included (n = 7,298).

Figure 1. GSK clinical trial sites



GSK Trial	Study Sites	Study	Age at	Vacc-	Serolo	ogy (n)	
Number		Phase	Dose 1	inated	Pre-	Post-	
		1 Hase	(Wks)	(n)	Vacc	Vacc	
107625	Japan	3	6-14	492	34	34	
	Argentina, Brazil, Chile,						
	Colombia, Dominican						
444563/023	Republic, Finland, Honduras,	3	6-13	29,753	393	393	
	Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama,						
	Peru, Venezuela						
	Argentina, Brazil, Colombia,						
444563/024	Dominican Republic,	3	6-12	4,234	0	176	
	Honduras, Panama						
444563/028/	Singapore, Hong Kong, Taiwan	3	6-17	5,215	115	115	
029/030	61 · · · · · · · · · · ·						
102247	Czech Republic, Finland,	3	6-14	2.613	787	787	
	France, Germany, Italy, Spain	-		_,		101	
102248	Malawi, South Africa	3	5-10	2,803	221	2,295	
113808	China	3	6-16	1,518	391	391	
444563/007	Singapore	2	11-17	1,737	453	454	
444563/004	Finland	2	6-12	249	209	209	
444563/005	Canada, US	2	6-12	372	239	270	
444563/006	Brazil, Mexico, Venezuela	2	6-12	1,498	427	432	

Table 1. Trial characteristics by GSK trial ID

444563/013	South Africa	2	5-10	337	262	264
105722	Vietnam	3	6-10	281	249	249
103792	India	3	8-10	173	115	115
444563/033	Columbia, Mexico, Peru	3	6-12	683	466	468
106481	France, Poland, Portugal, Spain	3	6-14	655	147	147
103478	Republic of Korea	3	6-12	99	48	48
101555	Philippines	2	6-12	95	76	76
109216	Philippines	2	5-10	292	240	240
103992	Bangladesh	2	5-7	193	134	135
Total				53,292	5,006	7,298

Countries in bold are classified as high child mortality

Category	Study protocol and definitions				
Inclusion	 Male and female infants Healthy subjects^a free of all obvious health problems (astablished by medical 				
criteria	history and physical exam)				
	• Use of investigational or non-registered product (drug or vaccine) w/in 30 days				
	prior to study vaccine dose				
	• Planned administration of a vaccine not foreseen by the study protocol w/in 14				
	days of study vaccine dose				
	• Chronic administration (defined as >14 days) of immunosuppressants anytime				
Exclusion	since birth				
&/or	• Any confirmed or suspected immune-suppressive or deficient condition based on				
elimination	medical history and exam				
criteria	• Significant history of chronic gastrointestinal disease				
	• History of allergic reaction to any vaccine component				
	• Acute disease, defined as the presence of a moderate or severe illness w/ or w/o				
	fever, at the time of enrollment (warrants deferral of vaccination)				
	• Administration of immunoglobulins and/or blood product since birth or planned				
	administration during the study				
	• GSK RIX 4414 HRV vaccine				
Vaccine	• Vaccinated arm w/ viral suspension of $\geq 10^{6.0} \text{ CCID}_{50}^{b}$				
	• Doses administered 1-2 months apart				
Medical exam					
& history	• Medical exam and history obtained at enrollment				

Table 2. Similarities across GSK trial protocols and definitions

50

	Concomitant medications/vaccinations, history of medication/vaccination
	recorded at study visits
	Anthropometric measurements obtained
Canalaary	Collected 1-2 months after final vaccine dose
Serology	• Samples tested via ELISA, assay cutoff of \geq 20 anti-rotavirus IgA U/mL
^a Study 10648	1 included "medically stable" preterm infants

 $^{\rm b}$ Highest viral suspensions of $10^{4.7}$ and $10^{5.8}$ median CCID_{50} in 444563/004 and 444563/006, respectively

Explanatory variables, covariates and endpoints of interest

All available data for trial participants was provided by GSK and explanatory variables/covariates were selected for inclusion in the analysis based on existing literature.^{98,156} GSK data were supplemented with country-level data on gross domestic product (GDP) per capita in 2004 USD^{160,161} to represent a country's level of development and 2004 under 5 mortality rates.^{162–164} These country level variables were considered in an effort to capture potential confounders that remained unmeasured despite the individual level factors available.

Two standard markers for immune response^{165,166} were analyzed as outcomes. First, in accordance with pre-specified trial definitions, seroconversion was defined as the appearance of serum anti-rotavirus IgA antibodies (i.e. concentrations ≥ 20 U/mL) in subjects initially (prior to the first RV dose) seronegative. The second endpoint of interest was serum anti-rotavirus IgA titer among infants who seroconverted. In all trials, post-vaccine anti-rotavirus IgA data were collected

approximately 4-12 weeks after the last administration of RV vaccine and were measured using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) techniques.¹⁶⁷

Statistical analysis

Regression models were fit to estimate the effects of individual and country level factors on vaccine immunogenicity outcomes while controlling for potential confounders. Mixed effect logistic regression and mixed effect linear regression of log-transformed data (to create a normal distribution) were used to analyze the anti-rotavirus IgA seroconversion (dichotomous) and anti-rotavirus IgA antibody titer (continuous) outcomes, respectively. Basic formulas for each model are shown in the Supplemental Material below. Models were run using the "lme4" package in R software.

The data used for modeling anti-rotavirus IgA seroconversion included all infants who were either confirmed to be seronegative prior to vaccination via serology sample or who did not have pre-vaccine serology data available. Prior confirmed RV gastroenteritis was an exclusion criterion in a majority of the GSK trials so for the primary analysis in this study, infants without pre-vaccine serology samples were assumed to be seronegative. A sub-analysis was conducted limiting data to infants with confirmed pre-vaccine seronegative status. The data for modeling anti-rotavirus IgA titer was restricted to infants who were seropositive after vaccination.

The modeling strategy for both outcomes began with variable specification, incorporating all individual level characteristics as explanatory variables and controlling for potential country level

covariates selected based on variable distributions and existing literature. Individual level variables in the initial model included: time from last RV dose to serology sample, number of RV vaccine doses, age at first vaccine dose, vaccine concentration, sex, length-for-age z-score (LAZ) to represent nutritional status, and concomitant OPV. Country level variables in the initial model included: GDP, under 5 mortality rate, and child mortality stratum (dichotomous). Table 3 in the results section provides details on how each variable was measured. Any infants missing data were excluded from the models. Random effects were employed using a random intercept for each trial to account for potentially unmeasured differences between trial protocols or environments. The initial model included all explanatory variables of interest and incorporated interaction terms between each main effect and child mortality stratum. The model was applied to combined data from both child mortality strata and backwards elimination was then conducted using an $\alpha = 0.10$ cut-off for inclusion and maintaining a hierarchically well-formulated model throughout.

Next, models were refined by investigating alternative measures of the included variables based on possible relationships identified in bivariate analyses. For example, higher order terms for continuous variables (such as age and age-squared) were considered where appropriate and more detailed stratification of categorical variables were tested. Backwards elimination was subsequently performed after each variable was modified. Where initial models were prohibitively large and issues with model convergence were encountered, the most informative end models resulting from previous backwards elimination procedures were used as the starting point for investigation of refined measures. After all variables were explored, the most parsimonious model with all relevant variables and covariates was selected as the final model using Akaike information criterion (AIC) criteria (lower AIC indicating a better model). A sensitivity analysis (including only children who seroconverted) was conducted by fitting the final model separately to data stratified by high and low-child mortality settings. The purpose of this sensitivity analysis was to determine if the model built with the joint data was supported within a given child mortality stratum. In other words, this sensitivity analysis aimed to demonstrate that the relationships identified using the full, combined dataset remained consistent within each mortality stratum; this would indicate that the combined data were capturing differences beyond those driven by child mortality stratum alone. Lastly, the final seroconversion model was tested using a subset of the data comprised of infants who were confirmed to be seronegative prior to vaccination This sub-analysis was conducted to confirm that the results produced using the full seroconversion dataset were consistent with results using infants with both pre- and post-vaccine serology. If true, these consistent results would indicate that inclusion of infants without pre-vaccine serology data was not causing substantial bias.

Ethical approval

All identifiers for trial participants were de-identified and all dates obfuscated by GSK prior to data sharing. This study was determined to be non-human subjects research by the Emory University Institutional Review Board.

Results

Data on 7,298 infants whose post-vaccine RV serology data were collected 4-12 weeks after receipt of the final vaccine dose (87.8% of the RV immunogenicity cohort) were available for analysis. 39.0% (n=2,849) of these infants were from high child mortality settings. A total of 18 infants (3 from high child mortality settings) were excluded from analysis due to pre-vaccine serology data indicating these children had prior RV infection (i.e. anti-rotavirus IgA titer of \geq 20 U/mL). All other infants had either confirmed seronegative status or did not have serology data available and were assumed to be seronegative based on trial protocol. Data on 7,280 and 5,161 infants were included in the seroconversion and titer modeling, respectively.

All infants received either two or three doses of RV vaccine; nearly all infants in low child mortality settings received two doses (99%) while nearly half of infants in high child mortality settings received a third dose (45%, p < 0.001). In low child mortality settings, one-quarter of infants received a reduced concentration of the vaccine (viral suspension < $10^{6.0}$ CCID₅₀), whereas all infants from high child mortality settings received a "standard" concentration (viral suspension $\geq 10^{6.0}$ CCID₅₀, p < 0.001) (Table 3).

		Low child	High child
		mortality	mortality
	All countries,	settings,	settings,
	N = 7,280	N = 4,434	N = 2,846
Vaccine characteristics, n (%)			
Standard vaccine concentration	6,208 (85)	3,362 (76)	2,846 (100)
2 RV doses (vs. 3 doses)	5,971 (82)	4,393 (99)	1,578 (55)
Individual level characteristics, n (%)			
Female	3,618 (50)	2,194 (49)	1,424 (50)
Length-for-age z-score			
Not stunted (ref)	5,604 (77)	3,433 (77)	2,171 (76)
Stunted	588 (8)	215 (5)	373 (13)
Severely stunted	397 (6)	135 (3)	262 (9)
Missing	691 (9)	651 (15)	40 (1)
OPV concomitant with RV dose			
Neither dose 1 nor dose 2 (ref)	1,835 (25)	1,614 (36)	221 (8)
Dose 1 only	14 (0.2)	3 (0.1)	11 (0.4)
Dose 2 only	26 (0.4)	18 (0.4)	8 (0.3)
Both dose 1 and dose 2	3,384 (46)	778 (18)	2,606 (92)
No OPV received	2,021 (28)	2,021 (46)	0 (0)

Table 3. Vaccine, individual and country level characteristics of infants from 22 trials conductedin 33 countries/territories beginning in 2000-2010

Age at first RV dose (weeks)	9 (7, 11)	9 (8, 12)	9 (6, 11)					
Time from last RV dose to post								
vaccine serology (weeks)	5 (5, 8)	8 (5, 9)	5 (5, 5)					
Age at post-vaccine serology (weeks)	22 (21, 26)	24 (21, 27)	21 (20, 22)					
Country level characteristics, median (IQR)								
GDP (2004, in USD)	4,745	7,311	4,745					
	(1,509, 15,356)	(2,448, 27,405)	(461, 4,745)					
Under 5 mortality rate ^a	27 (8, 85)	19 (5, 26)	85 (85, 85)					
Serology outcomes								
Seropositive after vaccination, ^b n (%)	5,161 (70)	3,411 (77)	1,750 (62)					
Post-vaccine IgA titer among								

seroconverted, geometric mean (SD)226 (4)240 (4)199 (4) \overline{RV} = rotavirus; OPV = oral polio vaccine; SD = standard deviation; IQR = interquartile range; GDP =

gross domestic product

^a Defined as deaths among children under 5 years of age per 1,000 live births

 $^{\rm b}$ Seropositive status defined as anti-rotavirus IgA titer $\geq 20~{\rm U/mL}$

Individual level characteristics generally differed by setting (Table 3). Over 20% of infants in high child mortality settings were stunted or severely stunted while less than 10% were in low child mortality settings (p < 0.001). All infants in high child mortality settings received OPV and over 90% infants received OPV concomitantly with both their first and second doses of RV vaccine. In

contrast, nearly half of infants in low child mortality settings did not receive a single dose of OPV (as IPV was more commonly administered in these settings). The median age at receipt of the first RV dose was 9 weeks (IQR = 7, 11) and infants were a median of 22 weeks of age (IQR = 21, 26) when their post-vaccine serology sample was collected. The time from receipt of the last RV dose to serology sample was slightly longer for infants in low child mortality settings (median of 8 weeks, IQR = 5, 9) compared to infants in high child mortality settings (5 weeks, IQR = 5, 5, p < 0.001).

The distribution of the two outcomes of interest, anti-rotavirus IgA seroconversion and postvaccine anti-rotavirus IgA titer, are described in Table 3 and Table 4. A majority of infants (70%) were seropositive after vaccination with a higher proportion of infants in low child mortality settings seroconverting (77%) compared to infants in high child mortality settings (62%, p < 0.001). Seroconversion ranged from as low as 58% in India to over 90% in Hong Kong, Italy and Chile (Figure 2a). A similar pattern was found with post-vaccine anti-rotavirus IgA titer where infants in low child mortality settings had geometric mean titers (240, SD = 4) higher than that of infants in high child mortality settings (199, SD = 4, p < 0.001). Anti-rotavirus IgA titer ranged from a median of 34 U/mL in India to 443 U/mL in Japan (Figure 2b).




Colored bars represent the percentage of infants in a given country that seroconverted, defined as an antirotavirus IgA titer ≥ 20 U/mL. Error bars indicate 95% confidence interval.





Colored bars represent median and interquartile range for post-vaccine anti-rotavirus IgA titer. Lines represent minimum and maximum values with dots representing outliers.

	Seroconversion (N = 7,280)		IgA Titer (N = 5,161)	
		Unadjusted		Unadjusted
	Seroconverted ^a	OR (95% CI)		β (95% CI)
Vaccine characteristics	n (%)		mean (SD)	
Vaccine concentration				
Standard	4,390 (71)	1 (ref)	228.5 (4)	1 (ref)
Low	771 (72)	1 (1, 1)	209.1 (3)	1 (1, 1)
Number of RV doses				
2	4,367 (73)	1.0 (ref)	229 (4)	1 (ref)
3	784 (61)	0.6 (0.5, 0.6)	208 (4)	0.6 (0.6, 0.7)
Individual level characteristics	n (%)		mean (SD)	
Sex				
Female (ref)	2,549 (70.5)	1 (ref)	233 (4)	1 (ref)
Male	2,612 (71.3)	1.0 (0.9, 1.2)	219 (4)	1 (1, 1)
Length-for-age z-score				
Not stunted (ref)	3,979 (76)	1 (ref)	227 (4)	1 (ref)
Stunted	393 (67)	0.8 (0.7, 1.0)	217 (4)	0.9 (0.7, 1.0)
Severely stunted	264 (66.5)	0.8 (0.7, 1.0)	216 (4)	0.8 (0.8, 1.0)
Missing	525 (76)		223 (4)	
OPV concomitant with RV dose				
Neither dose 1 nor dose 2 (ref)	1,358 (74)	1 (ref)	203 (4)	1 (ref)
Dose 1 only	7 (50)	0.4 (0.1, 1.0)	209 (3)	0.5 (0.2, 1.3)

Table 4. Vaccine, individual and country level characteristics by anti-rotavirus IgA

seroconversion and anti-rotavirus IgA titer outcomes

Dose 2 only	17 (65)	0.7 (0.3, 1.5)	1.67 (4)	0.7 (0.3, 1.4)
Both dose 1 and dose 2	2,109 (62)	0.6 (0.5, 0.7)	211 (4)	0.7 (0.7, 0.8)
No OPV received	1,670 (93)	1.7 (1.4, 2.0)	268 (4)	1.6 (1.5, 1.8)
Individual level characteristics	median		median	
individual level characteristics	(IQR)		(IQR)	
Age at first RV dose (weeks)		1 (1, 1)	9 (7, 12)	1 (1, 1)
Seroconverted	9 (7, 12)			
Did not seroconvert	9 (7, 1)			
Time from last RV dose to post-				
vaccine serology (weeks)		1 (1, 1)	5 (5, 9)	1 (1, 1)
Seroconverted	5 (5, 9)			
Did not seroconvert	5 (5, 8)			
Age at post-vaccine serology				
(weeks)		1 (1, 1)	23 (21, 26)	1 (1, 1)
Seroconverted	23 (21, 26)			
Did not seroconvert	22 (20, 25)			

Country level characteristics	median (IQR)	me	edian (IQR)	
Log(GDP)		1 (1, 1)	2 (0, 2)	1 (1, 1)
Seroconverted	2 (0, 2)			
Did not seroconvert	2 (1, 3)			
Log(Under 5 mortality rate)			4 (3, 4)	0.8 (0.7, 0.8)
Seroconverted	4 (3, 4)			
Did not seroconvert	3 (2, 4)			

Country level characteristics	n (%)	mean ^b (SD)		
Child mortality status				
Low child mortality	3,411 (77)	1 (ref)	115 (6)	1 (ref)
High child mortality	1,750 (62)	0.5 (0.4, 0.5)	63 (6)	0.5 (0.5, 0.6)

^a Defined as anti-rotavirus IgA titer $\geq 20 \text{ U/mL}$

^b Geometric mean

Anti-rotavirus IgA seroconversion modeling results

Results of backwards elimination and model refinement for seroconversion using data for both child mortality strata combined are shown in Table 5 with stratum-specific odds ratios for main effects with interaction terms shown at the bottom (age at first RV dose and LAZ). Older age at first RV dose and being in a country with higher GDP were both associated with increased likelihood of seroconversion. In contrast, increased time from last RV dose to serology, low vaccine concentration and concomitant receipt of OPV with the first and second rotavirus doses were each negatively associated with seroconversion. Infants who received OPV concomitantly with both their first and second doses of RV vaccine were 37% less likely (OR = 0.63, 95% CI = 0.47, 0.84)) to seroconvert compared to infants who received OPV but not concomitantly with either dose. Sex, the number of RV vaccine doses received and under 5 mortality rate were dropped from the model during backwards elimination.

Table 5. Final anti-rotavirus IgA seroconversion model developed using both child mortality stratum combined (n = 6,589)

Individual or country level factor	OR (95% CI)
Time from last RV dose to serology (weeks)	0.90 (0.86, 0.94)
Vaccine concentration $\geq 10^{6.0}$	1.00 (ref)
Vaccine concentration $< 10^{6.0}$	0.65 (0.49, 0.87)
OPV neither concomitant w/ RV dose 1 nor 2	1.00 (ref)
OPV concomitant w/ RV dose 1 & 2	0.63 (0.47, 0.84)
OPV concomitant w/ RV dose 1 only	0.36 (0.12, 1.05)
OPV concomitant w/ RV dose 2 only	0.66 (0.27, 1.57)
No OPV received	1.13 (0.76, 1.69)
Log(GDP)	1.11 (1.04, 1.19)
Age at 1 st RV dose (weeks)	1.13 (1.08, 1.17)
LAZ: stunted or severely stunted	1.00 (ref)
LAZ: not stunted or severely stunted	1.24 (0.93, 1.65)
Child mortality setting- low	1.00 (ref)
Child mortality setting- high	1.62 (0.83, 3.14)
Age at 1 st RV dose (weeks)*Child mortality setting	0.90 (0.86, 0.95)
LAZ: stunted or severely stunted*Child mortality	
setting	0.67 (0.47, 0.95)

 $\overline{OR} = odds ratio; CI = confidence interval; RV = rotavirus; LAZ = length-for-age z-score; OPV = oral polio vaccine, GDP = gross domestic product$

When the final seroconversion model was applied to each mortality stratum separately, similar results were observed (Supplementary Table S1). The negative relationship between OPV concomitant with both RV doses 1 and 2 or RV dose 1 only remained, though with less precision.

The results of the sensitivity analysis conducted using only infants confirmed to be seronegative prior to RV vaccination (Supplementary Table S2) were consistent with results of the original analysis. Infants who received OPV concomitantly with RV dose 1 and dose 2 were less likely to seroconvert than others (OR = 0.62, 95% CI = 0.46, 0.81)). The relationships between other variables and seroconversion displayed only modest changes.

Anti-rotavirus IgA titer modeling results

Very few factors were found to be significantly associated with anti-rotavirus IgA titers amongst those children who seroconverted (Table 6). Even when models were refined to explore alternative measures of various factors and when OPV was forced to remain in the model (based on its importance in seroconversion models), the results varied minimally. Increased time from last RV doses to serology sample was negatively associated with IgA titer. Concomitant OPV with rotavirus dose 1 and 2 was positively associated with IgA titer.

Individual or country level factor	β (95% CI)
Time from last RV dose to serology (weeks)	0.92 (0.90, 0.95)
Sex (ref = female)	0.93 (0.87, 1.00)
OPV neither concomitant w/ RV dose 1 nor 2	1.00 (ref)
OPV concomitant w/ RV dose 1 & 2	1.28 (1.07, 1.53)
OPV concomitant w/ RV dose 1 only	1.32 (0.49, 3.58)
OPV concomitant w/ RV dose 2 only	0.92 (0.48, 1.79)
No OPV received	0.98 (0.75, 1.28)
Log(GDP)	1.16 (1.06, 1.28)
Child mortality setting- low	1.00 (ref)
Child mortality setting- high	0.76 (0.61, 0.93)
Log(GDP)*Child mortality setting	1.16 (1.06, 1.28)

Table 6. Final anti-rotavirus IgA titer model developed using both child mortality stratum combined (n = 5,161)

CI = confidence interval; RV = rotavirus; GDP = gross domestic product (2004, in USD)

Discussion

In this study we had the unique ability to pool individual level data from 22 clinical trials and 33 countries to create a dataset that enabled assessment of RV vaccine immunogenicity across settings. Our findings strongly suggest that OPV given concomitantly with RV vaccine dramatically reduces anti-rotavirus IgA seroconversion through the second RV dose. We did not find the same modifiable characteristics to be associated with post-vaccine IgA titers among

infants who seroconverted, suggesting that such factors predict whether an infant will respond to RV vaccination, but not the intensity of the response given seroconversion.

These data provide robust evidence that infants who received OPV with both the first and second doses of RV vaccine were substantially less likely to seroconvert when compared to those not receiving OPV concomitantly or not receiving OPV at all. As expected, infants who did not receive OPV were more likely to seroconvert when compared to those who received OPV, regardless of timing. This analysis bolsters existing evidence^{107–110,157} that OPV interferes with RV seroconversion and reveals that OPV can interfere with seroconversion when it is given with both the first and second RV doses. Early evidence indicates the OPV-RV interaction may be strongest for the first RV dose.^{108,158} If true, our findings provide additional support for more recent, limited data¹⁰⁷ that suggests additional RV vaccine doses do not compensate for the reduced initial response. Applying our final seroconversion model to each mortality stratum individually and conducting a separate sensitivity analysis restricting data to only infants with confirmed prevaccine seronegative status provided support, as the direction of the relationship remained despite dropping approximately one-half and one-third of the study data, respectively. We are unable to assess possible mechanisms behind this relationship, however, previous literature suggests the interaction may relate to competition between rotavirus and poliovirus for receptors on mucosal cells reducing viral entry or poliovirus causing downregulation of components of the immune system response to rotavirus.¹⁰⁷

Overall, these results highlight important programmatic considerations for RV vaccination and evolving OPV eradication strategies. While it may not be possible to intentionally stagger OPV

and RV immunization schedules,¹⁰⁷ the eventual shift from OPV to IPV may result in sizeable increases in RV vaccine performance in high child mortality settings. This is demonstrated by the dramatic difference in the seroconversion ORs among those who received both RV doses concomitantly with OPV and those who did not receive OPV at all. Data on the specific type of OPV (trivalent vs. bivalent) administered to infants in these trials was not available, though it is likely that most, if not all, individuals who received OPV received the trivalent form based on the date of administration and national immunization schedules in these settings at the time of the trials.

GDP is known to be strongly associated with RV seroconversion,⁹⁹ however, the effect of GDP is clearly not causal. Rather, GDP serves as a proxy for individual, family and community factors that are more directly influential in determining vaccine immunogenicity, a portion of which we aimed to identify in this study. We found GDP to be associated with the probability of seroconversion even after adjusting for child mortality. Comparing the adjusted OR for GDP and seroconversion developed via model selection (Table 5, OR = 1.11, 95% CI: 1.04-1.19) to their crude association (OR = 1.24, 95% CI: 1.20, 1.28) suggests that a substantial, though incomplete portion of the crude association was accounted for with our individual level factors. We were unable to identify modifiable factors associated with post-vaccine anti-rotavirus IgA titers among infants who seroconverted and the relationships between IgA titer and concomitant OPV were opposite to those expected; this suggests that intensity of a seropositive individual's immune response to RV vaccination may be more complex. For instance, concomitant OPV administration may influence whether or not an infant seroconverted. As such, anti-rotavirus IgA titers among

those who seroconverted may not serve as the ideal clinical measure for identifying the mechanisms resulting in differential vaccine immunogenicity.

This study approach has several notable strengths. Individual trials and observational studies were insufficiently powered to detect differences in vaccine performance or had little within study heterogeneity.^{109,168,169} Therefore, we pooled individual level data from rigorously conducted randomized clinical trials. We are able to combine data from these clinical trials since they were conducted in a fairly standardized manner. The resulting dataset was substantially larger than that of any individual trial or other related study.⁹⁸ Further, pooling data across trials enabled the use of multilevel modeling to identify individual level factors that potentially contribute to immunogenicity while controlling for country-level factors. Including data from countries across child mortality strata facilitated the production of more generalizable results.

There are important challenges and limitations with this approach. First, trial protocols, while remarkably similar, still differed by trial location, year, and population. We attempted to account for this variability by including a random effect for trial in our models. The required adherence to study protocol and stringent monitoring necessary for a clinical trial means that the results produced from these analyses may not perfectly reflect the findings that would have occurred under more routine, real-world conditions and should, therefore, be interpreted cautiously. Relatedly, the infants included in the trials were all healthy children, potentially limiting the generalizability of the results. Second, this is a secondary analysis of data previously collected for other primary purposes. As such, we lacked data to control for genetic, maternal, socioeconomic and environmental factors that likely influence individual level immune response to vaccination. To

mitigate residual confounding from factors such as socioeconomic status or environment, proxy measures (GDP) were included in the models. Third, of the 7,280 infants included in the analysis, 2,292 (31.5%) did not have pre-vaccine serology data. The trial protocols for 2,116 (92%) of these infants indicated previous RV gastroenteritis as an exclusion criterion, providing reassurance that these infants had not previously been diagnosed with RV. We further accounted for this limitation by conducting a sensitivity analysis in which the seroconversion model was applied to only infants confirmed to be seronegative prior to vaccination and we found the effect of OPV diminished considerably. Lastly, our analysis was limited to infants who received Rotarix and it is possible that these findings may not be generalizable to the other three rotavirus vaccines prequalified by WHO.

Improving RV vaccine performance requires identification of the factors that contribute to vaccine immunogenicity on the individual level. While we explored a number of potential factors, our findings highlight the importance of concomitant OPV administration and provide encouraging evidence to suggest OPV withdrawal could improve RV vaccine performance. The ongoing efforts by the Global Polio Eradication Initiative to end OPV use creates an ideal natural experiment to confirm our results in the real-world. Vaccine immunogenicity data from infants in settings where OPV is currently in use could be compared to immunogenicity among infants after OPV withdrawal. More important still are evaluations of RV vaccine effectiveness administered before and after OPV withdrawal against the clinical endpoint of RV gastroenteritis. This research provides important programmatic considerations for improving RV vaccine immunogenicity, particularly reduction in concomitant RV vaccine and OPV administration.

Supplementary Material

Basic model formulas for mixed effect logistic regression and mixed effect linear regression of log-transformed data for seroconversion (dichotomous) and antibody titer (continuous) outcomes, respectively.

Logistic model: Logit $P(Y_{ij}) = b_{0j} + \beta_0 + \beta_{a1...an}(H) + \beta_{b1...bn}(C) + \beta_{c1...cn}(H*C)$

 Y_{ij} represents anti-rotavirus IgA ≥ 20 U/mL for the *i*th infant, in the *j*th trial

b_{0j} represents a random intercept for each trial

 β_0 represents the intercept for each individual

 β_{a-c} represent regression coefficients for host, country and interaction term, respectively

H represents a vector of host characteristics, a1 through an

C represents a vector of country factors, b1 through bn

H*C represents a vector of interaction terms for host/country characteristics and child mortality strata

Linear model: $Ln(Y_{ij}) = b_{0j} + \beta_0 + \beta_{a1...an}(H) + \beta_{b1...bn}(C) + \beta_{c1...cn}(H*C) + \epsilon$

Y_{ij} represents the anti-rotavirus IgA antibody titer for the *i*th infant, in the *j*th trial

b_{0j} represents a random intercept for each trial

 β_0 represents the intercept for each individual

 β_{a-c} represent regression coefficients for host, country and interaction term, respectively

H represents a vector of host characteristics, a1 through an

C represents a vector of country factors, b_1 through b_n

H*C represents a vector of interaction terms for host/country characteristics and child

mortality strata

 ϵ represents error

	Low child mortality	High child mortality
	(n = 3,783)	(n = 2,806)
Individual or country level factor	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
Time from last RV dose to serology (weeks)	0.88 (0.84, 0.93)	0.97 (0.83, 1.13)
Age at 1st RV dose (weeks)	1.13 (1.09, 1.18)	1.02 (0.99, 1.05)
Vaccine concentration $\ge 10^{6.0}$	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
Vaccine concentration $< 10^{6.0}$ a	0.62 (0.45, 0.83)	
LAZ: stunted or severely stunted	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
LAZ: not stunted	1.24 (0.93, 1.65)	0.84 (0.68, 1.03)
OPV neither concomitant w/ RV dose 1 nor 2	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
OPV concomitant w/ RV dose 1 & 2	0.61 (0.42, 0.89)	0.71 (0.40, 1.26)
OPV concomitant w/ RV dose 1 only	0.17 (0.02, 1.95)	0.49 (0.13, 1.83)
OPV concomitant w/ RV dose 2 only	0.91 (0.30, 4.44)	0.40 (0.09, 1.83)
No OPV received ^b	0.78 (0.40, 1.53)	
Log(GDP)	1.28 (1.02, 1.60)	1.10 (1.02, 1.17)

Table S1. Final seroconversion model applied to each child mortality stratum individually

OR = odds ratio; CI = confidence interval; RV = rotavirus; LAZ = length-for-age z-score; OPV = oral polio vaccine, GDP = gross domestic product (2004, in USD)

^a No children in high child mortality settings received low concentration vaccines.

^b All children in high child mortality setting received at least one dose of OPV

Individual or country level factor	OR (95% CI)
Time from last RV dose to serology (weeks)	0.88 (0.84, 0.93)
Vaccine concentration $\ge 10^{6.0}$	1.00 (ref)
Vaccine concentration $< 10^{6.0}$	0.65 (0.48, 0.87)
OPV neither concomitant w/ RV dose 1 nor 2	1.00 (ref)
OPV concomitant w/ RV dose 1 & 2	0.62 (0.46, 0.81)
OPV concomitant w/ RV dose 1 only	0.36 (0.05, 2.58)
OPV concomitant w/ RV dose 2 only	0.90 (0.30, 2.70)
No OPV received	0.92 (0.56, 1.50)
Log(GDP)	1.20 (1.05, 1.38)
Age at 1st RV dose (weeks)	1.13 (1.08, 1.17)
LAZ: stunted or severely stunted	1.00 (ref)
LAZ: not stunted/severely stunted	1.22 (0.92, 1.62)
Child mortality- Low child mortality settings	1.00 (ref)
Child mortality- High child mortality settings	1.80 (0.77, 4.22)

Table S2. Final seroconversion model applied to subset of infants with confirmed seronegative status via anti-rotavirus IgA serology sample prior to vaccination (n = 4,473)

IgA = immunoglobulin A; OR = odds ratio; CI = confidence interval; RV = rotavirus; LAZ = length-forage z-score; OPV = oral polio vaccine, GDP = gross domestic product

0.89 (0.84, 0.95)

0.64 (0.40, 1.04)

Age at 1st RV dose (weeks)*Child mortality setting

LAZ: not stunted*Child mortality setting

5 Aim 2- Correlates of protection

[Manuscript 2]

Assessing serum anti-rotavirus immunoglobulin A as a correlate of vaccine-induced protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis in high and low child mortality settings: analysis of pooled individual-level clinical trial data

Julia M. Baker, Jacqueline E. Tate, Juan Leon, Michael J. Haber, Benjamin A. Lopman

Abstract

Background: Despite tremendous global progress, the full benefits of rotavirus vaccination have not yet been achieved. To sustain the downward trends in rotavirus morbidity and mortality, rapid and effective assessment of modified rotavirus vaccine strategies and the next generation of vaccines is essential. This study aimed to quantify a threshold of post-vaccine serum anti-rotavirus IgA antibody units that serves as an individual level immune correlate of protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis among vaccinated infants across child mortality settings.

Methods: Individual level data on infants enrolled in nine of GlaxoSmithKline's phase II and III clinical trials of the Rotarix vaccine were pooled to create the dataset for this analysis. A total of 5,074 vaccinated infants from 16 countries were include in the analysis. Cox proportional hazard models were fit to estimate hazard ratios (HRs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) describing the

relationship between specific anti-rotavirus IgA thresholds and the occurrence of mild/moderate or severe rotavirus gastroenteritis. Two follow-up periods were assessed: from serum sample collection (at approximately 4-12 weeks of age) to 1 year of age and from 1 year of age to 2 years of age.

Results: In both high and low child mortality settings, seroconversion conferred substantial protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis during the first follow-up period. Among infants in low child mortality settings, seroconversion provided near perfect protection against severe rotavirus gastroenteritis (HR = 0.04, 95% CI = 0.01, 0.32). In high child mortality settings, seroconversion reduced the risk of severe rotavirus gastroenteritis by 52% (HR = 0.48, 95% CI = 0.26, 0.90). Notable patterns were observed during follow-up. The highest anti-rotavirus IgA threshold tended to have the lowest HR comparing the rate of gastroenteritis among those above that threshold to seronegative infants. Smaller HRs were observed for more severe disease indicating higher protection. Lastly, the HR for a given anti-rotavirus IgA threshold was generally higher in high child mortality settings compared to low child mortality settings. Controlling for possible confounders (such as length-for-age z-score or country gross domestic product) did not impact the HR for a given IgA threshold. No clear patterns in HRs by IgA threshold or severity of illness were observed during the second year of follow-up.

Conclusions: Serum IgA is a valuable, though imperfect, correlate of vaccine-induced protection against mild/moderate and severe rotavirus gastroenteritis up to 1 year of age. Higher anti-rotavirus IgA titer generally corresponded with increased protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis. Since a consistent anti-rotavirus IgA threshold indicating perfect protection against

rotavirus gastroenteritis was not identified and the level of protection estimated for a given threshold differed by setting, serum anti-rotavirus IgA alone may be insufficient to accurately predict an infant's risk of rotavirus gastroenteritis.

Background

Rotavirus vaccine, introduced as early as 2006 in some countries,⁶⁶ has profoundly impacted rotavirus morbidity and mortality among young children on the global scale.¹²⁷ Declines in rotavirus-related hospitalizations and death have been observed in several countries.^{134,170–172} A recent meta-analysis found that rotavirus gastroenteritis has been reduced overall by 67% among children under 5 years of age in countries that have introduced the vaccine.¹²⁷ Despite this progress, the full benefits of rotavirus vaccination have not yet been achieved.¹⁷³ Rotavirus remains the leading cause of severe diarrheal disease among young children and continues to cause 128,500–215,000 deaths annually among children under 5 years of age.^{6,7}

Further reduction in the rotavirus disease burden is hindered by to two important impediments faced in settings where the burden of rotavirus gastroenteritis is greatest. First, rotavirus vaccine remains inaccessible to approximately 90 million newborns (67%) each year, a majority of whom (70%) live in low-income countries of Africa and Asia.^{67,68} Logistic challenges including vaccine supply constraints, cold-chain requirements, cost,⁵⁴ and co-financing arrangements with Gavi, (which assists developing countries in purchasing vaccines)⁶⁶ impede the utility of some existing vaccines¹¹⁴ and may be contributing to slowed vaccine uptake in recent years. Second, rotavirus vaccine is substantially less immunogenic and less efficacious in high child mortality settings, such

as Africa and South East Asia, where the majority of the rotavirus mortality burden exists.^{7,96} In some settings, despite introduction of the vaccine, rotavirus remains a leading cause of severe diarrheal disease⁷ and diarrhea-related hospitalization.^{94,95} Improving rotavirus vaccine performance will require ongoing evaluation of modifiable vaccination strategies for existing vaccines and evaluation of new vaccine candidates in the robust rotavirus vaccine pipeline.¹⁴⁴

Currently, rotavirus studies typically assess a clinical endpoint such as rotavirus gastroenteritis or rotavirus-related hospitalization.²⁷ A biomarker of vaccine performance could be used to rapidly evaluate new vaccination strategies and vaccine candidates.¹¹⁵ An alternative to assessing efficacy of a vaccine against clinical outcomes is to use a correlate of protection which predicts the likelihood of clinical disease.^{27,113} When used as part of a vaccine study, a correlate of protection can be used as a surrogate for clinical endpoints^{27,113} and reduce the need for long-term, large-scale trials following children for relatively rare clinical outcomes.²⁷ Indeed, correlates of protection have been found for a number of other vaccines including influenza vaccines (serum haemagglutinin antibodies,¹⁷⁴ meningococcal C conjugate vaccines (serum serogroup C-specific immunoglobulin G (IgG)),¹⁷⁵ pneumococcal conjugate vaccines (immunoglobulin G anticapsular-specific polysaccharide antibodies),¹⁷⁶ tetanus vaccines (serum tetanus antitoxin),^{177,178} and diphtheria vaccines (serum diphtheria antitoxin).^{177,179}

For rotavirus, serum anti-rotavirus immunoglobulin A (IgA) antibodies are one of the primary measures being considered as a possible marker for protection.^{27,28} Other measures have been explored, including serum or intestinal rotavirus-specific neutralizing antibodies, intestinal or stool anti-rotavirus IgA and IgG antibodies, and serum anti-rotavirus IgG; these measures have

generally been found to be impractical to collect in clinical studies, inconsistently associated with protection, or difficult to measure due to short duration of detectability.²⁷ Vaccine-induced antirotavirus IgA levels have been demonstrated to predict vaccine efficacy on the aggregate (country) level,⁹⁹ however, only limited research has examined the role of anti-rotavirus IgA as a possible correlate of protection on the individual scale.²⁷ Much of the early research in this field relates to individual level anti-rotavirus IgA only in the context of natural infection^{39,44} or assessed antirotavirus IgA for vaccines no longer available for use today.^{116–118} More recently, a meta-analysis found individual level seropositive status (measured as anti-rotavirus IgA ≥ 20 U/mL) to be moderately associated with lower risk of gastroenteritis in a small subset of clinical trials.¹¹⁹

A rotavirus correlate of protection could improve rotavirus vaccine performance in two ways. First, it could enhance our understanding of where and why current rotavirus vaccines underperform and what modifiable vaccination strategies might improve performance. Second, a correlate of protection could help efficiently identify promising candidates in the rotavirus vaccine pipeline including new live vaccines and non-replicating vaccines. Using a correlate of protection as an endpoint could reduce trial costs and avoid ethical challenges associated with placebo controlled trials.¹⁸⁰ We aimed to identify a threshold of post-vaccine IgA antibody units that best predicts substantially reduced risk of rotavirus gastroenteritis among infants vaccinated infants with GlaxoSmithKline's (GSK's) Rotarix vaccine in high to low child mortality settings.

Methods

GSK clinical trial data

Individual level data on infants enrolled in GSK's phase II and III clinical trials of the Rotarix vaccine were combined to create a pooled dataset (Table 1). Rotarix is a live, attenuated oral rotavirus vaccine administered in two-doses. The first dose is recommended beginning at 6 weeks of age and the second dose following after an interval of four or more weeks and by 24 weeks of age.⁷⁰

Data from nine trials from 16 countries were combined. Each trial was a randomized, doubleblind, and placebo-controlled trial with similar protocols for the main measures of interest (Table 2). The countries in which the studies took place were categorized into child mortality strata based on WHO classification¹⁴⁵ using under 5 child mortality rate quintiles—the lowest quintile, second and middle quintile, and two highest quintiles were considered "very low," "low," and "high" child mortality.¹⁴⁶ Fourteen of the included countries were considered low/very low child mortality (combined) and two were considered high child mortality

This study was limited to infants who received the Rotarix vaccine (n = 11,619), participated in the RV immunogenicity sub-studies of the trials (i.e. had post-vaccine serology data) according to protocol (n = 6,099), and were followed up to approximately one or two years of age for rotavirus gastroenteritis. Infants who had a recorded episode of rotavirus gastroenteritis prior to collection of his/her post-vaccine serology sample (n = 59) were excluded as prior infection would impact both the anti-rotavirus IgA titer value and risk of subsequent illness; the final dataset included 5,074 infants.

GSK Trial		Study	Age at	Vacc-	Follo	ow-up
	Study Sites	D	Dose 1	inated	Year 1	Year 2
Number		Phase	(Wks)	(n)	(n)	(n)
107625	Japan	3	6-14	492	34	34
102247	Czech Republic, Finland,	3	6-14	2 613	786	783
1022-17	France, Germany, Italy, Spain	5	0 14	2,015	700	105
102248	Malawi, South Africa	3	5-10	2,803	2,268	1,555
113808	China	3	6-16	1,518	390	373
444563/007	Singapore	2	11-17	1,737	447	441
444563/004	Finland	2	6-12	249	209	204
444563/005	Canada, US	2	6-12	372	257	168
444563/006	Brazil, Mexico, Venezuela	2	6-12	1,498	425	273
444563/013	South Africa	2	5-10	337	258	88
Total				11,619	5,074	3,919

Table 1. Study characteristics by trial number

Countries in bold are classified as high child mortality settings

a	
Category	Study protocol and definitions
Inclusion	• Male and female infants
anitania	• Healthy subjects free of all obvious health problems (established by medical history
criteria	and physical exam)
	• Use of investigational or non-registered product (drug or vaccine) w/in 30 days prior
	to study vaccine dose
	• Planned administration of a vaccine not foreseen by the study protocol w/in 14 days
	of study vaccine dose
	• Chronic administration (defined as >14 days) of immunosuppressants anytime since
Exclusion	birth
&/or	• Any confirmed or suspected immune-suppressive or deficient condition based on
elimination	medical history and exam
criteria	Significant history of chronic gastrointestinal disease
	• History of allergic reaction to any vaccine component
	• Acute disease, defined as the presence of a moderate or severe illness w/ or w/o
	fever, at the time of enrollment (warrants deferral of vaccination)
	• Administration of immunoglobulins and/or blood product since birth or planned
	administration during the study
	• GSK RIX 4414 HRV vaccine
Vaccine	• Vaccinated arm w/ viral suspension of $\geq 10^{6.0} \text{ CCID}_{50}^{a}$
	• Doses administered 1-2 months apart
Medical exam	
& history	• Medical exam and history obtained at enrollment

Table 2. Similarities	across trial	protocols	and definitions

	• Concomitant medications/vaccinations, history of medication/vaccination recorded at
	study visits
	Anthropometric measurements obtained
	• Defined as diarrhea w/ or w/o vomiting
Gastro-	• Diarrhea defined as \geq 3 looser than normal stools in a 24 hour period
intestinal illness	• Severity measured on Vesikari scale
	• Symptoms, duration, medical treatment sought recorded on a diary card provided by
	the study
	• Collected as soon as possible and no later than 7 days of severe gastrointestinal
Stool samples	illness
	• Tested via EIA, including RV strain determination
Serology	• Collected 1-3 months after final vaccine dose
Scrology	• Samples tested via ELISA, assay cutoff of anti-rotavirus IgA \geq 20 U/mL

^a Highest viral suspensions of 10^{4.7} and 10^{5.8} median CCID₅₀ in study 444563/004 and 444563/006, respectively

All individual and study-related data for the clinical trials were provided by GSK. In this analysis we utilized data on post-vaccine serum anti-rotavirus IgA titers and rotavirus gastroenteritis episodes occurring during follow-up as the primary explanatory and endpoints of interest, respectively. In all trials, serum samples were collected approximately 4-12 weeks after receipt of the last rotavirus vaccine dose and measured using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA).¹⁸¹

Infants were followed for rotavirus gastroenteritis of any severity up 1 or 2 years of age, depending on the study protocol. The onset date and severity of gastroenteritis episodes (regardless of etiology) were recorded and stool samples were tested via ELISA to assess whether each episode was rotavirus-related. Severity of gastroenteritis was defined based on the 20-point "Vesikari scale," a standard severity measure which takes into account illness symptoms including diarrhea (duration and maximum number of episodes per day), vomiting (duration and maximum number of episodes per day), fever, dehydration and required treatment.¹⁸²

Additional data on possible confounders of the anti-rotavirus IgA titer-gastroenteritis relationship^{98,104} were also considered. These variables included age at post-vaccine serology sample (weeks), sex, length-for-age z-scores (LAZ) as a proxy for nutritional status, and monthly rate of non-rotavirus gastroenteritis (calculated) to represent possible heterogeneity in susceptibility/exposure to gastroenteritis among the infants. Country level data on gross domestic product (GDP) per capita in 2004 USD¹⁶⁰ and 2004 under 5 mortality rates¹⁶² supplemented the individual level trial data.

Statistical analysis

Cox proportional hazard models were fit to estimate hazard ratios (HRs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) describing the relationship between specific IgA thresholds and the occurrence of rotavirus gastroenteritis. The occurrence of mild to moderate rotavirus gastroenteritis (Vesikari scores of 0-10) and severe rotavirus gastroenteritis (Vesikari score of 11 or higher) were the outcomes of interest. Anti-rotavirus IgA titer threshold was the primary explanatory variable.

Dichotomous thresholds were created by dividing the data into those who were seronegative after vaccination (defined as an anti-rotavirus IgA measure of <20 U/mL according to GSK protocol) and those above a particular anti-rotavirus IgA cut off. Eight thresholds were created, all using seronegative infants as the reference. The selected values began with 20 U/mL and were doubled to span the range of anti-rotavirus IgA titers among the infants (in U/mL): \geq 20, \geq 40, \geq 80, \geq 160, \geq 320, \geq 640, \geq 1,280 and \geq 2,560. Infant age (weeks) was the time to rotavirus event, left censored at age at serum sample collection. Clinical trial number was included in the models as a frailty component (i.e. a random intercept) to account for possible unmeasured variability between clinical trials. An example of the model formula is shown in the Supplemental Material.

Duration of follow-up was divided into two periods: 1) from post-vaccine serum sample collection up to 1 year of age and 2) from 1 year of age up to 2 years of age. Children were followed until they had an episode of rotavirus gastroenteritis (event), left the study (censored) or reached the maximum age for the follow-up period (censored), whichever occurred first. Among those who had rotavirus gastroenteritis during the follow-up period, only the first episode was considered in the analysis since so few had multiple episodes; after the first episode, an individual was censored for the remainder of the follow-up period.

Preliminary analysis began with testing the role of possible confounders of the anti-rotavirus IgA and rotavirus gastroenteritis relationship. Initial models for rotavirus gastroenteritis of any severity were created with an anti-rotavirus IgA threshold of 20 (seronegative vs. seropositive infants) as the only predictor. Next, full models were created including both the IgA threshold as the primary predictor and sex, LAZ, monthly rate of non-rotavirus gastroenteritis and GDP added as possible

confounders. Backwards elimination was conducted on the full models with an α of 0.10 as the cut-off for retaining a variable in the model. The initial, full and final models after backward elimination were evaluated to assess the proportional hazards assumption and compared to identify if controlling for possible confounders impacted the HR for anti-rotavirus IgA.

Because we found that no variables substantially changed the magnitude of the IgA relationship with rotavirus gastroenteritis, we then estimated the association between each anti-rotavirus IgA threshold alone with mild/moderate or severe rotavirus gastroenteritis during each follow-up period. Separate models were fit for low and high child mortality settings. HRs and 95% CIs were estimated for all potential anti-rotavirus IgA thresholds, severity of illness and follow-up periods. Based on findings from this analysis, a sub-analysis was conducted using the same methods to examine the value of the IgA \geq 20 threshold among low child mortality countries further stratified into "very low" and "low" child mortality settings. The countries with very low child mortality included Canada, Czech Republic, Finland, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Singapore, Spain and the United States. Low child mortality countries included Brazil, China, Mexico and Venezuela.

All modeling was conducted using the "survival" and "survminor" packages in R software.

Ethical approval

This study was reviewed by the Emory University Institutional Review Board and determined to be non-human subjects research. Trial participant data was de-identified and all dates obfuscated by GSK prior to data sharing.

Results

The final dataset included 5,074 infants, 2,526 (49.8%) of whom were from high child mortality settings (Table 3). The mean age at post-vaccine serology sample collection was 23 weeks (sd = 3) with children in low child mortality settings being, on average, approximately 4 weeks older at time of serology than children in high child mortality settings (mean in low child mortality settings = 25, sd = 4; high child mortality settings = 21, sd = 1, p < 0.001). 237 infants had at least one episode of rotavirus gastroenteritis during the follow-up period; only six infants (3%) had one or more subsequent episodes (which were not analyzed). A higher percentage of rotavirus gastroenteritis episodes among children in high child mortality settings were considered severe (39%, 95% CI = 32%, 47%) compared to children in low child mortality settings (28%, 95% CI = 19%, 39%, p = 0.08).

The median follow-up time from serum sample collection to either the first episode of rotavirus gastroenteritis or censoring was 79 weeks (Table 3). Follow-up was substantially longer for infants in low child mortality settings (median = 85 weeks, IQR = 70, 96) than infants in high child mortality settings (median = 53 weeks, IQR = 51, 92). All infants (n = 5,074) were included in the first follow-up period whereas 3,804 (80%) of infants were followed between 1 and 2 years of age.

In both settings and for both mild/moderate and severe gastroenteritis, infants who were seronegative had the highest cumulative proportion by 2 years of age (Figure 1). In contrast,

infants with the highest anti-rotavirus IgA titers ($\geq 2,560$) typically had the lowest cumulative incidence.

		Low child mortality	High child
	All countries,	settings,	mortality settings,
	N = 5,074	N = 2,548	N = 2,526
Individual and country level characteristics			
Age at post-vaccine serology sample (weeks), mean			
(sd)	23 (3)	25 (4)	21 (1)
Female, n (%)	2,513 (50)	1,255 (49)	1,258 (50)
Stunted or severely stunted, n (%)	4,493 (89)	2,434 (96)	2,059 (82)
Rate of non-rotavirus gastroenteritis (episodes/100			
months), median (IQR)	0 (0, 11)	0 (0, 7)	0 (0, 12)
Severity of first episode of rotavirus gastroenteritis			
during follow-up, n (%)			
Mild/moderate	153 (65)	57 (72)	96 (61)
Severe	84 (35)	22 (28)	62 (39)
GDP (2004, in USD), median (IQR)	4,745 (4,721, 27,405)	27,405 (4,271, 34,166)	4,545 (274, 4,745)

Table 3. Individual, country and follow-up characteristics of infants from 9 trials conducted in 16 countries beginning in 2000-2010

Follow-up

Age at event/censoring (weeks), median (IQR)	79 (52, 94)	85 (70, 96)	53 (51, 92)
Time from post-vaccine serology sample to			
event/censoring (weeks), median (IQR)	53 (30, 72)	60 (47, 74)	33 (30, 71)
Participation in follow-up 1 period, n (%)	5,074 (100)	2,548 (100)	2,526 (100)
Duration of participation in follow-up 1 (weeks),			
median (IQR)	29 (25, 31)	26 (24, 29)	31 (29, 31)
Participation in follow-up 2 period, n (%)	3,804 (80)	2,248 (88)	1,556 (61)
Duration of participation in follow-up 2 (weeks),			
median (IQR)	36 (24, 44)	36 (26, 45)	37 (3, 43)

sd = standard deviation, IQR = interquartile range, GDP = gross domestic product in 2004 USD

Figure 1. Cumulative proportion of infants experiencing mild/moderate or severe rotavirus gastroenteritis during the entire follow-up period, by anti-rotavirus IgA antibody (U/mL), severity of rotavirus gastroenteritis and child mortality setting



Comparison of HR for anti-rotavirus IgA with and without controlling for confounders

With anti-rotavirus IgA threshold of ≥ 20 U/mL as the only explanatory variable (Supplemental Table S1), the HR comparing seropositive infants to seronegative infants was 0.34 (95% CI = 0.25, 0.47). Adding all available potential confounder variables to the model (full model), the HR for anti-rotavirus IgA ≥ 20 changed minimally (HR = 0.35, 95% CI = 0.26, 049). Similarly, after backwards elimination, no change in the HR for the anti-rotavirus IgA threshold was observed. When other anti-rotavirus IgA thresholds (≥ 40 , ≥ 80 , ≥ 160) were tested using this same process, modification of the model had very little impact on the HR for the anti-rotavirus IgA threshold. Since controlling for potential confounders did not impact the association between anti-rotavirus IgA thresholds and the HR for rotavirus gastroenteritis, subsequent modeling used the eight prespecified IgA threshold as the only predictor.

Anti-rotavirus IgA thresholds for follow-up to 1 year of age across severity of illness

Anti-rotavirus IgA thresholds were modeled separately for low and high child mortality settings based on preliminary examination of the cumulative incidence data which suggested possible differences in HRs by setting.

Results of modeling each anti-rotavirus IgA threshold as the sole explanatory variable for mild/moderate and severe rotavirus gastroenteritis during the first follow-up period demonstrated several patterns. First, within the mild/moderate gastroenteritis models for infants in low child mortality settings (Table 4a), the HR ranged from 0.31 (95% CI = 0.13, 0.75) for the threshold of \geq 20 U/mL to 0.13 (95% CI = 0.03, 0.60) for the threshold of \geq 320 U/mL, above which no events

occurred. A similar pattern was observed for this same population and follow-up period when examining severe rotavirus gastroenteritis with the highest protection provided among infants with the highest levels of anti-rotavirus IgA, though the pattern was less consistent. Second, for a given threshold, the HR for protection against mild/moderate gastroenteritis was higher than that for severe gastroenteritis.

Among infants in high child mortality settings, the same general pattern of decreasing HRs as antirotavirus IgA thresholds increased was observed (Table 4b). For both mild/moderate and severe rotavirus gastroenteritis, the lowest HRs were observed for the highest levels of anti-rotavirus IgA. As was the case for low child mortality settings, the HR for a given anti-rotavirus IgA threshold was generally higher for mild/moderate rotavirus gastroenteritis. The HRs for infants in high child mortality settings were consistently higher than those among children in low child mortality settings.

The low child mortality setting group was further stratified into countries with "very low" and "low" child mortality to estimate HRs using the threshold of ≥ 20 U/mL (Table 5). Among the very low child mortality countries, the HR for mild/moderate gastroenteritis was 0.13 (95% CI = 0.03, 0.53) and was 0 (95% CI = NA) for severe gastroenteritis because no episodes occurred. Among the low child mortality settings, the HR for mild/moderate gastroenteritis (0.58, 95% CI = 0.20, 1.73) aligned more closely with that of the high child mortality settings from Table 4b than the lowest child mortality settings. In contrast, the HR for severe gastroenteritis in these countries (0.05, 95% CI = 0.01, 0.42) was more similar to that of the lowest child mortality settings.

Lastly, the HR for the \geq 20 U/mL threshold was assessed for each country individually to identify if a pattern to be identified in the HR as child mortality rate increased. No pattern was identified, possibly due to small sample sizes.
		Mi	ld/Modera	ate Rotavirus Gasti	roenteritis	Severe Rotavirus Gastroenteritis				
IgA			Time	Cum. Hazard			Time	Cum. Hazard		
threshold		Events	at risk	per 100		Events	at risk	per 100		
(U/mL)	N (%)	n (%)	(week)	(95% CI)	HR* (95% CI)	n (%)	(week)	(95% CI)	HR* (95% CI)	
Seroneg.	575 (22.6)	11 (1.9)	15322	2.28 (0.88, 3.69)	1.00 (ref)	11 (1.9)	15397	1.98 (0.81, 3.15)	1.00 (ref)	
≥20	1973 (77.4)	10 (0.5)	52860	0.59 (0.21, 0.97)	0.31 (0.13, 0.75)	1 (0.1)	53030	0.05 (0.00, 0.15)	0.04 (0.01, 0.32)	
≥40	1822 (71.5)	9 (0.5)	48712	0.57 (0.18, 0.96)	0.30 (0.12, 0.74)	1 (0.1)	48858	0.06 (0.00, 0.16)	0.04 (0.01, 0.35)	
≥80	1519 (59.6)	6 (0.4)	40748	0.48 (0.07, 0.89)	0.22 (0.08, 0.61)	1 (0.1)	40843	0.07 (0.00, 0.20)	0.06 (0.01, 0.46)	
≥160	1183 (46.4)	2 (0.2)	31909	0.17 (0.00, 0.41)	0.09 (0.02, 0.42)	1 (0.1)	31935	0.09 (0.00, 0.25)	0.08 (0.01, 0.63)	
≥320	814 (31.9)	2 (0.2)	22201	0.25 (0.00, 0.60)	0.13 (0.03, 0.60)	0 (0.0)	22239	0.00 (NA)	0.00 (NA)	
≥640	475 (18.6)	0 (0.0)	13044	0.00 (NA)	0.00 (NA)	0 (0.0)	13044	0.00 (NA)	0.00 (NA)	
≥1280	214 (8.4)	0 (0.0)	5975	0.00 (NA)	0.00 (NA)	0 (0.0)	5975	0.00 (NA)	0.00 (NA)	
≥2560	65 (2.6)	0 (0.0)	1866	0.00 (NA)	0.00 (NA)	0 (0.0)	1866	0.00 (NA)	0.00 (NA)	

Table 4a.	Survival	analysis	results fo	r infants	in low	child r	nortality	settings	during	follow-u	b to 1^{-1}	vear of age
												J · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

HR = hazard ratio; IQR = interquartile range, CI = confidence interval

		Mi	ild/Moder	rate Rotavirus Gastr	oenteritis	Severe Rotavirus Gastroenteritis				
IgA			Time	Cum. Hazard			Time	Cum. Hazard		
threshold		Events	at risk	per 100		Events	at risk	per 100		
(U/mL)	N (%)	n (%)	(week)	(95% CI)	HR* (95% CI)	n (%)	(week)	(95% CI)	HR* (95% CI)	
Seroneg.	978 (38.7)	50 (5.1)	27550	7.33 (3.24, 11.43)	1.00 (ref)	23 (2.4)	28071	2.50 (1.48, 3.52)	1.00 (ref)	
≥20	1548 (61.3)	31 (2.0)	45245	2.16 (1.39, 2.92)	0.38 (0.24, 0.60)	18 (1.2)	45536	1.22 (0.66, 1.78)	0.48 (0.26, 0.90)	
≥40	1354 (53.6)	27 (2.0)	39557	2.16 (1.34, 2.98)	0.38 (0.24, 0.61)	16 (1.2)	39818	1.24 (0.63, 1.85)	0.49 (0.26, 0.93)	
≥80	1058 (41.9)	22 (2.1)	30906	2.22 (1.29, 3.15)	0.40 (0.24, 0.65)	9 (0.9)	31188	0.90 (0.31, 1.48)	0.35 (0.16, 0.76)	
≥160	795 (31.5)	18 (2.3)	23171	2.45 (1.31, 3.58)	0.43 (0.25, 0.74)	5 (0.6)	23408	0.67 (0.08, 1.25)	0.26 (0.10, 0.69)	
≥320	546 (21.6)	9 (1.6)	15933	1.75 (0.61, 2.90)	0.31 (0.15, 0.64)	2 (0.4)	16039	0.38 (0.00, 0.91)	0.15 (0.04, 0.65)	
≥640	336 (13.3)	5 (1.5)	9823	1.61 (0.20, 3.03)	0.28 (0.11, 0.71)	1 (0.3)	9861	0.31 (0.00, 0.91)	0.12 (0.02, 0.92)	
≥1280	171 (6.8)	1 (0.6)	4959	0.61 (0.00, 1.81)	0.11 (0.02, 0.81)	1 (0.6)	4961	0.61 (0.00, 1.81)	0.25 (0.03, 1.83)	
≥2560	73 (2.9)	0 (0.0)	2088	0.00 (NA)	0.00 (NA)	0 (0.0)	2088	0.00 (NA)	0.00 (NA)	

Table 4b.	Survival	analysis	results f	for infants	in high c	child mortalit	y setting	s during	g follow-u	p to 1°	vear of ag	ge
		J			0 '		J 0	6	,			

IgA = anti-rotavirus immunoglobulin A; HR = hazard ratio; IQR = interquartile range, CI = confidence interval

Table 5. Survival analysis results for infants in low child mortality settings further stratified into very low and low child mortality during follow-up to 1 year of age

		Μ	ild/Moder	ate Rotavirus Gast	roenteritis	Severe Rotavirus Gastroenteritis				
			Time	Cum. Hazard			Time	Cum. Hazard		
IgA		Events	at risk	per 100		Events	at risk	per 100		
threshold	N (%)	n (%)	(week)	(95% CI)	HR* (95% CI)	n (%)	(week)	(95% CI)	HR* (95% CI)	
Very low child	l mortality									
Seroneg.	306 (18)	5 (1.7)	7966	2.40 (0.03, 4.77)	1.00 (ref)	1 (0.3)	8059	0.33 (0.00, 0.99)	1.00 (ref)	
$\geq 20 \text{ U/mL}$	1427 (82)	3 (0.2)	37742	0.33 (0.00, 0.74)	0.13 (0.03, 0.53)	0 (0.0)	37805	0.0 (NA)	NA	
Low child mo	rtality									
Seroneg.	269 (33)	6 (2.2)	7356	2.43 (0.48, 4.39)	1.00 (ref)	10 (3.7)	7338	3.93 (1.49, 6.36)	1.00 (ref)	
≥20 U/mL	546 (67)	7 (1.3)	15119	1.40 (0.36, 2.44)	0.58 (0.20, 1.73)	1 (0.2)	15225	0.18 (0.00, 0.54)	0.05 (0.01, 0.42)	

IgA = anti-rotavirus immunoglobulin A; HR = hazard ratio; IQR = interquartile range, CI = confidence interval

Anti-rotavirus IgA thresholds for follow-up from 1 year of age to 2 years of age across severity of illness

The patterns observed during follow-up to 1 year of age were generally less apparent during the second year of life (Supplemental Table S2a). The HRs for mild/moderate gastroenteritis among infants in low child mortality settings did tend to decrease as anti-rotavirus IgA thresholds increased, however, this was not the case for severe rotavirus gastroenteritis. When comparing mild/moderate and severe gastroenteritis for the same populations and thresholds, the HR for severe disease tended to be higher. For infants in high child mortality settings, no apparent trends were observed either by anti-rotavirus IgA titer level or severity of gastroenteritis (Supplemental Table S2b).

Discussion

findings highlight characteristics of serum anti-rotavirus IgA that make it a valuable, though imperfect, surrogate endpoint for assessing rotavirus vaccine performance. First, we found that seroconversion defined as anti-rotavirus IgA ≥ 20 U/mL confers substantial protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis. This seroconversion threshold may represent the most informative threshold available from serum anti-rotavirus IgA titers. Second, an approximate "dose-response" relationship was identified with higher anti-rotavirus IgA levels providing better protection against the occurrence of rotavirus gastroenteritis with the strongest protection often provided against more severe disease. This pattern was generally consistent across settings. Third, the level of protection estimated for a given IgA threshold differed by child mortality setting suggesting that

serum anti-rotavirus IgA alone may be insufficient to accurately predict a child's risk of rotavirus gastroenteritis.

An ideal correlate of protection is one that indicates near perfect protection against the clinical outcome of interest.²⁷ However, because rotavirus is an imperfectly immunizing infection, a more practical goal for a correlate of protection in the context of rotavirus vaccination may be to identify a measure that represents substantially reduced the risk of severe gastroenteritis.²⁷ The results of this analysis provide encouraging evidence that serum anti-rotavirus IgA may be such a measure. We found that infants with any detectable level anti-rotavirus IgA antibodies in serum (seropositive infants) had a substantially reduced rate of rotavirus gastroenteritis up to 1 year of age in both high and low child mortality settings when compared to vaccine non-responders (seronegative infants). These findings reinforce prior research from early vaccine trials¹⁸³ and a more recent evaluation¹¹⁹ that suggest the same relationship. Our findings extend beyond this, however, and provide evidence that seroconversion serves as a near perfect correlate of protection against severe rotavirus gastroenteritis in low child mortality settings, reducing the risk of rotavirus gastroenteritis by 96% (HR = 0.04, 95% CI = 0.01, 0.32) compared to infants who did not seroconvert.

While no clear IgA cutoff representing 100% protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis across settings was apparent, a characteristic of serum anti-rotavirus IgA that strengthens its utility as a surrogate end point for vaccine evaluation is the approximate "dose-response" relationship we identified between anti-rotavirus IgA titer and protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis. In both high and low child mortality settings, the highest levels of anti-rotavirus IgA were often associated

with the largest reductions in rotavirus gastroenteritis rates and, importantly, the strongest protection was typically evident for severe rotavirus gastroenteritis compared to mild/moderate gastroenteritis. Similar patterns have previously been demonstrated for anti-rotavirus IgA titers following natural infection. Velázquez et al. followed a cohort of children in Mexico for two years and found infants with IgA titers >800 U/mL had an 84% reduced risk of rotavirus gastroenteritis (risk ratio = 0.16, 95% CI = 0.04, 0.64).³⁹ Premkumar et al. found anti-rotavirus IgA titers ≥619 U/mL reduced the incidence rate of rotavirus diarrhea of any severity by 40% (incidence rate ratio = 0.60, 95% CI = 0.30, 2.13) in a cohort of infants in India over three years of follow-up.¹⁸⁴ Together, these findings support the notion that the relationship between naturally acquired immune response and rotavirus risk may extend to vaccine-induced immune response as well. This has valuable implications for future rotavirus vaccine evaluations, indicating that an improved vaccine strategy or vaccine formulation that leads to an increase in anti-rotavirus IgA titer may correspond with improved protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis.

One critical shortcoming of serum anti-rotavirus IgA confirmed by our study is its imperfect association with protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis. The occurrence of rotavirus gastroenteritis among some infants in high child mortality settings with high anti-rotavirus IgA titers and the drastically different HR estimates for a given anti-rotavirus IgA threshold in high and low child mortality settings indicate that anti-rotavirus IgA alone is not a perfect predictor of rotavirus gastroenteritis risk. This is especially true in high burden settings, in agreement with Lee et al. who found anti-rotavirus IgA seropositivity explained only a small portion of the protection provided by vaccination in Bangladesh.⁴⁵

From the immunologic perspective, the imperfect relationship identified in our study supports the hypothesis that serum anti-rotavirus IgA is likely a "non-mechanistic" correlate of protection. In other words, it may not be causally responsible for protecting against disease.^{27,185} Rather, serum anti-rotavirus IgA is likely associated with more proximal activities of the immune system, such as the development of mucosal or duodenal antibodies, that more directly confer protection.²⁹ Possible transfer or "spillover" of anti-rotavirus IgA from the gut into blood²⁸ may cause serum anti-rotavirus IgA to be correlated but not perfectly associated with immune system activities in the gut. However, serum anti-rotavirus IgA is a substantially easier to measure than possible mechanistic markers, making it a more practical tool. Further, our analysis assessing the association between anti-rotavirus IgA and rotavirus IgA in and of itself is a predictor of protection, not simply a proxy for other factors such as exposure risk or country setting.

This analysis contributes to the growing body of research on serum anti-rotavirus IgA as a possible correlate of protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis through its methodologic approach and application across settings. We pooled the relatively small immunogenicity and follow-up cohorts from carefully conducted clinical trials to create a large, individual level dataset for analysis. Combining data across settings provided increased statistical power compared to the individual trials and allowed us to take a multilevel modeling approach to assess the role of several possible confounders of the anti-rotavirus IgA and rotavirus gastroenteritis relationship.^{98,104} We also made full use of available follow-up data by applying survival analysis methods, a substantially improved approach over simple Chi-square and Fisher's exact tests frequently used in previous studies.²⁷ Assessing two follow-up periods and different child mortality settings provided insight

This analysis took advantage of the immunogenicity and follow-up cohorts of nine clinical trials to create a robust, individual level dataset to assess post-vaccine serum anti-rotavirus IgA as a possible correlate of protection for rotavirus gastroenteritis among vaccinated infants across settings. However, important limitations in our approach should be noted. First, while the protocols were highly consistent across trials, there may be differences in study activities or measures that we were unable to identify. We attempted to account for this by including a frailty term in all survival analysis models. Second, only one post-vaccine serum anti-rotavirus IgA measure collected shortly after vaccination was consistently available across studies. Without serial anti-rotavirus IgA measurements, we were unable to identify infants who may have had asymptomatic infections during follow-up, possibly impacting their likelihood of symptomatic illness. This constraint likely contributed to the unclear association between anti-rotavirus IgA and rotavirus gastroenteritis detected in the second year of life. Infants with the highest levels of anti-rotavirus IgA at the start of follow-up were probably least likely to have rotavirus gastroenteritis by 1 year of age and were mostly likely to be included in the second year of followup. Third, because this was a secondary analysis of previously collected clinical trial data, we did not have access to several important potential confounders, such as breastfeeding¹⁸⁶ and force of infection. We aimed to account for this by including rate of non-rotavirus gastroenteritis as a proxy for force of infection and GDP as a proxy for other possible uncontrolled confounders. Lastly, this study was limited to the association between anti-rotavirus IgA and rotavirus

gastroenteritis among infants who received the Rotarix vaccine. It is possible that the association may differ for other rotavirus vaccines of which there are three with WHO pre-qualification.

Serum anti-rotavirus IgA, while not a perfect correlate with a strict threshold indicating 100% protection, is a practical and informative measure of an infant's risk of rotavirus gastroenteritis. Our findings support the hypothesis that anti-rotavirus IgA may be a non-mechanistic correlate of protection. Continued research is needed to validate this measure for use in vaccine evaluation. This could be done with additional research comparing serum anti-rotavirus IgA with more proximal measures of immune response to rotavirus infection or with vaccine efficacy measures specifically. Additionally, further investigation into why the protective levels of anti-rotavirus IgA differ in high and low child mortality settings is necessary. Nonetheless, seroresponse measured using serum anti-rotavirus IgA ≥ 20 U/mL is a valuable indicator of substantial protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis in both high and low child mortality settings with increased titers generally representing increased protection.

Supplementary Material

Standard hazard model used for analyses:

 $h_{ij}(t) = h_0(t)exp[U + \beta_{a1...an}(H) + \beta_{b1...bn}(C) + \alpha_j]$

 $h_{ij}(t)$ represents the hazard of rotavirus gastroenteritis for the *i*th infant, in the *j*th trial

during follow-up (severity/timeframe modified for alternate outcomes)

 $h_0(t)$ represents baseline hazard at time t

 β_{a-b} represent regression coefficients for host and country level factors, respectively

U represent anti-rotavirus IgA titer threshold (dichotomous)

H represents a vector of host characteristics, a1 through an

C represents a vector of country-level characteristics, c1 through cn

 α_j represents a random effect (random intercept) by trial and denotes the

increased/decreased hazard for a given cluster (trial)

				Glob	al
		Schoe	nfeld	Schoen	feld
		Resid	lual	Resid	ual
Predictor	HR (95% CI)	Chi-sq	Р	Chi-sq	Р
		0.21	0 649	0.21	0 649
IgA ≥20	0.34 (0.25, 0.47)	0.21	0.049	0.21	0.049
IgA ≥20	0.35 (0.26, 0.49)	0.29	0.588	8.40	0.136
Sex $(1 = male)$	0.98 (0.72, 1.35)	1.44	0.230		
LAZ ($1 = not stunted$)	1.01 (0.65, 1.55)	1.03	0.309		
Non-rotavirus gastroenteritis	5.14 (1.56,	0.50	0.442		
rate (episodes/month)	16.94)	0.59	0.442		
GDP	1.00 (1.00, 1.00)	5.15	0.023		
IgA ≥20	0.35 (0.25, 0.49)	0.33	0.568	6.02	0.111
Non-rotavirus gastroenteritis	5.22 (1.59,	0.50	0.446		
rate (episodes/month)	17.11)	0.58 0.446			
GDP	1.00 (1.00, 1.00)	5.60	0.018		
	Predictor $IgA \ge 20$ $IgA \ge 20$ $IgA \ge 20$ $Sex (1 = male)$ $LAZ (1 = not stunted)$ Non-rotavirus gastroenteritisrate (episodes/month)GDP $IgA \ge 20$ Non-rotavirus gastroenteritisrate (episodes/month)GDPIgA ≥ 20Non-rotavirus gastroenteritisrate (episodes/month)GDPGDPOPNon-rotavirus gastroenteritisrate (episodes/month)GDPGDP	PredictorHR (95% CI)IgA \geq 200.34 (0.25, 0.47)IgA \geq 200.35 (0.26, 0.49)Sex (1 = male)0.98 (0.72, 1.35)LAZ (1 = not stunted)1.01 (0.65, 1.55)Non-rotavirus gastroenteritis5.14 (1.56,rate (episodes/month)16.94)GDP1.00 (1.00, 1.00)IgA \geq 200.35 (0.25, 0.49)Non-rotavirus gastroenteritis5.22 (1.59,rate (episodes/month)17.11)GDP1.00 (1.00, 1.00)	SchoelPredictorHR (95% CI)SchoelIgA ≥ 20 $0.34 (0.25, 0.47)$ 0.21 IgA ≥ 20 $0.35 (0.26, 0.49)$ 0.29 Sex (1 = male) $0.98 (0.72, 1.35)$ 1.44 LAZ (1 = not stunted) $1.01 (0.65, 1.55)$ 1.03 Non-rotavirus gastroenteritis $5.14 (1.56, -0.59)$ 0.59 rate (episodes/month) $1.00 (1.00, 1.00)$ 5.15 IgA ≥ 20 $0.35 (0.25, 0.49)$ 0.33 Non-rotavirus gastroenteritis $5.22 (1.59, -0.58)$ 0.58 rate (episodes/month) $1.00 (1.00, 1.00)$ 5.60	SchoeSchoePredictorHR (95% CL)SchoePredictorHR (95% CL) $Chi-sq$ PIgA ≥ 20 $0.34 (0.25, 0.47)$ 0.21 0.649 IgA ≥ 20 $0.35 (0.26, 0.49)$ 0.29 0.588 Sex (1 = male) $0.98 (0.72, 1.35)$ 1.44 0.230 LAZ (1 = not stunted) $1.01 (0.65, 1.55)$ 1.03 0.309 Non-rotavirus gastroenteritis $5.14 (1.56, 1.694)$ 0.442 GDP $1.00 (1.00, 1.00)$ 5.15 0.023 IgA ≥ 20 $0.35 (0.25, 0.499)$ 0.33 0.568 Non-rotavirus gastroenteritis $5.22 (1.59, 1.694)$ 0.446 IgA ≥ 20 $0.35 (0.25, 0.494)$ 0.588 0.446 IgA ≥ 20 $0.316 (0.316, 0.515)$ 0.446 IgA ≥ 20 $0.316 (0.316, 0.515)$ 0.588 0.446 IgA ≥ 20 $0.316 (0.316, 0.516)$ 0.416 IgA ≥ 20 $0.316 (0.316, 0.516)$ $0.516 (0.316, 0.516)$ IgA ≥ 20 $0.516 (0.516, 0.516)$ $0.516 (0.516, 0.516)$	Glob Schoer Schoer Reside Reside Predictor HR (95% CI Chi-sq P Chi-sq IgA ≥ 20 $0.34 (0.25, 0.47)$ 0.21 0.649 0.21 0.21 IgA ≥ 20 $0.35 (0.26, 0.49)$ 0.29 0.588 8.40 Sex (1 = male) $0.98 (0.72, 1.35)$ 1.44 0.230 LAZ (1 = not stunted) $1.01 (0.65, 1.55)$ 1.03 0.309 Non-rotavirus gastroenteritis $5.14 (1.56, \\ 16.94$ 0.442 -442 IgA ≥ 20 $0.35 (0.25, 0.49)$ 0.33 0.568 6.02 Non-rotavirus gastroenteritis $5.22 (1.59, \\ rate (episodes/month)$ $0.35 (0.27, 0.49)$ 0.38 6.02 Non-rotavirus gastroenteritis $5.22 (1.59, \\ rate (episodes/month)$ 0.446 6.02 Non-rotavirus gastroenteritis $5.22 (1.59, \\ rate (episodes/month)$ 0.446 6.02 Mon-rotavirus gastroenteritis $5.22 (1.59, \\ rate (episodes/month)$ 0.716 0.446

Table S1. Comparison of HR estimates for anti-rotavirus IgA threshold alone, in a full model controlling for all possible confounders, and the final model after backwards elimination

IgA = anti-rotavirus immunoglobulin A; LAZ = length-for-age z-score; GDP = gross domestic product in 2004 USD

		Mi	ld/Moder	ate Rotavirus Gast	troenteritis	Severe Rotavirus Gastroenteritis				
IgA			Time	Cum. Hazard			Time	Cum. Hazard per		
threshold		Events	at risk	per 100		Events	at risk	100		
(U/mL)	N (%)	n (%)	(week)	(95% CI)	HR* (95% CI)	n (%)	(week)	(95% CI)	HR* (95% CI)	
Seroneg.	456 (20.3)	12 (2.6)	13620	5.13 (1.71, 8.55)	1.00 (ref)	2 (0.4)	13756	0.55 (0.00, 1.32)	1.00 (ref)	
≥20	1792 (79.7)	24 (1.3)	60665	1.92 (1.10, 2.73)	0.53 (0.26, 1.09)	8 (0.4)	60873	0.64 (0.19, 1.09)	0.92 (0.20, 4.35)	
≥40	1654 (73.6)	20 (1.2)	56267	1.77 (0.94, 2.59)	0.47 (0.22, 0.97)	8 (0.5)	56406	0.69 (0.20, 1.18)	1.00 (0.21, 4.70)	
≥80	1386 (61.7)	17 (1.2)	47614	1.83 (0.91, 2.75)	0.47 (0.22, 1.01)	7 (0.5)	47746	0.73 (0.18, 1.28)	1.03 (0.21, 4.96)	
≥160	1097 (48.8)	15 (1.4)	38593	2.04 (0.95, 3.12)	0.53 (0.24, 1.17)	5 (0.5)	38741	0.69 (0.08, 1.30)	0.99 (0.19, 5.18)	
≥320	765 (34.0)	10 (1.3)	27804	2.06 (0.73, 3.39)	0.39 (0.17, 0.90)	4 (0.5)	27890	0.79 (0.01, 1.57)	1.21 (0.21, 6.84)	
≥640	448 (19.9)	4 (0.9)	16854	1.32 (0.02, 2.62)	0.31 (0.10, 0.98)	2 (0.4)	16880	0.69 (0.00, 1.64)	0.81 (0.11, 5.74)	
≥1280	204 (9.1)	2 (1.0)	8071	1.36 (0.00, 3.25)	0.35 (0.08, 1.64)	1 (0.5)	8080	0.68 (0.00, 2.02)	0.88 (0.08, 9.74)	
≥2560	59 (2.6)	0 (0.0)	2362	0.00 (NA)	0.00 (0.00, Inf)	0 (0.0)	2362	0.00 (NA)	0.00 (0.00, Inf)	

Table S2a. Survival analysis results for infants in low child mortality settings during follow-up from 1 year of age to 2 years of age

IgA = anti-rotavirus immunoglobulin A; HR = hazard ratio; IQR = interquartile range, CI = confidence interval

		Mi	ld/Moder	ate Rotavirus Gast	troenteritis		Severe	Rotavirus Gastroer	iteritis
IgA			Time	Cum. Hazard			Time	Cum. Hazard per	
threshold		Events	at risk	per 100		Events	at risk	100	
(U/mL)	N (%)	n (%)	(week)	(95% CI)	HR* (95% CI)	n (%)	(week)	(95% CI)	HR* (95% CI)
Seroneg.	554 (35.6)	8 (1.4)	15286	2.54 (0.75, 4.33)	1.00 (ref)	11 (2.0)	15105	2.97 (1.21, 4.72)	1.00 (ref)
≥20	1002 (39.0)	7 (0.7)	28872	1.02 (0.26, 1.78)	0.46 (0.17, 1.26)	10 (1.0)	28767	1.42 (0.54, 2.30)	0.48 (0.20, 1.12)
≥40	880 (34.3)	7 (0.8)	25576	1.16 (0.30, 2.01)	0.52 (0.19, 1.43)	7 (0.8)	25549	1.11 (0.29, 1.94)	0.38 (0.15, 0.97)
≥80	704 (27.4)	5 (0.7)	20655	1.01 (0.12, 1.89)	0.46 (0.15, 1.40)	6 (0.9)	20650	1.19 (0.24, 2.15)	0.40 (0.15, 1.08)
≥160	529 (20.6)	3 (0.6)	15495	0.78 (0.00, 1.67)	0.37 (0.10, 1.39)	5 (0.9)	15461	1.29 (0.16, 2.42)	0.44 (0.15, 1.27)
≥320	369 (14.4)	3 (0.8)	11451	1.07 (0.00, 2.27)	0.50 (0.13, 1.89)	4 (1.1)	11430	1.44 (0.03, 2.84)	0.48 (0.15, 1.51)
≥640	225 (8.8)	3 (1.3)	7344	1.66 (0.00, 3.54)	0.78 (0.21, 2.93)	2 (0.9)	7379	1.10 (0.00, 2.62)	0.37 (0.08, 1.68)
≥1280	115 (4.5)	2 (1.7)	3856	2.18 (0.00, 5.19)	0.99 (0.21, 4.65)	1 (0.9)	3874	1.06 (0.00, 3.13)	0.36 (0.05, 2.79)
≥2560	49 (1.9)	1 (2.0)	1605	2.53 (0.00, 7.49)	1.22 (0.15, 9.76)	0 (0.0)	311	0.00 (NA)	NA

Table S2b. Survival analysis results for infants in high child mortality settings during follow-up from 1 year of age to 2 years of age

IgA = anti-rotavirus immunoglobulin A; HR = hazard ratio; IQR = interquartile range, CI = confidence interval

6 Aim 3- Longer-term direct and indirect vaccine effects

[Manuscript 3. This chapter is a pre-copyedited, author-produced version of an article accepted for publication in Clinical Infectious Diseases following peer review. The version of record (Baker JM, Tate JE, Steiner CA, Haber MJ, Parashar UD, Lopman BA. Longer-term Direct and Indirect Effects of Infant Rotavirus Vaccination Across All Ages in the United States in 2000-2013: Analysis of a Large Hospital Discharge Data Set. <u>*Clin Infect Dis.*</u> 2019 Mar 5;68(6):976-983.) is available online at: <u>https://academic.oup.com/cid/article/68/6/976/5055445</u>, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciy580.]

Longer-term direct and indirect effects of infant rotavirus vaccination across all ages in the US; 2000 - 2013: analysis of a large hospital discharge dataset

Julia M Baker, Jacqueline E Tate, Claudia A Steiner, Michael J Haber, Umesh D Parashar, Benjamin A Lopman

Abstract

Background: Rotavirus disease dramatically declined among children under 5 years of age since the rotavirus vaccine was introduced in 2006; population-level impacts remain to be fully elucidated. *Methods:* Data from the Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project State Inpatient Database were used to conduct a time-series analysis of monthly hospital discharges across age groups for acute gastroenteritis and rotavirus from 2000-2013. Rate ratios were calculated comparing pre- and post-vaccine eras.

Results: Following vaccine introduction, a decrease in rotavirus hospitalizations occurred with a shift towards biennial patterns across all ages. The 0-4 year age group experienced the largest decrease in rotavirus hospitalizations (RR: 0.14, 95% CI: 0.09 - 0.23). The 5-19 and 20-59 year age groups experienced significant declines in rotavirus hospitalization rates overall; even post-vaccine calendar years were characterized by progressively lower rates while odd post-vaccine years were associated with reductions in rates that diminished over time. Those aged 60 years or older experienced the smallest change in rotavirus hospitalization rates overall, with significant reductions in even post-vaccine years compared to pre-vaccine years (RR: 0.51; 95% CI: 0.39 - 0.66).

Conclusions: Indirect impacts of infant rotavirus vaccination are apparent in the emergence of biennial patterns in rotavirus hospitalizations that extend to all age groups ineligible for vaccination. These observations are consistent with the notion that young children are of primary importance in disease transmission and that the initial post-vaccination period of dramatic population-wide impacts will be followed by more complex incidence patterns across the age range in the long-term.

Background

Prior to vaccine introduction in the United States (US), rotavirus was the leading cause of severe pediatric gastroenteritis, resulting in up to 70,000 hospitalizations¹³³ and an estimated \$319 million in healthcare costs annually¹⁸⁷. Following pivotal clinical trial results^{188,189}, two live, attenuated oral rotavirus vaccines, RotaTeq (Merck & Co.) and Rotarix (GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals) were included in the routine infant vaccination schedule in 2006 and 2008, respectively, per the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices' recommendations^{130,132}. By 2015, 73.2% of children aged 19-35 months had received a full course of rotavirus vaccine¹⁹⁰. This is modest coverage compared to more established routine infant immunizations such as DTaP where coverage was 95.0% for 3 or more doses in 2015¹⁹⁰.

The direct effects of rotavirus vaccination have been clearly demonstrated and evidence of potential indirect effects are emerging. Among children under 5 years of age, rotavirus disease has declined dramatically in the decade following the introduction of the vaccines in the US, with reductions in hospitalizations^{87,129,136}, ED visits^{136,137}, and physician office visits^{87,136}. Introduction of rotavirus vaccination has also altered epidemiological patterns, with a switch from annual to biennial patterns in disease incidence and a delay in the seasonal peak in low-incidence years¹⁹¹. Moreover, there is evidence of potential indirect benefits of the vaccine program, with reductions in hospitalizations observed among unvaccinated children, likely as a result of reduced transmission from their vaccinated counterparts^{87,129,143}. In addition, early data from the US and select other early-introducing countries, suggest that these indirect benefits may extend to older

children and adults^{139,140}. If true, these observations unmask a considerable severe disease burden outside the pediatric age range that may be preventable by infant immunization.

The longer-term impacts of infant rotavirus vaccination across all ages remains to be fully elucidated. Studies to date addressing these questions have been limited to relatively short-term post-vaccine time periods^{139,140} or restricted to younger age groups^{87,129,136,142,143}. Introduction of the rotavirus vaccine is changing epidemiologic patterns¹⁹¹ and may lead to subtle shifts in circulating serotypes^{192,193}. Accordingly, evaluation of longer-term trends and analysis of older age groups is needed to identify the full public health impacts of infant rotavirus vaccination. We aimed to evaluate the population-wide impact, across all ages, of infant rotavirus vaccine periods in the US. We examined the total effects among young children and the indirect effects to older children and adults using a large national discharge database.

Methods

Data sources

Hospitalization data from January 2000 through December 2013 were obtained from the Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP) State Inpatient Database (SID), sponsored by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, through an active collaboration. This database is a compilation of monthly discharge data from all community hospitals (all nonfederal, short-term, general and specialty hospitals) within participating states¹⁴⁹. Our analysis was restricted to 26

states for which data were available for the entire study period: Arizona, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Florida, Georgia, Hawaii, Iowa, Illinois, Kansas, Kentucky, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Missouri, North Carolina, New Jersey, New York, Oregon, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Washington, Wisconsin, and West Virginia. According to the for Health **Statistics** Bridged National Center Race population dataset (https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nvss/bridged_race.htm), these 26 states represent approximately threequarters (74.2%) of the total US population in 2013. This population dataset was used to calculate rates in this analysis.

Two outcomes were separately assessed: rates of all-cause acute gastroenteritis (AGE) and rates of rotavirus specific gastroenteritis (RVGE) hospital discharges. Discharge data, coded according to the International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-9-CM), were extracted from the SID database to identify AGE and RVGE codes noted as the primary diagnosis or listed in one of 15 other possible diagnosis fields. Applicable ICD-9-CM codes for AGE are detailed elsewhere¹⁵² and included bacterial, parasitic, and viral gastrointestinal illness of determined etiology and presumed infectious or non-infectious gastrointestinal illness of undetermined etiology. We defined a RVGE hospitalization as any discharge with ICD-9-CM diagnosis code 008.61. Rotavirus coded discharge data were expected to provide the most specific indicator of rotavirus rates. However, restricting the analysis to only these episodes may underestimate the true rotavirus burden due to limited testing for rotavirus in medical settings^{25,26}. Therefore, the broader classification of all-cause AGE was also analyzed to capture RVGE not identified as being rotavirus-related due to incomplete detection or miscoding.

Statistical analysis

The impact of vaccination was estimated by comparing AGE and RVGE age-specific hospitalization rates per 10,000 prior to and after vaccine introduction using regression models. Monthly counts of AGE and RVGE hospitalizations were modeled using negative binomial regression with a categorical variable representing post-vaccine year and adjustment for changing population size using an offset of the log of population¹⁹⁴. Analyses were performed using R software version 3.5.0.

Three comparisons were made for each outcome to estimate rate ratios (RRs) and corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CIs). Monthly pre-vaccine rates overall (2000-2006) were compared to: (1) monthly post-vaccine rates overall (2008-2013), (2) monthly post-vaccine rates for even (2008, 2010, 2012) and odd post-vaccine calendar years (2009, 2011, 2013) separately to assess biennial patterns, and (3) monthly post-vaccine rates for each individual post-vaccine calendar year to provide more detail on the potentially dynamic effects of vaccination over time. The year 2006 was included in the pre-vaccine period because the vaccine was not recommended until August of that year and vaccine coverage was initially low.¹⁹⁵ The year 2007 was considered a transition period and excluded from analyses. All analyses were performed separately for the age groups 0-4 years, 5-19 years, 20-59 years, and 60 years and older to assess the total and indirect effects of the vaccine across age groups. Age groups were selected by combining those with similar disease patterns and trends to increase power for the analyses. For AGE, we modeled data from the historic rotavirus season in the US (January-June) to improve the model's specificity for AGE cases that may be rotavirus related; rotavirus models included year-round data.

We aimed to adjust for potential exogenous secular trends (trends over time) with the inclusion of a sequential (continuous) time variable. The AGE model results were sensitive to the inclusion of time trends, so we further considered second and third order time variables. Based on the Akaike information criterion values, including higher order time variables did not substantially improve model fit. RVGE hospitalization model results were not sensitive to the addition of a sequential time variable, so it was excluded. Rotavirus models controlled for the period 2000-2003 using an indicator variable to account for the increase in RVGE hospitalization rates that occurred just prior to 2004 among all age groups. The cause of this increase in RVGE hospitalization rates is uncertain but may be a result of increased rotavirus testing in anticipation of vaccine introduction. Because we sought to identify the long-term impact of vaccine exposure on AGE and RVGE hospitalization rates, rather than short-term deviations from an "underlying pattern", we chose to account for secular trends (where appropriate) and not consider autocorrelation.

Ethical approval

This study was not subject to Institutional Review Board approval at Emory University or the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention because it involved de-identified, aggregate data.

Results

A total of 13,527,516 AGE hospitalizations from 2000-2013 were analyzed, including 224,099 (1.7%) specified as RVGE.

AGE patterns

Using unrestricted (full-year) data, the highest rates of AGE hospitalization were among those aged 60 years and older with an average monthly rate of 10.2 hospitalizations per 10,000 age-specific population (unadjusted rate range of 3.3-24.3) during the pre-vaccine period, increasing to 15.7 hospitalizations per 10,000 age-specific population (unadjusted rate range of 6.1-33.3) during the post-vaccine period. A secular increasing trend began during the pre-vaccine period for this age group as well as among those 20-59 years (Figure 1c-d). In contrast, we observed no clear evidence of a secular trend in the 0-4 or 5-19 year age groups (Figure 1a-b).

During the historic rotavirus season (Jan.–Jun.), we observed significant reductions in AGE hospitalizations for the 0-4 year age group in the post-vaccine compared with the pre-vaccine periods (Table 1a; RR: 0.54, 95% CI: 0.34–0.85), with slightly greater reductions in even calendar years than odd calendar years (even year RR: 0.50, 95% CI: 0.32–0.78; odd year RR: 0.58, 95% CI: 0.35–0.95) and generally decreasing RRs, punctuated by a subtle biennial pattern (Figure 2a). Similar patterns with smaller and non-significant reductions were observed among the 5-19 age group (Figure 2b). No significant reductions in rates of AGE hospitalizations were observed for the 20-59 or 60+ age groups (Figure 2c-d). Similar patterns with more diluted impacts were observed in the unrestricted (full-year) comparative analyses (Supplementary Table 1).

Figure 1a-h. Monthly all-cause acute gastroenteritis (AGE) and rotavirus gastroenteritis (RVGE) hospitalizations per 10,000 age-specific population; United States, 2000-2013.^{a,b, c}



Figure 1e-h. RVGE



^a Data from 26 states from the State Inpatient Data (SID) from the Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP) included: AZ, CA, CO, CT, FL, GA, HI, IA, IL, KS, KY, MD, MA, MI, MO, NC, NJ, NY, OR, SC, TN, TX, UT, WA, WI, WV.

^b Data are full-year (not restricted to January – June) for the purpose of aiding visualization of the patterns in hospitalization rates.

^c Red dotted line represents up-to-date vaccine coverage among children ages 19-35 months (2 or 3 doses depending on vaccine manufacturer); the vertical black dashed line represents rotavirus vaccine introduction.

Table 1. Monthly all-cause acute gastroenteritis (AGE) hospitalization rates and adjusted rate ratios restricted to the rotavirus season (January-June); United States 2000-2013.

Table 1a	ı. C	Comparing	g the	pre-vaccine	period to	the	post-vaccine	period	l overall	and	l in even	and	odd	calend	ar year	rs ^{a, b}

	Pre-Vaccine		Post		Post-Even Years		Post-Odd Years	
Age Group	Rate ^c	Range	Rate ^c	RR ^d	Rate ^c	RR ^d	Rate ^c	RR ^d
				(95% CI)		(95% CI)		(95% CI)
0-4	8.04	2.89 - 14.49	4.19	0.54*	3.92	0.50*	4.47	0.58*
				(0.34 – 0.85)		(0.32-0.78)		(0.35 - 0.95)
5-19	0.79	0.43 – 1.84	0.79	0.84	0.75	0.81	0.83	0.88
				(0.68 – 1.06)		(0.65 – 1.01)		(0.69 – 1.12)
20-59	1.72	0.78 - 3.43	2.62	0.93	2.55	0.94	2.69	0.93
				(0.74 – 1.18)		(0.75 – 1.18)		(0.72 – 1.20)
60+	10.24	3.34 - 24.33	15.74	0.82	15.33	0.83	16.16	0.81
				(0.58 – 1.17)		(0.59 – 1.18)		(0.55 – 1.19)

^a Data from 26 states from the State Inpatient Data (SID) from the Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP) included: AZ, CA, CO, CT, FL, GA, HI, IA, IL, KS, KY, MD, MA, MI, MO, NC, NJ, NY, OR, SC, TN, TX, UT, WA, WI, WV. ^b Adjusted rate ratios from negative binomial regression comparing the prevaccine period (2000-2006) to post-vaccine period (2008-2013) overall and by even and odd calendar years, controlling for time and restricted to the rotavirus season. ^c Unadjusted rate per 10,000 age-specific population. ^d Rate ratio, compared to pre-vaccine era. * Significant at $\alpha = 0.05$ level.

	2008		2009		2010		2011		2012		2013	
Age	Rate ^c	RR ^d										
Group		(95% CI)										
0-4	5.08	0.66	5.67	0.74	3.70	0.49*	4.08	0.54*	2.97	0.40*	3.66	0.49*
		(0.43 - 1.01)		(0.46 - 1.18)		(0.29 - 0.81)		(0.3 – 0.94)		(0.22 - 0.72)		(0.26 – 0.94)
5-19	0.71	0.81*	0.84	0.93	0.80	0.86	0.83	0.88	0.74	0.76	0.83	0.84
		(0.65 - 0.99)		(0.74 – 1.17)		(0.67 – 1.11)		(0.67 – 1.16)		(0.57 - 1.03)		(0.61 – 1.16)
20-59	2.26	0.95	2.67	1.05	2.66	0.98	2.68	0.93	2.73	0.88	2.71	0.82
		(0.77 – 1.19)		(0.83 - 1.34)		(0.76 – 1.28)		(0.69 - 1.23)		(0.65 - 1.20)		(0.58 – 1.15)
60+	14.55	0.94	16.87	1.00	15.82	0.86	16.18	0.81	15.60	0.72	15.43	0.65
		(0.68 - 1.32)		(0.70 – 1.44)		(0.58 - 1.28)		(0.52 – 1.25)		(0.45 – 1.14)		(0.39 - 1.08)

Table 1b. Comparing the pre-vaccine period to the post-vaccine period by year ^{a, b}

^a Data from 26 states from the State Inpatient Data (SID) from the Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP) included: AZ, CA, CO, CT, FL, GA, HI, IA, IL, KS, KY, MD, MA, MI, MO, NC, NJ, NY, OR, SC, TN, TX, UT, WA, WI, WV. ^b Adjusted rate ratios from negative binomial regression comparing the prevaccine period (2000-2006) to post-vaccine period (2008-2013) by year, controlling for time and restricted to the rotavirus season. ^c Unadjusted rate per 10,000 age-specific population. ^d Rate ratio, compared to pre-vaccine era. * Significant at $\alpha = 0.05$ level. Figure 2a-h. Monthly all-cause acute gastroenteritis (AGE) and rotavirus gastroenteritis (RVGE) hospitalization rate ratios comparing the pre-vaccine period (2000-2006) to post-vaccine period (2008-2013) by year; United States 2000 to 2013.^a



Figure 2e-h. RVGE^c





^a Data from 26 states from the State Inpatient Data (SID) from the Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project

(HCUP) included: AZ, CA, CO, CT, FL, GA, HI, IA, IL, KS, KY, MD, MA, MI, MO, NC, NJ, NY, OR, SC, TN, TX, UT, WA, WI, WV.

^b Negative binomial regression using a sequential (continuous) time variable to control for potential exogenous secular trends, restricted to the rotavirus season (January-June).

^c Negative binomial regression controlling for the pre-2004 period using an indicator variable to account for the increase in RVGE hospitalization rates that occurred just prior to 2004, including all months. *RVGE patterns*

Following vaccine introduction, a decrease in RVGE hospitalization rates occurred across all age groups (Table 2a), with parallel trends and a shift towards biennial patterns (Figure 1e-h) across all ages. The 0-4 age group experienced the largest overall decrease in RVGE hospitalization rates comparing the pre- and post-vaccine periods.

After introduction of the infant rotavirus vaccine, RVGE hospitalization rates among those aged 0-4 years declined by more than 85% (Table 2a, RR: 0.14, 95% CI: 0.09–0.23). A biennial pattern in RVGE hospitalization rates was apparent for this age group, with larger declines in the rate of RVGE hospitalization in even calendar years (RR: 0.10, 95% CI: 0.06–0.18) compared to odd calendar years (RR: 0.20, 95% CI: 0.12–0.35). This pattern was further characterized by consistently decreasing rates over time for both the even and odd post-vaccination calendar years (Figure 2e).

The 5-19 and 20-59 age groups both experienced a significant decline in RVGE hospitalization rates overall, primarily due to the decline in RVGE hospitalizations that occurred in even calendar

years after introduction of the vaccines (Table 2a). No significant changes in RVGE hospitalization rates were observed for either age group when comparing pre-vaccination rates with odd calendar years post-vaccination. Of note, analysis of RRs by individual year post-vaccine revealed that even years were characterized by progressively lower rates while odd years were typically associated with reductions in rates that diminished over time or modest, non-significant increases (Figure 2f-g).

Among those 60 and older, patterns similar to those observed for the 5-19 and 20-59 age groups were seen, including overall declines in hospitalization rates in the post-vaccine period compared to pre-vaccine years (Table 2a RR: 0.76; 95% CI: 0.61–0.96) and significant declines in even post-vaccine years (RR: 0.51; 95% CI: 0.39–0.66). In the odd post-vaccine years, we observed no change in RVGE rates in 2009 (Table 2b, RR: 0.99; 95% CI: 0.70–1.44) and non-significant increases in rates in 2011 and 2013 (RR: 1.28; 95% CI: 0.90–1.85 and RR: 1.20; 95% CI: 0.84–1.73, respectively) compared to the pre-vaccine period (Figure 2h).

Table 2. Monthly rotavirus specific gastroenteritis (RVGE) hospitalization rates and adjusted rate ratios; United States 2000 to 2013.

	Pre-Va	accine	Post		Post-E	ven Years	Post-O	dd Years
Age Group	Rate ^c	Range	Ratec	RR ^d	Ratec	RR ^d	Ratec	RR ^d
				(95% CI)		(95% CI)		(95% CI)
0-4	1.205	(0.045 - 5.023)	0.237	0.14*	0.181	0.10*	0.294	0.20*
				(0.09 - 0.23)		(0.06 - 0.18)		(0.12 – 0.35)
5-19	0.023	(0.000 - 0.257)	0.013	0.43*	0.007	0.26*	0.019	0.72
				(0.31 – 0.59)		(0.18 – 0.37)		(0.50 - 1.03)
20-59	0.001	(0.000 - 0.009)	0.001	0.65*	0.001	0.49*	0.001	0.87
				(0.54 – 0.79)		(0.39 – 0.62)		(0.70 - 1.08)
60+	0.005	(0.000 - 0.042)	0.006	0.76*	0.004	0.51*	0.008	1.15
				(0.61 - 0.96)		(0.39 – 0.66)		(0.89 - 1.48)

Table 2a. Comparing the pre-vaccine period to the post-vaccine period overall and in even and odd calendar years ^{a, b}

^a Data from 26 states from the State Inpatient Data (SID) from the Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP) included: AZ, CA, CO, CT, FL, GA, HI, IA, IL, KS, KY, MD, MA, MI, MO, NC, NJ, NY, OR, SC, TN, TX, UT, WA, WI, WV. ^b Adjusted rate ratios from negative binomial regression comparing the pre-vaccine period (2000-2006) to post-vaccine period (2008-2013) overall and in even and odd calendar years, controlling for the pre-2004 period. ^c Unadjusted rate per 10,000 age-specific population. ^d Rate ratio, compared to pre-vaccine era. * Significant at $\alpha = 0.05$ level.

		2008		2009		2010		2011		2012		2013
Age	Rate ^c	RR ^d										
Group		(95% CI)										
0-4	0.359	0.26*	0.438	0.32*	0.118	0.09*	0.245	0.18*	0.066	0.05*	0.198	0.14*
		(0.12-0.61)		(0.15-0.75)		(0.04 – 0.20)		(0.08-0.42)		(0.02-0.11)		(0.07-0.34)
5-19	0.007	0.28*	0.014	0.52*	0.007	0.27*	0.021	0.79	0.006	0.22*	0.023	0.89
		(0.17-0.48)		(0.32-0.89)		(0.16-0.46)		(0.48-1.36)		(0.13-0.38)		(0.54 – 1.52)
20-59	0.001	0.52*	0.001	0.65*	0.001	0.50*	0.001	0.86	0.001	0.46*	0.002	1.18
		(0.38-0.72)		(0.48-0.89)		(0.36-0.69)		(0.63 – 1.16)		(0.33-0.64)		(0.88-1.59)
60+	0.005	0.73	0.007	0.99	0.003	0.45*	0.009	1.28	0.003	0.40*	0.008	1.20
		(0.50-1.06)		(0.70-1.44)		(0.30-0.66)		(0.90-1.85)		(0.27 – 0.59)		(0.84 – 1.73)

Table 2b. Comparing the pre-vaccine period to the post-vaccine period by year ^{a, b}

^a Data from 26 states from the State Inpatient Data (SID) from the Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP) included: AZ, CA, CO, CT, FL, GA, HI, IA, IL, KS, KY, MD, MA, MI, MO, NC, NJ, NY, OR, SC, TN, TX, UT, WA, WI, WV. ^b Adjusted rate ratios from negative binomial regression comparing the prevaccine period (2000-2006) to post-vaccine period (2008-2013) by year, controlling for the pre-2004 period. ^c Unadjusted rate per 10,000 age-specific population. ^d Rate ratio, compared to pre-vaccine era. * Significant at $\alpha = 0.05$ level.

Discussion

Our analysis of six years of post-vaccination data offers several insights into the complex longerterm population-level effects of infant rotavirus vaccination. Rotavirus vaccination had a substantial impact on RVGE hospitalizations across age groups during the six year period, highlighting the role of infants as drivers of infection transmission. These indirect effects are evidenced by parallel trends in the incidence of RVGE hospitalizations whereby biennial temporal patterns emerged among all age groups. Overall reductions in the incidence of RVGE hospitalizations were observed for children, adolescents, and adults during the post-vaccine period with diminished indirect impacts as age group increased. Remarkably, by 2013, there was a suggestion in the data that RVGE hospitalization rates among the 20-59 and 60 years and older age groups may have slightly exceeded pre-vaccine levels. Infant vaccination programs increase the average age of infection; further years' data will be need to determine whether there is an absolute increase in disease rates in older age groups.

The US was one of the first countries to introduce a rotavirus vaccine nationally^{130,131} and we were, therefore, uniquely positioned to assess the longer-term temporal trends in RVGE hospitalization rates. A central strength of this study is the use of national AGE and RVGE hospital discharge data spanning six years after the introduction of the rotavirus vaccine and including data on older children, adolescents and adults. This is the longest age stratified time-series analysis of the rotavirus vaccine era trends to date. The 26 states included in the analysis represent 74.2% of the national population and include all cases occurring in community hospitals (all nonfederal, short-term, general and specialty hospitals) in these states. The time-series methodology enabled us to

assess the dynamic effects of the vaccine while accounting for background secular trends. These results extend findings from previous studies that suggested possible indirect impacts of infant vaccination among older children and adults using data from the first few years after vaccine introduction^{139,140,196–198}. This study also provides a more detailed look at temporal patterns by analyzing both pre- and post-vaccination rates overall but also for individual years, enabling the identification of biennial patterns previously noted^{140,191}.

Potentially confounding our analysis were secular changes in RVGE and AGE rates, particularly among older adults, that may have been unrelated to vaccine introduction. We aimed to control for these trends by including time variables in our models, a technique used in some^{139,140} but not all^{129,138} previous studies. Depending on the direction of the secular trend, not accounting for time confounding may lead to an over- or under-estimation of vaccine impact. Without genotype data, we are unable to determine if the new patterns of RVGE hospitalizations during the vaccination era are associated with previously circulating rotavirus strains or the emergence of less commonly observed strains—a question raised by recent evaluations^{192,193,199}. The role of vaccine induced pressures on circulating strains should be considered cautiously as vaccination has been shown to induce cross-protective immunity⁴³ and there is evidence of strain diversity by geography and over time unrelated to vaccination²⁰⁰.

Important biases may arise from rotavirus testing in the clinical setting. It is well recognized that not all AGE hospitalization cases are tested for rotavirus, even among young children where the burden is most appreciated^{25,26}. The ICD-9 coding for rotavirus has demonstrated high specificity (97%) but low sensitivity (estimated between 25-47%) for children under 5 years of age during

the pre-vaccine era¹⁵¹ and there is limited information about the sensitivity and specificity of rotavirus coding among older age groups^{14,201} with trends in testing practices and coding validity largely unknown. We are also unable to assess how seasonality of rotavirus (i.e. changes in rotavirus prevalence) may impact the positive and negative predictive value of rotavirus tests. However, only confounders that vary over time, such as a change in testing practices, would bias our results; we have no evidence to suggest such a change did or did not occur. The percentage of AGE cases that tested positive for rotavirus has declined sharply among children since introduction of the rotavirus vaccine^{143,191} so the decline in rotavirus cases after vaccine introduction cannot be attributed to reduced testing alone. Nonetheless, any potential changes in testing practices are unlikely to account for the biennial pattern observed. Differences in the patterns between AGE and RVGE hospitalization rates are likely due to the non-specific nature of the AGE outcome which captures gastroenteritis cases from diverse etiologies.

This study reveals the important role that infants play as drivers of rotavirus infection among all age groups, the indirect effects of infant vaccinations among older children, adolescents, and adults, and the emergent biennial patterns of RVGE hospitalization across age ranges. The biennial pattern in RVGE hospitalization rates could be a result of changing rates of susceptibles within the population. Vaccine coverage combined with acquired immunity could be high enough to transiently raise herd immunity such that transmission is low and allow for a short-term accumulation of susceptibles, particularly among young children, spurring biennial epidemics that spread across age groups^{143,202}. The indirect effects of infant vaccination are apparent in the reduced incidence of RVGE among older age groups observed immediately after introduction of the vaccine. These findings are likely a result of higher transmissibility from children and social

contact patterns that result in children being the primary drivers of infection²⁰³. A related pattern observed in the data is the reduced relative effect of infant RVGE vaccination on unvaccinated individuals as age group among the unvaccinated increases and over time. Seasonal patterns among older age groups are likely to be closely linked to incidence among young children, however, population immunity and transmission within the age group may play an increasing role²⁰⁴.

Further understanding of the long-term impacts of rotavirus vaccination across the age range could be gained with additional data from the post-vaccine period and data from comparable earlyintroducing countries. Data from 2014 and beyond would enable us to determine if the relationships identified in this study continue in future years. Indeed, infant vaccination can create immunity gaps in older ages, as has been observed for varicella²⁰⁵ and rubella²⁰⁶. While our analysis shows the substantial influence of infant immunization across the age range, the source of infection among adults and their role in rotavirus transmission is not clear and should be the subject of future studies. Since nearly all adults in our study would have acquired rotavirus antibodies as children in the pre-vaccination era¹³⁰, our findings support the notion that immunity is not life-long²⁰¹. Data on vaccine effectiveness by year could provide further insight into these trends.

Funding: This work received no dedicated funding.

Acknowledgements: The authors are grateful to Dr. Juan Leon of the Emory University Rollins School of Public Health for his review of this manuscript. In addition, we sincerely thank and acknowledge the HCUP state partners for their active support of this evaluation (https://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/sidoverview.jsp)

Potential conflicts of interests: BAL has received personal fees from Takeda Pharmaceuticals for service on their Norovirus Advisory Board outside the submitted work. JMB, JET, CAS, MJH and UDP have no conflicts of interest.

Supplementary File

Supplementary Table 1. Monthly all-cause acute gastroenteritis (AGE) hospitalization rates and adjusted rate ratios using unrestricted (January-December) data; United States 2000 to 2013.

	Pre-Va	ccine	Post-Vaccine		Post-Even Years		Post-Odd Years		
Age Group	Ratec	Range	Rate ^c	RR ^d	Rate ^c	RR ^d	Rate ^c	RR ^d	
				(95% CI)		(95% CI)		(95% CI)	
0-4	5.91	2.63 - 14.49	3.25	0.79	3.25	0.78	3.25	0.81	
				0.55 – 1.15)		(0.54 – 1.12)		(0.54 – 1.21)	
5-19	0.76	0.43 - 1.84	0.70	0.92	0.69	0.90	0.70	0.93	
				(0.80 - 1.05)		(0.79 – 1.03)		(0.80 - 1.09)	
20-59	1.74	0.75 - 4.33	2.45	0.95	2.43	0.96	2.46	0.94	
				(0.81 - 1.12)		(0.81 - 1.12)		(0.79 – 1.13)	
60+	10.13	3.26 - 32.52	14.07	0.85	14.13	0.87	14.02	0.83	
				(0.67 – 1.09)		(0.69 – 1.11)		(0.64 - 1.09)	

Supplementary Table 1a. Comparing the pre-vaccine period to the post-vaccine period overall and by even and odd calendar years ^{a, b}

^a Data from 26 states from the State Inpatient Data (SID) from the Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP) included: AZ, CA, CO, CT, FL, GA, HI, IA, IL, KS, KY, MD, MA, MI, MO, NC, NJ, NY, OR, SC, TN, TX, UT, WA, WI, WV. ^b Adjusted rate ratios from negative binomial regression comparing the pre-
vaccine period (2000-2006) to post-vaccine period (2008-2013) overall and in even and odd calendar years, controlling for time. ^c Unadjusted rate per 10,000 age-specific population ^d Rate ratio, compared to pre-vaccine era. * Significant at $\alpha = 0.05$ level

		2008		2009		2010		2011		2012		2013
Age	Rate ^c	RR ^d										
Group		(95% CI)										
0-4	4.06	0.91	3.94	0.92	3.06	0.74	3.08	0.78	2.64	0.69	2.73	0.74
		(0.65 – 1.30)		(0.63 – 1.34)		(0.49 – 1.13)		(0.49-1.22)		(0.42-1.13)		(0.44 – 1.26)
5-19	0.71	0.89	0.72	0.98	0.71	0.95	0.71	0.94	0.66	0.87	0.68	0.89
		(0.78 – 1.01)		(0.85 – 1.13)		(0.81 – 1.10)		(0.80 – 1.12)		(0.72 – 1.04)		(0.73 – 1.08)
20-59	2.33	0.97	2.42	1.05	2.46	1.00	2.47	0.95	2.51	0.90	2.47	0.84
		(0.83 – 1.13)		(0.89 – 1.25)		(0.83 – 1.21)		(0.78-1.16)		(0.73 – 1.12)		(0.66 – 1.06)
60+	14.31	0.96	14.39	1.00	14.17	0.91	14.31	0.85	13.89	0.76	13.36	0.68*
		(0.77 – 1.21)		(0.78-1.29)		(0.69-1.20)		(0.63 – 1.15)		(0.55-1.05)		(0.48 - 0.96)

Supplementary Table 1b. Comparing the pre-vaccine period to the post-vaccine period by year ^{a, b}

^a Data from 26 states from the State Inpatient Data (SID) from the Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP) included: AZ, CA, CO, CT, FL, GA, HI, IA, IL, KS, KY, MD, MA, MI, MO, NC, NJ, NY, OR, SC, TN, TX, UT, WA, WI, WV. ^b Adjusted rate ratios from negative binomial regression comparing the pre-vaccine period (2000-2006) to post-vaccine period (2008-2013) by year, controlling for time. ^c Unadjusted rate per 10,000 age-specific population. ^d Rate ratio, compared to pre-vaccine era. * Significant at $\alpha = 0.05$ level.

7 Aim 3- Supplemental Study

[Manuscript 4. This chapter appears as accepted for publication in *BMC Infectious Diseases* by Oxford University Press (Baker JM, Dhal RM, Cubilo J, Parashar UD, Lopman BA. Effects of the rotavirus vaccine program across age groups in the United States: analysis of national claims data, 2001–2016. *BMC Infect Dis.* 2019;19:186. Available online at: https://bmcinfectdis.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12879-019-3816-7, DOI: 10.1186/s12879-019-3816-7.]

Effects of the rotavirus vaccine program across age groups in the United States: analysis of national claims data, 2001-2016

Julia M Baker, Rebecca M. Dahl, Justin Cubilo, Umesh D Parashar, Benjamin A Lopman

Abstract

Background: The direct effectiveness of infant rotavirus vaccination implemented in 2006 in the United States has been evaluated extensively, however, understanding of population-level vaccine effectiveness (VE) is still incomplete.

Methods: We analyzed time series data on rotavirus gastroenteritis (RVGE) and all-cause acute gastroenteritis (AGE) hospitalization rates in the United States from the MarketScan® Research

134

Databases for July 2001–June 2016. Individuals were grouped into ages 0-4, 5-9, 10-14, 15-24, 25-44, and 45-64 years. Negative binomial regression models were fitted to monthly RVGE and AGE data to estimate the direct, indirect, overall, and total VE.

Results: A total of 9,211 RVGE and 726,528 AGE hospitalizations were analyzed. Children 0-4 years of age had the largest declines in RVGE hospitalizations with direct VE of 87% (95% CI: 83%, 90%). Substantial indirect effects were observed across age groups and generally declined in each older group. Overall VE against RVGE hospitalizations for all ages combined was 69% (95% CI: 62%, 76%). Total VE was highest among young children; a vaccinated child in the post-vaccine era has a 95% reduced risk of RVGE hospitalization compared to a child in the pre-vaccine era. We observed higher direct VE in odd post-vaccine years and an opposite pattern for indirect VE.

Conclusions: Vaccine benefits extended to unvaccinated individuals in all age groups, suggesting infants are important drivers of disease transmission across the population. Imperfect disease classification and changing disease incidence may lead to bias in observed direct VE.

Trial registration: Not applicable.

Background

The United States (US) was one of the first countries to introduce infant rotavirus vaccination nationally¹³¹ and dramatic changes in the rotavirus disease burden and epidemiologic patterns of diarrheal disease have followed.⁵³ Prior to vaccine introduction in 2006,¹³⁰ rotavirus was estimated to cause 55,000-70,000 hospitalizations and over 600,000 emergency room and outpatient/office visits among children under 5 years of age in the US annually.^{130,133} Consistent annual peaks in disease incidence occurred in winter and early spring.¹³³ Early evaluations of rotavirus seasonality in the post-vaccine era identified substantial alterations of disease patterns, including a reduced magnitude, delayed onset, and shorter duration of the rotavirus season.⁵³ Further, there has been a distinct shift from annual to biennial peaks in disease incidence among children under 5 years of age, ^{53,138,207} a pattern not observed in some other high-income countries that have introduced the vaccine.²⁰⁸⁻²¹⁰

The direct vaccine effectiveness (VE) of rotavirus vaccine has been evaluated extensively while understanding of indirect vaccine effects is still incomplete. Substantial vaccine impacts are evidenced by 50-90% reductions in rotavirus hospitalizations among young, vaccine-eligible children.²¹¹ A recent meta-analysis estimated a direct VE of 84% against rotavirus-associated hospitalizations or emergency department visits in the US.¹³⁴ Notably, this estimate is limited by imperfect rotavirus diagnostics¹⁵¹ largely due to incomplete testing for rotavirus in the clinical setting.²⁵ In addition to the remarkable direct effects, reductions in rotavirus disease have exceeded vaccine coverage, suggesting indirect benefits to unvaccinated children.¹³⁸ These indirect benefits may extend to children too young to be vaccinated, age-ineligible older children, adolescents, and

adults among whom reductions in rotavirus gastroenteritis (RVGE) and all-cause gastroenteritis (AGE) have been observed.¹³⁹

The long-term impact of a vaccine program will be governed by the direct effects of vaccinating children together with the transmission-modulating consequences of vaccination as described by Halloran et al.¹²⁶ Theoretically, direct effects, which represent the biological protection obtained from vaccination at the individual level,¹²² are a vaccine characteristic that remains constant over time (except with waning immunity) and are independent of vaccine coverage. Conversely, population-level effects can vary with changes in vaccine coverage, population immunity, and social mixing patterns.^{124–126} These population-level effects include (a) indirect effects or "herd protection" provided to unvaccinated individuals, (b) total effects which describe the combination of biologic and indirect protection received by vaccinated individuals, and (c) the overall effects which quantify the public health benefit of a vaccination program by weighting the total effects among the vaccinated and indirect effects among the unvaccinated populations.^{126,212}

Given the relative novelty of the rotavirus vaccine in the US, there have been few evaluations of how vaccine effects may change during the post-vaccine era and their relationship with disease patterns. In order to quantify the full, population-wide impacts of infant rotavirus vaccination, longer-term evaluations of vaccine effects across age groups are needed. Understanding these phenomena could lead to strategies that maximize the program's benefits and anticipate future healthcare resource needs (e.g. biennial versus annual epidemics). This study aimed to quantify the direct, indirect, overall, and total effectiveness of infant rotavirus vaccination on hospitalization for RVGE and AGE across age groups and their annual variation during the post-vaccine era in the US.

Methods

Data source and study period

We analyzed data from the IBM[®] MarketScan[®] Commercial Database, a collection of national medical claims and encounters data from commercially insured individuals under 65 years of age in the US. The database includes de-identified, individual-level enrollment, inpatient, and outpatient medical data on employees, their spouses and dependents with employer-sponsored health care insurance in all US states. This encompasses a variety of health plans such as PPOs, POS plans and HMOs but does not include claims covered by Medicaid. The database contains information on several million individuals each year.¹⁵⁴

We analyzed time series data on monthly RVGE and AGE hospitalization rates for July 2001– June 2016. Study years were defined from July through June of the following calendar year and identified by the year in which the rotavirus season occurred (e.g. July 2007–June 2008 was identified as "2008").

Identification of RVGE and AGE hospitalizations

Monthly counts of RVGE hospitalizations included individuals with a rotavirus International Classification of Diseases, Ninth and Tenth Revision (ICD-9 and ICD-10) code (008.61 and A08.0, respectively). Given the incomplete detection of rotavirus using ICD coding,¹⁵¹ data on all-cause AGE was also compiled in order to represent possible RVGE not identified as rotavirus-related. Applicable ICD-9/10 codes for AGE include bacterial, parasitic, and viral gastrointestinal illness of determined etiology and presumed infectious or non-infectious gastrointestinal illness of undetermined etiology.¹⁵² For both RVGE and AGE, the ICD-9/10 codes were identified in one of 15 diagnosis fields from inpatient admission claims.

All RVGE and AGE inpatient claims among children, adolescents, and adults not age-eligible to receive the rotavirus vaccine during the study period were included in the analysis and were considered unvaccinated. For children less than 10 years of age who were age-eligible for the vaccine, only those who were continuously enrolled from birth through 6 months of age were included in the analysis. This continuous enrollment requirement aimed to reduce misclassification of vaccination status by helping ensure that rotavirus vaccination occurring within the CDC recommended schedule (at 2, 4 and 6 months of age)²¹³ was captured in the insurance claim records. Children age-eligible for vaccination but without continuous follow-up were excluded from the analysis because of their unknown vaccination status.

Individuals were grouped into ages 0-4, 5-9, 10-14, 15-24, 25-44, and 45-64 years (data on adults aged 65 years and older are not available in the MarketScan[®] Commercial Database and were therefore excluded). Children under 5 were additionally categorized into one-year age groups and children under 10 were stratified by vaccination status. The number of enrollment member days

were summed by month, year, age group, and vaccination status to provide the enrolled population denominator for each month of the study period and enable calculation of rates.

Vaccination status

For this analysis, child vaccination status was tracked beginning in July 2006 when the first cohort of newborns became age-eligible for vaccination the following month, coinciding with the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices' August announcement¹³⁰ recommending the vaccine. Children who received at least one dose of either available rotavirus vaccine, RotaTeq (RV5) or Rotarix (RV1) were considered vaccinated. Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) was used to define receipt of RV5 or RV1 based on CPT codes, 90680 and 90681, respectively. In order to further reduce misclassification of vaccination status, all individuals (children and adults) residing in states with universal vaccine purchasing programs, which provide immunizations to children free of charge, were excluded from the analysis throughout the study period as vaccination in these states may not be recorded in insurance claim records (Alaska, Connecticut, Idaho, Massachusetts, Maine, North Dakota, New Hampshire, New Mexico, Oregon, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Vermont, Washington, Wisconsin, and Wyoming).

Statistical analysis

Negative binomial regression models were fitted to monthly RVGE and AGE count data to estimate rate ratios (RR) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) from which vaccine effects were calculated. Negative binomial models were chosen after overdispersion was identified in

preliminary models using Poisson regression. Using the framework proposed by Halloran,¹²⁶ we estimated the (a) direct effectiveness of the vaccine by comparing the rates in vaccinated and unvaccinated groups in the post-vaccine era, (b) indirect effectiveness by comparing rates among unvaccinated groups in the post-vaccine era to the pre-vaccine era, (c) overall effectiveness by comparing average rates in the post- and pre-vaccine eras, and (d) total effectiveness by comparing rates in the vaccinated groups in the post-vaccine era to the corresponding groups (all unvaccinated) in the pre-vaccine era. The count of RVGE and AGE cases was modeled using the glm.nb package in R with adjustment for changes in person-years of follow-up using an offset of the log of person-years. Each model included one dichotomous predictor to differentiate the comparison groups: vaccination status (direct), pre- vs. post-vaccine era (indirect and overall), and vaccinated and post-vaccine era vs. pre-vaccine era (total). VE was calculated as 1-RR.

Models were fitted separately for each age group. Direct and total VE was estimated for all age groups eligible for rotavirus vaccination by the end of the study period, with children under 1 year of age vaccine eligible during the entire post-vaccine period (July 2007–June 2016) and children 9 years of age only eligible during the last year of study data (July 2015–June 2016). Indirect and overall VE were estimated for all age groups, though these values were equal for groups ineligible for vaccination throughout the study period because vaccination coverage equaled zero. For the 0-4 age group, direct, indirect, total, and overall effects were additionally calculated for each individual post-vaccine year beginning in 2008 to estimate annual changes in VE. For all age groups, indirect VE was estimated for individual post-vaccine years.

RVGE models were fitted using full-year data. To improve model specificity, AGE models were restricted to the historic rotavirus season of January–June. The year immediately following vaccine introduction, July 2006–June 2007, was excluded as a transition period for all models. The inclusion of a continuous time variable was considered for all models in an effort to adjust for potential secular trends unrelated to vaccination that may have impacted rates. None of the RVGE model results were sensitive to the addition of the time variable based on Akaike information criterion (AIC) and the variable was therefore excluded. Analyses were performed using R software.

Investigation into annual variation in direct VE

Preliminary estimates of direct vaccine effects among the 0–4 age group appeared to vary annually. Given that direct VE should not change over time (in the absence of waning), we performed calculations to evaluate whether this observed variation could be explained by the combination of imperfect coding of rotavirus and annual variation in disease incidence leading to different magnitudes of misclassification of cases/non-cases in post-vaccine years. In other words, even with constant sensitivity and specificity of ICD-9/10 codes, the number of rotavirus positive/negative cases that are misclassified (and which are ultimately used in calculations of VE) will vary based on the incidence of disease. In years with higher disease incidence, there may be a larger number of individuals misclassified and vice versa. We began with a hypothetical population and applied input parameters of true VE, vaccine coverage, and rotavirus incidence in the unvaccinated population from 2010–2016; this enabled estimation of the number of 'true' RVGE cases among the vaccinated and unvaccinated children. We then applied realistic values for

rotavirus ICD-9 code sensitivity (0.5) and specificity (0.99)¹⁵¹ to this 'true' data to estimate 'projected' RVGE cases. From these values, we calculated a 'projected' VE and compared this to our 'observed' VE estimated via regression analysis and 'true' VE (an input parameter).

Role of the funding source

This study received no dedicated funding. The corresponding author had full access to all data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

Results

From July 2001–June 2016, there were a total of 9,211 RVGE hospitalizations and 726,528 AGE hospitalizations across all age groups (Supplementary Table 1). Over 91% of RVGE hospitalizations (91.4%) and over half of AGE hospitalizations (54.0%) occurred during the rotavirus season of January–June.

RVGE time series

Young children, 0-9 years of age

Among children 0-9 years of age, the pre-vaccine period displayed a consistent pattern of rotavirus illness with single annual peaks in hospitalization rates during the winter/spring months (Figures 1 and 2). Rates declined dramatically for child age groups after introduction of the vaccine and

both the 0-4 and 5-9 groups settled into a biennial pattern with the highest rates observed in odd post-vaccine years. When the 0-4 group was further examined by single year and vaccinated/unvaccinated cohorts, the biennial pattern became more apparent among the unvaccinated and younger children. Among the vaccinated children, the biennial pattern was clearest among those 2 years of age and younger. Notably, rates among older, unvaccinated children returned to levels similar to those seen prior to vaccine introduction after initial declines in the post-vaccine period. In contrast, the rates of RVGE remained dramatically lower in the post-vaccine period among vaccinated children.

Older children, adolescents and adults

RVGE rates among older children, adolescents, and adults during the pre-vaccine era did not display the same distinctive pattern observed among young children (Figure 2). Rather, the pre-vaccine period for these groups was characterized by frequent, irregular spikes in rates. After vaccine introduction, the sporadic pattern continued, however, at a lower rate and now punctuated with biennial peaks corresponding to those seen among young children.



Figure 1. Monthly inpatient RVGE rates per 10,000 person-years, United States, July 2001-June 2016, children 0-4 years.^a

^a Time series includes all years (including 2007 transition year) and all months (not restricted to the historic rotavirus season), Vertical dashed line represents July 2006 (time of vaccine introduction)



Figure 2. Monthly inpatient RVGE rates per 10,000 person-years by age group, United States,

^a Time series includes all years (including 2007 transition year) and all months (not restricted to the historic rotavirus season); Vertical dashed line represents July 2006 (time of vaccine introduction) RVGE VE for entire post-vaccine period The largest declines in RVGE hospitalizations were observed among the youngest children (Table 1). Direct VE was 87% (95% CI: 83%, 90%) among children 0-4 years of age.

Substantial indirect effects were observed across age groups and these effects generally declined in each older group. Indirect VE against RVGE hospitalization among unvaccinated children under 1 year of age was 79% (95% CI: 66%, 87%) compared to adults 45-64 years of age among whom indirect VE was 35% (95% CI: 9%, 53%). One exception to this general trend was the greater indirect VE in adults 25-44 years of age (indirect VE: 56%; 95% CI: 36%, 70%).

Overall VE against RVGE hospitalizations for the entire study population (all ages) combined was 69 % (95% CI: 62%, 76%). Significant reductions in hospitalization rates were observed across all ages and the overall vaccine effectiveness generally declined in each older group (Table 1).

Total vaccine effects mirrored the pattern seen in direct and indirect effects, with the largest total VE observed in the youngest children (Table 1, total VE for children 0-4 years of age: 95%, 95% CI: 93%, 96%).

Age	Direct VE, %	Indirect VE, %	Overall VE, %	Total VE, %
Group	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
<1	80* (70, 87)	79* (66, 87)	88* (82, 92)	96* (93, 97)
1	92* (87, 95)	59* (33, 76)	79* (65, 88)	97* (95, 98)
2	87* (76, 93)	43* (4, 67)	68* (44, 83)	93* (86, 96)
3	96* (89, 99)	42 (-2, 68)	71* (47, 84)	97* (93, 99)
4	81* (53, 93)	36 (-25, 68)	59* (22, 79)	88* (70, 96)
0-4	87* (83, 90)	60* (48, 69)	78* (71, 83)	95* (93, 96)
5-9	47 (-12, 79)	48* (30, 61)	50* (34, 63)	72* (42, 89)
10-14		46* (14, 67)		
15-24		42* (10, 62)	Equivalent to indirect	
25-44		56* (36, 70)	VE ^a	
45-64		35* (9, 53)		
All ages			69* (62, 76)	

Table 1. Vaccine effectiveness against RVGE hospitalization during the post-vaccine period by age group

*Represents significance at the alpha = 0.05 level

^a Indirect and overall VE are equivalent for children, adolescents, and adults over 9 years of age because there are no vaccinated individuals in these age groups.

RVGE direct and indirect VE by post-vaccine year

After relatively consistent direct VE immediately following vaccine introduction, we observed a possible alternating pattern in estimated direct VE among children 0-4 years of age, with the

slightly higher direct VE in odd post-vaccine years (Figure 3). A more extreme and opposite pattern was apparent for indirect VE for this group, with higher indirect VE during even post-vaccine years compared to odd post-vaccine years. This pattern extended to all ages (Figure 4). Both VE measures displayed wide CIs due to small numbers of cases.

Figure 3. Direct and indirect VE against RVGE by post-vaccine year,^a United States, children aged 0-4 years^b



^a Post-vaccine years defined as the 12-month period from July through June of the following year. (e.g. "2008" represents July 2007-June 2008) ^b VE calculated based on all children in the age group, regardless of age eligibility for rotavirus vaccination; Bars represent 95% confidence limits; Axis truncated at 0%



Figure 4. Direct and indirect VE against RVGE for each post-vaccine year,^a United States, by age group^b

^a Post-vaccine years defined as the 12-month period from July through June of the following year. (e.g. "2008" represents July 2007-June 2008) ^b VE calculated based on all children in the age group, regardless of age eligibility for rotavirus vaccination

Calculations to evaluate how variations in disease incidence impacted direct VE revealed a pattern in projected direct VE similar to that of our observed direct VE (Table 2). Our calculations used an population of1,000,000, vaccine coverage of 50%, true VE of 95%, sensitivity of 0.5, specificity of 0.99, and estimated RVGE incidence among unvaccinated children for each year from 2010–2016 from the MarketScan[®] Commercial Database.

	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
Direct	%,	%,	%,	%,	%,	%,	%,
VE	(95% CI)						
	95	95	95	95	95	95	95
I rue"	(90,98)	(93, 97)	(87, 98)	(92, 97)	(82, 99)	(92, 97)	(80, 99)
	87	91	78	88	67	90	70
Observed ^b	(73, 94)	(83, 95)	(59, 89)	(78, 94)	(15, 86)	(79, 96)	(-10, 90)
	84	91	77	90	67	89	64
Projected ^c	(71, 91)	(87, 94)	(56, 88)	(84, 94)	(35, 83)	(82, 93)	(29, 82)

Table 2. Projected direct VE calculated in a hypothetical population compared with true and observed direct VE

^a True VE is a set value used in the calculations

^b Observed VE is direct VE estimated using the MarketScan[®] Commercial Database data

^c Projected VE is the direct VE calculated in a hypothetical population of 1,000,000with vaccine coverage of 50%, true VE of 95%, sensitivity of 0.5, specificity of 0.99, and estimated RVGE incidence among unvaccinated children based on the MarketScan data for each year from 2010-2016.

AGE time series

The observations for RVGE rates among children were consistent with those observed for AGE rates in the same population, though the patterns were often less distinct. The pre-vaccine era was characterized by consistent, annual peaks that shifted towards a biennial pattern in the post vaccine era among young children; the biennial patterns were most apparent among the youngest and the unvaccinated children (Figures 5). Among older children, adolescents, and adults, the pre-vaccine era displayed relatively erratic patterns in AGE rates (Supplementary Figure 1). Unlike RVGE rates, the post-vaccine period was not punctuated by clear biennial peaks in these age groups and a slight increasing trend in rates was observed among those age 10 and older.

Figure 5. Time series of monthly inpatient AGE rates per 10,000 person-years, United States, July 2001-June 2016.^a A. Less than 1 year of age



^a Timeseries includes all years (including 2007 transition year) and all months (not restricted to the historic rotavirus season); Vertical dashed line represents July 2006 (time of vaccine introduction)

Significant direct, indirect, overall, and total VE was observed among both 0-4 and 5-9 year age groups with the largest impacts among the youngest children (Table 3). Among older age groups, VE estimates were highly sensitive to the method used to control for time. Several methods were considered, including use of a continuous time variable as well as higher order terms. Estimates of VE and their statistical significance varied based on the method used, however, no single model was found to be markedly superior to the rest based on AIC values. Given the uncertainty of these models and output, these results are not presented.

Age	Direct VE, %	Indirect VE, %	Overall VE, %	Total VE, %
Group	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
<1	59* (54, 64)	25* (12, 36)	49* (37, 58)	69* (63, 74)
1	63* (55, 69)	38* (20, 52)	59* (46, 68)	77* (71, 81)
2	57* (44, 66)	28* (5, 46)	49* (33, 62)	69* (59, 76)
3	60* (49, 68)	16 (-7, 34)	42* (27, 55)	67* (58, 74)
4	54* (42, 64)	11 (-13, 29)	33* (16, 46)	60* (47, 70)
0-4	56* (50, 61)	27* (15, 38)	48* (40, 55)	68* (63, 72)
5-9	33* (19, 45)	16* (8, 24)	20* (12, 27)	44* (31, 55)

Table 3. Vaccine effectiveness against AGE hospitalization during the post-vaccine period by age group

*Represents significance at the alpha = 0.05 level

Discussion

Vaccines may have impacts that go beyond their direct, immunological effects. We observed that for rotavirus vaccination in the US, the individual and population-level effects are considerable and complex. First, rotavirus vaccination led to a 95% reduction in RVGE hospitalizations among vaccinated 0-4 year olds. Second, introduction of the vaccine provided 35-60% protection against RVGE hospitalizations to unvaccinated individuals across age groups; this protection was generally limited to even post-vaccine years. Parallel patterns in indirect effects observed across all ages highlight the underrecognized burden of rotavirus outside the pediatric age range and emphasize the importance of infants in disease transmission. Lastly and surprisingly, estimates of direct VE varied annually, but we demonstrated that this observation is consistent with biases resulting from ICD-9/10 misclassification combined with biennial incidence patterns rather than variable vaccine performance.

The decade-long post-vaccine period in the US provides a unique opportunity to assess the longerterm impacts of rotavirus vaccination across age groups and to quantify specific vaccine effects. A central strength of this study was the compilation and analysis of 15 years of national data from the MarketScan[®] Commercial Database. The large size, comprehensive information on vaccination status and consistent coding¹⁵⁴ enabled detailed analysis of nine years of post-vaccine data including age- and year-specific vaccine effects. Previous studies assessing the impacts of the rotavirus vaccine are limited to short-term post-vaccine periods, limited geographic ranges, or pediatric age groups.^{139,212,143,142} This study contributes to existing literature on the effects of rotavirus vaccination across the age range²¹⁴ and is the first to estimate annual variation in vaccine effects over the nearly decade long post-vaccine period.

Overall, among all age groups combined, rotavirus hospitalization rates declined by nearly 70% after introduction of the vaccine. The youngest children were impacted most, however, the effects of the vaccine program were also felt outside the pediatric age range, bolstering existing evidence of indirect vaccine effects in the more immediate period following vaccine introduction.^{134,214} Population-wide indirect benefits of infant vaccination were demonstrated by reductions in RVGE hospitalization rates across age groups coupled with the emergence of biennial peaks in rates corresponding to those seen among vaccinated children. These findings reinforce the notion that infants are primary drivers of rotavirus infection across age groups. This theory is further supported by the increase in indirect benefits suggested among adults 25-44 years of age, a population likely to have close contact with young children.²⁰³ Yet, the general decline in indirect vaccine effects in older age groups indicate that rotavirus infection among these unvaccinated populations are not solely driven by infants.

The biennial pattern in disease incidence may have influenced our estimation of direct vaccine effectiveness. Imperfect classification results in a bias in vaccine effectiveness; if incidence is changing, the magnitude of the bias will vary because the number of cases to which the sensitivity and specificity of the codes are being applied changes. Indeed, we found that the annual variation in observed direct VE is entirely consistent with a vaccine with constant true effectiveness, imperfect sensitivity/specificity of hospital coding, and varying incidence. In other words, variation in direct effectiveness may be due to the biennial patterns in disease incidence rather than

true changes in vaccine effects. This bias could potentially arise in other estimates of direct vaccine effectiveness measured in the context of varying disease incidence and imperfect disease classification.

Cycles are a well-documented¹³⁴ feature of many infectious diseases. When host immunity combines with some seasonal factor (e.g. school terms or weather) season cycles may emerge.²¹⁵ Vaccination, which serves to reduce the number of individuals susceptible, may perturb these patterns and increase the inter-epidemic cycle. Indeed, this was predicted to occur for rotavirus under some epidemiological and vaccine-coverage scenarios.^{141,202,216} Our study adds to the empirical data supporting this idea, but also extends it by documenting these effects ripple across the age range. During even (low incidence) years, indirect VE was high across the age range while in odd (high incidence) years, there was little-to-no indirect VE.

Important limitations should be noted. We relied on ICD-9/10 codes which imperfectly capture RVGE. Not all individuals hospitalized for AGE are tested for rotavirus; evaluations among children during the pre-vaccine era have demonstrated that rotavirus ICD-9 coding has high specificity (97%) and low sensitivity (less than 50%).¹⁵¹ Little is known about the specificity and sensitivity of the coding in the post-vaccine era, possible misclassification or incomplete coding in the MarketScan[®] Commercial Database, frequency of testing among adults,¹⁴ or temporal changes in testing practices since vaccine introduction. One approach to address this limitation was to assess disease patterns in AGE rates, which have been shown to be valuable in assessing the burden of severe RVGE.²⁵ While we observed consistent patterns in RVGE and AGE in young age groups, vaccine impacts were not clear in older age groups, perhaps because an effect was

overwhelmed by an increasing secular trend in AGE among older individuals (see additional materials).

A primary concern in analysis of time series data is time varying confounders. We aimed to adjust for potential unknown temporal trends by testing the sensitivity of all models to the inclusion of a sequential time variable; none of the RVGE models were found to be sensitive to this variable. National coverage levels for the rotavirus vaccine increased in the years immediately following its introduction though have plateaued around 73% since 2013^{134,217}; coverage may indirectly contribute to the variation in direct and indirect effectiveness observed by impacting the number of susceptibles in the population. There is evidence of changes in prevalence of circulating rotavirus strains in the US since vaccine introduction though no consistent pattern has been observed²¹⁸, making this unlikely to be the driver of the distinct patterns observed for RVGE rates and VE. It is possible that increased frequency of testing¹⁹¹ and improved laboratory techniques²¹⁹ may impact the number of RVGE cases over the post-vaccine period. If these changes have occurred, they would likely result in an underestimation of the VE measures. Finally, this study may have limited generalizability as the data used did not include the under-insured, individuals on Medicaid, and individuals aged 65 years and older. We are unable to draw conclusions about specific patterns of illness or VE among populations not included in the dataset, such as the underinsured who may have different levels of vaccine coverage.¹⁹⁰ Nonetheless, the effects observed are a function of the wider US population, not just those captured in the dataset.

This study provides new evidence of the individual and population-wide impacts of the rotavirus vaccine and highlights an important potential for bias in direct VE estimation, not previously

investigated for rotavirus vaccination. Measurements of direct rotavirus VE may be prone to downward bias in the post-vaccine era due to reductions in disease incidence resulting in lower and changing predictive value of diagnosis. A vaccinated child in the post-vaccine era has a 95% reduced risk of RVGE hospitalization compared to a child in the pre-vaccine era. Vaccine benefits extended to unvaccinated individuals across the age range and demonstrate the important role of infants in rotavirus transmission.

Conclusions

This comprehensive estimation of the range of vaccine effects provides new evidence of the individual and population-wide impacts of infant rotavirus vaccination and highlights an important potential for bias in direct vaccine effectiveness estimation. Our findings demonstrate the high direct effectiveness of infant rotavirus vaccination and suggest that the impacts of the vaccine program can be felt population-wide, including among adults and unvaccinated children. A novel finding was that imperfect disease classification combined with changing disease incidence during the post-vaccine period may lead to downward bias in the estimated direct vaccine effectiveness. This bias should be considered in other estimates of direct vaccine effectiveness in the context of varying disease incidence and imperfect case classification.

Declarations

Ethics approval and consent to participate

This study involved de-identified, aggregate data and was not subject to Institutional Review Board approval at Emory University or the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

Availability of data and materials

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the IBM[®] MarketScan[®] Research Databases but restrictions apply to the availability of these data, which were used under license for the current study, and so are not publicly available. Data are however available from the authors upon reasonable request and with permission from IBM[®] Watson HealthTM.

Competing interests

BAL has received personal fees from Takeda Pharmaceuticals for service on their Norovirus Advisory Board outside the submitted work. JMB, RMD, JC and UDP have no conflicts of interest.

Funding

This work received no dedicated funding.

Authors' contributions

The study was conceptualized by BAL with input from JMB and RMD and supervisory support from UDP. RMD designed and conducted data extraction from the IBM[®] MarketScan[®] Research Databases with input from JMB and BAL. JMB led the main study analysis with support from

BAL. JC, JMB and BAL conducted the sub-analysis examining variations in direct vaccine effects. JMB drafted the manuscript with supervisory input from BAL. All authors reviewed, edited, and approved the manuscript.

Acknowledgements

Not applicable.

Authors' information

Not applicable.

Additional material

Supplemental Table 1. Number of RVGE and AGE cases by age group, United States, July

2001- June 2016.^a

Age Group	RVGE	AGE
8F		
<1	1,908	15,647
1	2,879	11,959
2	1,545	6,857
3	689	4,624
4	477	4,169
0-4	7,498	43,256
5-9	865	18,469
10-14	206	18,474
15-24	152	64,326
25-44	190	189,900
45-64	300	392,103
All ages	9,211	726,528

^a Includes all years (including 2007 transition year) and all months (not restricted to the historic rotavirus season)



^a Timeseries includes all years (including 2007 transition year) and all months (not restricted to the historic rotavirus season)

Vertical dashed line represents July 2006 (time of vaccine introduction)

8 **Public Health Impact**

8.1 Overview

Rotavirus vaccine has contributed to remarkable declines in gastroenteritis around the world,¹²⁷ yet the full potential of the vaccine has not been realized. Several challenges remain, including disparate efficacy of the vaccine in different settings, lack of a strong correlate of protection for assessing improved vaccine strategies or vaccine candidates, and limited understanding of the longer-term, population level effects of the vaccine. The primary goal of this dissertation research was to contribute to the knowledge base necessary for mitigating these major challenges and improving the public health benefits of vaccination. Specifically, this research investigated rotavirus vaccination on three interconnected scales: (1) how host characteristics influence rotavirus vaccine immunogenicity, (2) how immune response to rotavirus vaccination predicts clinical disease risk within an individual, and (3) how rotavirus vaccination impacts severe gastrointestinal illness at the population-level. This analysis provided insight into rotavirus vaccine performance and highlighted several avenues for further research, described for each aim below.

8.2 Contribution of each specific aim

8.2.1 Aim 1- Immunogenicity

The disparate immunogenicity and efficacy of currently available rotavirus vaccines mean the infants who are at the greatest risk of severe disease are provided the least protection through

vaccination.^{73,99} Through Aim 1, we contribute to the growing body of research into the determinants of vaccine underperformance in high child mortality settings by identifying factors associated with rotavirus vaccine immunogenicity across settings. Ultimately, this information can be used to identify modifiable vaccine strategies or interventions for enhancing vaccine performance.

In Aim 1, we had the unique ability to examine both individual and country level factors that contribute to Rotarix vaccine immunogenicity in high and low child mortality countries. The most salient finding was the rather dramatic effect that OPV has on rotavirus vaccine immunogenicity when the vaccines were administered concomitantly. Our analysis supports existing evidence^{107–110,157} that OPV interferes with serum anti-rotavirus IgA seroconversion and, critically, reveals that reduced seroconversion is apparent when OPV is given concomitantly with both the first and the second rotavirus dose. This latter result contrasts with early evidence suggesting that the rotavirus and OPV interference from OPV may extend beyond the first dose of rotavirus vaccine and our findings provide robust support for this theory. Essentially, if it is true that the primary interference between rotavirus vaccine and OPV occurs with the first doses, our results suggest that a second rotavirus dose does not enable an infant to overcome the initial reduced immune response induced by the first concomitant doses.

Considering these findings when developing or modifying rotavirus and polio vaccine programs could influence the public health benefits of rotavirus vaccination. Currently, rotavirus vaccines are typically administered on the same schedule as polio vaccines. Concomitant vaccination is not

of concern in low child mortality settings where IPV is primarily administered, however, this schedule has substantial public health implications in high child mortality settings where OPV is still in use.¹⁰⁶ While it may not be feasible to stagger OPV and rotavirus immunization schedules at this time,¹⁰⁷ there will eventually be a shift from OPV to IPV as polio eradication nears. This shift has the potential, based on our results, to lead to a sizeable increase in rotavirus vaccine performance in high child mortality settings.

This possibility will ideally motivate further research into the rotavirus and OPV interaction to better identify its causes and provide insight into how future changes in vaccine strategies may impact the burden of rotavirus gastroenteritis. The current efforts by the Global Polio Eradication Initiative to reduce and eventually end OPV use creates an opportunity to confirm our results in the real-world setting. In this type of natural experiment, vaccine immunogenicity data from infants in settings where OPV is currently administered could be compared to immunogenicity among infants after OPV withdrawal. Even more impactful will be evaluations of rotavirus vaccine effectiveness before and after OPV withdrawal against the clinical endpoint of rotavirus gastroenteritis.

The substantial impact of GDP as an explanatory factor for seroconversion, and our inability to identify modifiable factors for predicting anti-rotavirus IgA titer, provide an important reminder that there is still a great deal more about rotavirus vaccine immunogenicity that we have yet to understand. Similarly structured analyses to the one conducted in this dissertation, but with more detailed data on factors such as breastfeeding and household risk factors, would help address some of the shortcomings of our research. Another critical avenue for future research is the role of

previous rotavirus infection on vaccine immunogenicity. This is likely an important factor in high child mortality settings where early infections may be more common and where improvements in vaccine performance are most essential.

8.2.2 Aim 2- Correlates of protection

The vaccine challenges described in Aim 1 combined with logistic constraints of the currently available vaccines¹¹⁴ mean the full potential benefits of global rotavirus vaccination are not being realized. To address both of these challenges, ongoing evaluations of modified vaccination strategies and new vaccine candidates in the rotavirus vaccine pipeline¹⁴⁴ will likely take place over the next several years. The findings from Aim 2 provide insight into how serum anti-rotavirus IgA may be a valuable measure for rapidly assessing vaccine strategies and vaccine performance in these future studies. Overall, our research highlights that serum anti-rotavirus IgA may be an informative, though suboptimal, correlate of vaccine-inducted protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis. Despite its limitations, using serum anti-rotavirus IgA as a correlate of vaccine-induced protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis has several advantages over previously studied measures²⁷ and has beneficial implications for rotavirus vaccine programs and vaccine research.

We found that seroconversion, indicated by the presence of serum anti-rotavirus IgA antibodies ≥ 20 U/mL, confers substantial protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis both in high and low child mortality settings in the months following vaccination and up to 1 year of age. For instance, in both high and low child mortality settings, the risk of mild/moderate and severe rotavirus gastroenteritis among infants who seroconverted was less than half the risk among those who were seronegative. This provides encouraging evidence that any infant who responds to vaccination,
regardless of their level of response, is likely receiving some degree of protection during the critical period when their risk of severe disease is highest.¹³ From a public health perspective, this lends additional support for WHO's recommendation that all counties include rotavirus vaccines in their national immunization programs,¹⁰⁶ even those where immunogenicity may be less than ideal. Though the vaccines available today have been demonstrated to be less immunogenic and efficacious in high child mortality settings,^{7,96} it is in these settings where even a small reduction in the risk of rotavirus gastroenteritis on an individual level can contribute to substantial reductions in disease at the population level. Our analysis of serum anti-rotavirus IgA indicates that the largest increase in protection is generally achieved when an individual shifts from anti-rotavirus IgA seronegative to seropositive status. Additional protection is generally afforded by higher titer values, however, dramatic reductions in gastroenteritis risk can be provided by seroconversion alone.

A practical example of the value of serum anti-rotavirus IgA thresholds can be applied using results from Aim 1 and Aim 2 together. In our assessment of rotavirus vaccine immunogenicity, we found that anti-rotavirus IgA seroconversion among infants who received OPV with both rotavirus dose one and two were nearly half as likely to seroconvert compared to infants who did not receive OPV at all. The eventual shift from OPV to IPV in low income settings could result in twice as many infants seroconverting after rotavirus vaccination. The HR identified for the anti-rotavirus IgA threshold of \geq 20 in high child mortality settings (Aim 2) then provides a possible indication of the degree of protection these seroconverted infants might receive. Based on our results, we could anticipate the risk of mild/moderate rotavirus gastroenteritis among these infants would be reduced by over 60% and their risk of severe rotavirus gastroenteritis reduced by about half through one year of age.

Relatedly, we found an approximate "dose-response" relationship between anti-rotavirus IgA thresholds and the occurrence of rotavirus gastroenteritis through one year of age across settings. While a definitive level of anti-rotavirus IgA that provides perfect protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis was not identified, anti-rotavirus IgA itself is informative. Generally, infants with the highest levels of anti-rotavirus IgA have the highest protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis. The public health and policy implications of this relationship are two-fold. First, activities that may increase serum anti-rotavirus IgA titer levels induced by the existing vaccines, such as a shift in age at first vaccination or possibly a booster dose, should be explored. If these activities are found to increase serum anti-rotavirus IgA titer levels, it is possible that a corresponding reduction in the risk of rotavirus gastroenteritis will be observed. Second, anti-rotavirus IgA is an informative and relatively easily collected measure, even if imperfect, for assessing vaccine performance. This makes it an invaluable tool for the development of the next generation of rotavirus vaccines and vaccination strategies. A serum anti-rotavirus IgA cutoff of ≥20 U/mL can be used in future studies as an efficient alternative to clinical endpoints and serum anti-rotavirus IgA provides a scale to upon which to compare vaccines since placebo controlled trials are no longer ethical for rotavirus.¹⁸⁰

From a public health standpoint, the potential value of serum anti-rotavirus IgA is both encouraging, as described above, but also less than ideal. When our findings are considered in the context of existing literature in the field, it seems that serum anti-rotavirus IgA may be a nonmechanistic correlate of protection—one that is related to but not directly on the causal path between rotavirus vaccination and protection against rotavirus gastroenteritis.^{27,185} Serum antirotavirus IgA threshold alone, while informative, is insufficient to accurately predict one's risk of rotavirus gastroenteritis. This further emphasizes our Aim 1 conclusion that serum anti-rotavirus IgA levels are complex and not well understood. From a programmatic standpoint, this means that assessments of anti-rotavirus IgA titers following a vaccine campaign (to assess who did or did not meet the anti-rotavirus IgA threshold), for instance, would be of little benefit. Additionally, without a strong correlate of protection, we are unable unquestionably identify high-risk populations based on serum anti-rotavirus IgA titers. Continued research is needed to identify other factors that, when combined with anti-rotavirus IgA, may strengthen the validity and utility of IgA as a possible correlate of protection on the individual or population-level. Simultaneously, attention should be given to identifying a potentially stronger correlate of protection, possibly looking at more proximal measures of immune response that may directly dictate disease protection, when possible.

8.2.3 Aim 3- Direct and indirect vaccine effects

The United States was one of the first countries to introduce infant rotavirus vaccination nationally¹³¹ and, therefore, provided a unique opportunity to assess the longer-term and population-wide impacts of infant rotavirus vaccination. In Aim 3, we quantify the full, population-wide impacts of infant rotavirus vaccination across age groups, describe shifts in disease patterns, and highlight an important potential for bias in estimating direct vaccine effectiveness in context of varying disease incidence and imperfect case classification. To our

knowledge, we conducted the longest age-stratified time series analysis of the rotavirus vaccine in the United States, and possibly any country, to date.

Comparison of objectives and methods for HCUP and MarketScan analyses

The HCUP and MarketScan analyses that comprise Aim 3 together address questions regarding the longer-term and population-level effects of rotavirus vaccination in the United States. The HCUP analysis provided initial insight into patterns in disease rates, including overall and indirect effects, using the simple counts of rotavirus and gastroenteritis hospitalizations that occurred monthly in the United States. Using the similarly structured MarketScan dataset with additional stratification by vaccination status, we were afforded more granular insight into population-wide patterns. We estimated the direct, indirect, overall and total vaccine effectiveness across age groups with this information.

Both analyses assessed time series data on rotavirus gastroenteritis and all-cause gastroenteritis hospitalization rates across age group. The analysis approaches were similar. Time series figures were created to visually assess patterns in the rates of illness by age group. Next, monthly counts of rotavirus and gastroenteritis hospitalizations were modeled using negative binomial regression to estimate rate ratios and 95% confidence intervals. Models were adjusted for changing population size using an offset of the log of population and were run separately by age group.

In the HCUP regressions, monthly pre-vaccine rates of rotavirus/acute gastroenteritis overall (2000-2006) were compared to:

- monthly post-vaccine rates of rotavirus/acute gastroenteritis overall (2008-2013) to assess
 overall and indirect effects
- monthly post-vaccine rates of rotavirus/acute gastroenteritis for even (2008, 2010, 2012) and odd post-vaccine calendar years (2009, 2011, 2013) separately to assess biennial patterns, and
- monthly post-vaccine rates of rotavirus/acute gastroenteritis for each individual postvaccine calendar year to provide more detail on the potentially dynamic effects of vaccination over time

The MarketScan analysis built upon the modeling techniques used in the HCUP analysis and modified these to assess more detailed comparisons. Four measures of vaccine effectiveness were estimated for rotavirus/acute gastroenteritis:

- 1. direct effectiveness of the vaccine by comparing the rates of rotavirus/acute gastroenteritis in vaccinated and unvaccinated groups in the post-vaccine era,
- 2. indirect effectiveness by comparing rates of rotavirus/acute gastroenteritis among unvaccinated groups in the post-vaccine era to the pre-vaccine era,
- overall effectiveness by comparing average rates of rotavirus/acute gastroenteritis in the post- and pre-vaccine eras, and
- 4. total effectiveness by comparing rates of rotavirus/acute gastroenteritis in the vaccinated groups in the post-vaccine era to the corresponding groups (all unvaccinated) in the pre-vaccine era

Visual inspection of hospitalization patterns in the HCUP data demonstrated a rapid decline in the rates of rotavirus gastroenteritis after introduction of the vaccine and the emergence of a strong biennial pattern with higher rates in odd post-vaccine calendar years. This pattern was most strongly observed in young children but extended to older individuals as well. Children under 5 years of age experienced an 86% reduction in rotavirus gastroenteritis (95% CI: 77%-91%) while reductions were also apparent among older children, adolescents and adults. These findings provided robust evidence of the indirect effects of infant rotavirus vaccination beyond the pediatric age range. Adults over the age of 60 years experienced the smallest declines, suggesting disease transmission in this age group is impacted by infants, but likely also driven by other factors.

In the MarketScan analysis, similar biennial patterns were observed. The largest effects of vaccination were seen among young children 0-4 years of age (direct vaccine effectiveness = 87%, 95% CI: 83%, 90%). As with the HCUP results, substantial indirect effects of infant vaccination were experienced across age groups with a general decline in effects in each older group. These results corroborated those found in the HCUP dataset. Overall vaccine effectiveness against rotavirus gastroenteritis hospitalizations for all ages combined was 69% (95% CI: 62%, 76%). Remarkably, we found that a vaccinated child in the post-vaccine era has a 95% reduced risk of rotavirus gastroenteritis hospitalization compared to a child in the pre-vaccine era.

Public health implications

In both the HCUP and MarketScan analyses, we revealed the emergence of a biennial pattern in rotavirus gastroenteritis hospitalization rates across age groups. The importance of this pattern is two-fold. First, it could be suggestive of changing rates of susceptibles within the population. One possible hypothesis is that vaccine coverage and acquired immunity could be high enough to transiently raise herd immunity such that rotavirus transmission is low for a short period of time. This would allow for the accumulation of susceptibles as new infants are born into the population and as other young children temporarily avoid infection, ultimately spurring biennial epidemics that spread across age groups^{143,202} These patterns have not been seen among most other highincome countries,²⁰⁸⁻²¹⁰ though one study found this type of pattern may be emerging in the Netherlands where the vaccine was recently introduced.²²⁰ This pattern inevitably raises the question of its cause. Some evidence suggests relatively low vaccine coverage may be a contributing factor-an area in need of additional research. Identifying and further researching these trends could aid in identifying strategies that maximize the rotavirus vaccine program's benefits (such as increasing coverage among certain populations or vaccinating other age groups) and help in anticipating future healthcare resource needs.

Second, and relatedly, *parallel* biennial patterns in rotavirus hospitalizations across age groups were observed in both studies. This visual synchrony was reinforced by estimates of indirect vaccine effects in each age group. Children under 5 years of age experienced the largest reductions in rotavirus gastroenteritis rates while substantial reductions were also apparent among older children, adolescents and adults. Notably, the overall vaccine effectiveness against rotavirus gastroenteritis generally declined in each older group. Older adults experienced the smallest change in the incidence of rotavirus hospitalizations, suggesting disease transmission in this age

group is likely very closely linked to that among young children, however, not solely driven by infants. Combined, these results provided robust evidence of the previously under-recognized rotavirus burden outside the pediatric age range while emphasizing the importance of infants in rotavirus disease transmission. Longer-term evaluations of rotavirus vaccination have inherently been limited to early introducing countries. Whether or not similar patterns and population-wide indirect effects will be seen among other countries, particularly high child mortality settings, is unknown. Opportunities to assess longer-term trends in these settings will arise as additional years of data become available. This type of analysis requires time series data, ideally including vaccination status, emphasizing the importance of sufficient data collection now and into the future.

The MarketScan analysis identified an important bias that may impact estimates of direct vaccine effectiveness in the context of variable disease incidence and imperfect disease classification. Our estimates of direct vaccine effectiveness varied annually with higher direct effects observed in odd (high incidence) post-vaccine years. However, we don't believe this is true variation in vaccine performance. Rather, we demonstrated that this variation could be the result of bias from ICD-9/10 misclassification combined with biennial incidence patterns. Essentially, imperfect disease classification (imperfect sensitivity and specificity) can results in a bias in vaccine effectiveness. If the incidence of disease is changing over time, the magnitude of the bias will vary because the number of cases to which the sensitivity and specificity of the codes are being applied changes. While we found this specifically in our investigation of rotavirus vaccination, it is possible that this bias could arise in other estimates of direct vaccine effectiveness measured in similar contexts and should be considered in future assessments.

Overall, both studies provide similar and complementary evidence of dramatic direct and indirect effects of infant rotavirus vaccination in the United States. The longer-term patterns in disease incidence are complex, but provide strong evidence of population-level effects. The two data sources provide an ideal opportunity to continue evaluating rotavirus patterns into the future. The impacts of possible changes in vaccine coverage, rotavirus testing trends, or vaccination strategies over that may arise over the coming years could be assessed using these valuable data sources. Beyond the US, similar analysis approaches could be used to detect longer-term impacts of vaccine introduction across age groups to identify how and why differences occur.

8.3 Summary

Collectively, the results of this dissertation research contribute to the body of literature on the rotavirus vaccine both in the United States and globally. Identifying factors associated with rotavirus vaccine immunogenicity across child mortality settings brings us one step closer to recognizing modifiable strategies for improving vaccine performance for the children most at risk of the virus' severe effects. With the knowledge we can gain from serum anti-rotavirus IgA titer data, even if imperfect, we can more rapidly screen potential new vaccine candidates and strategies, eventually making rotavirus vaccination more accessible and effective globally. Lastly, understanding the considerable and complex long-term impacts of rotavirus vaccination at the individual and population levels will enable us to better understand, interpret and anticipate disease patterns.

9 References

- United Nations Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation (UN, IGME). Levels & Trends in Child Mortality: Report 2018, Estimates developed by the United Nations Interagency Group for Child Mortality Estimation. http://www.childmortality.org/files_v22/download/UN%20IGME%20Child%20Mortality% 20Report%202018.pdf. Accessed February 6, 2019.
- Troeger C, Blacker BF, Khalil IA, et al. Estimates of the global, regional, and national morbidity, mortality, and aetiologies of diarrhoea in 195 countries: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2018;18(11):1211-1228. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(18)30362-1
- World Health Organization. Causes of child mortality. Global Health Observatory (GHO) data. https://www.who.int/gho/child_health/mortality/causes/en/. Accessed February 2, 2019.
- World Health Organization. Diarrhoeal disease fact sheet. Media Centre. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs330/en/. Published May 2017. Accessed July 11, 2017.
- 5. World Health Organization. Malnutrition: Key facts. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/malnutrition. Published February 16, 2018. Accessed February 6, 2019.

- Troeger C, Khalil IA, Rao PC, et al. Rotavirus Vaccination and the Global Burden of Rotavirus Diarrhea Among Children Younger Than 5 Years. *JAMA Pediatr*. 2018;172(10):958. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.1960
- Tate JE, Burton AH, Boschi-Pinto C, Parashar UD. Global, Regional, and National Estimates of Rotavirus Mortality in Children <5 Years of Age, 2000–2013. *Clin Infect Dis*. 2016;62(suppl 2):S96-S105. doi:10.1093/cid/civ1013
- Troeger C, Forouzanfar M, Rao PC, et al. Estimates of global, regional, and national morbidity, mortality, and aetiologies of diarrhoeal diseases: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *Lancet Infect Dis*. June 2017. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(17)30276-1
- Khalil IA-M. The Global Burden of Rotavirus Diarrheal Diseases: Results from the Global Burden of Diseases Study 2016. *Open Forum Infect Dis*. 2017;4(suppl_1):S363-S363. doi:10.1093/ofid/ofx163.885
- Velázquez FR, Matson DO, Calva JJ, et al. Rotavirus Infection in Infants as Protection against Subsequent Infections. *N Engl J Med.* 1996;335(14):1022-1028. doi:10.1056/NEJM199610033351404
- 11. Gurwith M, Wenman W, Hinde D, Feltham S, Greenberg H. A prospective study of rotavirus infection in infants and young children. *J Infect Dis*. 1981;144(3):218-224.
- Gladstone BP, Ramani S, Mukhopadhya I, et al. Protective Effect of Natural Rotavirus Infection in an Indian Birth Cohort. *N Engl J Med.* 2011;365(4):337-346. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1006261

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Epidemiology and Prevention of Vaccine-Preventable Diseases. The Pink Book: Course Textbook.* 13th Edition. Washington, DC: Public Health Foundation; 2015. https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pubs/pinkbook/frontmatter.html.
- Anderson EJ, Weber SG. Rotavirus infection in adults. *Lancet Infect Dis*. 2004;4(2):91-99. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(04)00928-4
- Lopman B, Hall A. Incomplete use of global data for aetiological attribution of diarrhoeal disease in the Global Burden of Disease study. *Lancet Infect Dis*. 2019;19(2):128. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(18)30798-9
- Bishop R, Davidson GP, Holmes IH, Ruck BJ. Virus particles in epithelial cells of duodenal mucosa from children with acute non-bacterial gastroenteritis. *The Lancet*. 1973;302(7841):1281-1283. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(73)92867-5
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Clinical Information. Rotavirus. https://www.cdc.gov/rotavirus/clinical.html. Accessed June 23, 2017.
- Clarke E, Desselberger U. Correlates of protection against human rotavirus disease and the factors influencing protection in low-income settings. *Mucosal Immunol*. 2015;8(1):1-17. doi:10.1038/mi.2014.114
- Estes MK, Kapikan AZ. *Rotaviruses, in Fields Virology*. 5th ed. Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2007.

- Dennehy PH. Rotavirus Vaccines: an Overview. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 2008;21(1):198-208. doi:10.1128/CMR.00029-07
- Liu Y, Huang P, Tan M, et al. Rotavirus VP8*: Phylogeny, Host Range, and Interaction with Histo-Blood Group Antigens. *J Virol*. 2012;86(18):9899-9910. doi:10.1128/JVI.00979-12
- Santos N, Hoshino Y. Global distribution of rotavirus serotypes/genotypes and its implication for the development and implementation of an effective rotavirus vaccine. *Rev Med Virol.* 2005;15(1):29-56. doi:10.1002/rmv.448
- Todd S, Page NA, Duncan Steele A, Peenze I, Cunliffe NA. Rotavirus Strain Types Circulating in Africa: Review of Studies Published during 1997–2006. *J Infect Dis*. 2010;202(S1):S34-S42. doi:10.1086/653555
- 24. Parashar UD, Nelson EAS, Kang G. Diagnosis, management, and prevention of rotavirus gastroenteritis in children. *BMJ*. 2013;347(dec30 1):f7204-f7204. doi:10.1136/bmj.f7204
- Patel MM, Tate JE, Selvarangan R, et al. Routine Laboratory Testing Data for Surveillance of Rotavirus Hospitalizations to Evaluate the Impact of Vaccination: *Pediatr Infect Dis J*. 2007;26(10):914-919. doi:10.1097/INF.0b013e31812e52fd
- 26. Chang H-GH, Glass RI, Smith PF, Cicirello HG, Holman RC, Morse DL. Disease burden and risk factors for hospitalizations associated with rotavirus infection among children in New York State, 1989 through 2000: *Pediatr Infect Dis J*. 2003;22(9):808-814. doi:10.1097/01.inf.0000086404.31634.04

- Angel J, Steele AD, Franco MA. Correlates of protection for rotavirus vaccines: Possible alternative trial endpoints, opportunities, and challenges. *Hum Vaccines Immunother*. 2014;10(12):3659-3671. doi:10.4161/hv.34361
- Franco MA, Angel J, Greenberg HB. Immunity and correlates of protection for rotavirus vaccines. *Vaccine*. 2006;24(15):2718-2731. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.12.048
- Grimwood K, Lund JC, Coulson BS, Hudson IL, Bishop RF, Barnes GL. Comparison of serum and mucosal antibody responses following severe acute rotavirus gastroenteritis in young children. *J Clin Microbiol*. 1988;26(4):732-738.
- Ray PG, Kelkar SD. Prevalence of neutralizing antibodies against different rotavirus serotypes in children with severe rotavirus-induced diarrhea and their mothers. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol.* 2004;11(1):186-194.
- Mestecky J, Mcghee JR. Immunoglobulin A (IgA): Molecular and Cellular Interactions Involved in IgA Biosynthesis and Immune Response. In: *Advances in Immunology*. Vol 40. Elsevier; 1987:153-245. doi:10.1016/S0065-2776(08)60240-0
- Corthesy B, Benureau Y, Perrier C, et al. Rotavirus Anti-VP6 Secretory Immunoglobulin A Contributes to Protection via Intracellular Neutralization but Not via Immune Exclusion. J Virol. 2006;80(21):10692-10699. doi:10.1128/JVI.00927-06
- Molyneaux PJ. Human immunity to rotavirus. *J Med Microbiol*. 1995;43(6):397-404.
 doi:10.1099/00222615-43-6-397

- Woof JM, Kerr MA. The function of immunoglobulin A in immunity. *J Pathol*. 2006;208(2):270-282. doi:10.1002/path.1877
- 35. Coulson BS, Grimwood K, Masendycz PJ, et al. Comparison of rotavirus immunoglobulin A coproconversion with other indices of rotavirus infection in a longitudinal study in childhood. *J Clin Microbiol*. 1990;28(6):1367-1374.
- Arias CF, López S, Mascarenhas JD, et al. Neutralizing antibody immune response in children with primary and secondary rotavirus infections. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol*. 1994;1(1):89-94.
- McNabb PC, Tomasi TB. Host defense mechanisms at mucosal surfaces. *Annu Rev Microbiol*. 1981;35:477-496. doi:10.1146/annurev.mi.35.100181.002401
- Jiang B, Gentsch JR, Glass RI. The Role of Serum Antibodies in the Protection against Rotavirus Disease: An Overview. *Clin Infect Dis*. 2002;34(10):1351-1361. doi:10.1086/340103
- Velázquez FR, Matson DO, Guerrero ML, et al. Serum Antibody as a Marker of Protection against Natural Rotavirus Infection and Disease. *J Infect Dis*. 2000;182(6):1602-1609. doi:10.1086/317619
- 40. Bernstein DI, Sander DS, Smith VE, Schiff GM, Ward RL. Protection from rotavirus reinfection: 2-year prospective study. *J Infect Dis*. 1991;164(2):277-283.

- White L., Buttery J, Cooper B, Nokes D., Medley G. Rotavirus within day care centres in Oxfordshire, UK: characterization of partial immunity. *J R Soc Interface*. 2008;5(29):1481-1490. doi:10.1098/rsif.2008.0115
- 42. Fischer T, Valentiner-Branth P, Steinsland H, et al. Protective Immunity after Natural Rotavirus Infection: A Community Cohort Study of Newborn Children in Guinea-Bissau, West Africa. *J Infect Dis*. 2002;186(5):593-597. doi:10.1086/342294
- Desselberger U, Huppertz H-I. Immune Responses to Rotavirus Infection and Vaccination and Associated Correlates of Protection. *J Infect Dis*. 2011;203(2):188-195. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiq031
- O'Ryan ML, Matson DO, Estes MK, Pickering LK. Acquisition of serum isotype-specific and G type-specific antirotavirus antibodies among children in day care centers. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* 1994;13(10):890-895.
- 45. Lee B, Dickson DM, deCamp AC, et al. Histo–Blood Group Antigen Phenotype Determines Susceptibility to Genotype-Specific Rotavirus Infections and Impacts Measures of Rotavirus Vaccine Efficacy. *J Infect Dis*. 2018;217(9):1399-1407. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiy054
- Payne DC, Currier RL, Staat MA, et al. Epidemiologic Association Between FUT2 Secretor Status and Severe Rotavirus Gastroenteritis in Children in the United States. *JAMA Pediatr*. 2015;169(11):1040. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.2002

- Kambhampati A, Payne DC, Costantini V, Lopman BA. Host Genetic Susceptibility to Enteric Viruses: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis. *Clin Infect Dis*. 2016;62(1):11-18. doi:10.1093/cid/civ873
- 48. Pitzer VE, Viboud C, Lopman BA, Patel MM, Parashar UD, Grenfell BT. Influence of birth rates and transmission rates on the global seasonality of rotavirus incidence. *J R Soc Interface*. 2011;8(64):1584-1593. doi:10.1098/rsif.2011.0062
- Patel MM, Pitzer VE, Alonso WJ, et al. Global Seasonality of Rotavirus Disease. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* 2013;32(4):e134-e147. doi:10.1097/INF.0b013e31827d3b68
- Levy K, Hubbard AE, Eisenberg JN. Seasonality of rotavirus disease in the tropics: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Epidemiol*. 2009;38(6):1487-1496. doi:10.1093/ije/dyn260
- Cook SM, Glass RI, LeBaron CW, Ho MS. Global seasonality of rotavirus infections. *Bull* World Health Organ. 1990;68(2):171-177.
- 52. Pitzer VE, Viboud C, Lopman BA, Patel MM, Parashar UD, Grenfell BT. Influence of birth rates and transmission rates on the global seasonality of rotavirus incidence. *J R Soc Interface*. 2011;8(64):1584-1593. doi:10.1098/rsif.2011.0062
- Tate JE, Panozzo CA, Payne DC, et al. Decline and Change in Seasonality of US Rotavirus Activity After the Introduction of Rotavirus Vaccine. *PEDIATRICS*. 2009;124(2):465-471. doi:10.1542/peds.2008-3528

- Santosham M, Steele D. Rotavirus Vaccines A New Hope. N Engl J Med.
 2017;376(12):1170-1172. doi:10.1056/NEJMe1701347
- 55. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Rotavirus and the Vaccine (Drops) to Prevent It. For Parents: Vaccines for Your Children. https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/parents/diseases/child/rotavirus.html. Accessed August 20, 2017.
- Simonsen L, Viboud C, Elixhauser A, Taylor RJ, Kapikian AZ. More on RotaShield and Intussusception: The Role of Age at the Time of Vaccination. *J Infect Dis*. 2005;192(s1):S36-S43. doi:10.1086/431512
- Global Advisory Committee on Vaccine Safety, 11–12 December 2013. *Releve Epidemiol Hebd.* 2014;89(7):53-60.
- Global Advisory Committee on Vaccine Safety, 6–7 December 2017. *Releve Epidemiol Hebd.* 2018;93(2):17-30.
- World Health Organization. Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals: Rotavirus. http://www.who.int/immunization/diseases/rotavirus/en/. Published June 3, 2016. Accessed February 3, 2019.
- Vesikari T, Karvonen A, Prymula R, et al. Efficacy of human rotavirus vaccine against rotavirus gastroenteritis during the first 2 years of life in European infants: randomised, double-blind controlled study. *The Lancet*. 2007;370(9601):1757-1763. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61744-9

- 61. Vesikari T, Matson DO, Dennehy P, et al. Safety and Efficacy of a Pentavalent Human– Bovine (WC3) Reassortant Rotavirus Vaccine. *N Engl J Med*. 2006;354(1):23-33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa052664
- 62. Nelson EAS, Glass RI. Rotavirus: realising the potential of a promising vaccine. *The Lancet*. 2010;376(9741):568-570. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60896-3
- Roush SW, Baldy LM, Kirkconnell Hall MA. Manual for the Surveillance of Vaccine-Preventable Diseases. 2008. https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pubs/surv-manual/chpt13rotavirus.html. Accessed February 7, 2019.
- 64. Velasquez DE, Parashar UD, Jiang B. Strain diversity plays no major role in the varying efficacy of rotavirus vaccines: An overview. *Infect Genet Evol*. 2014;28:561-571. doi:10.1016/j.meegid.2014.10.008
- 65. Rota Council: Rotavirus Orgnaization of Technical Allies. Rotavirus Deaths & Rotavirus Vaccine Introduction Maps. http://rotacouncil.org/toolkit/rotavirus-burden-vaccineintroduction-map/. Accessed October 16, 2016.
- VIEW-hub. Current Vaccine Intro Status. RV Vaccine Introduction. http://viewhub.org/viz/. Accessed January 29, 2019.
- International Vaccine Access Center. Gap Analysis of Rotavirus Vaccine Impact Evaluations in Settings of Routine Use. Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health; 2017. https://www.jhsph.edu/ivac/wpcontent/uploads/2018/04/RVImpactGapAnalysis_FEB2017_FINAL_public.pdf. Accessed February 7, 2019.

- VIEW-hub. Children without Access. RV- Vaccine Access. http://view-hub.org/viz/.
 Accessed January 29, 2019.
- Ward RL, Bernstein DI. Rotarix: A Rotavirus Vaccine for the World. *Clin Infect Dis*. 2009;48(2):222-228. doi:10.1086/595702
- GlaxoSmithKline. Highlights of prescribing information. April 2016. https://www.gsksource.com/pharma/content/dam/GlaxoSmithKline/US/en/Prescribing_Info rmation/Rotarix/pdf/ROTARIX-PI-PIL.PDF. Accessed March 30, 2017.
- 71. Madhi SA, Cunliffe NA, Steele D, et al. Effect of Human Rotavirus Vaccine on Severe Diarrhea in African Infants. *N Engl J Med*. 2010;362(4):289-298. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0904797
- Merck & Co, Inc. Highlights of Prescribing Information. 2017 2006. Merck & Co, Inc. Accessed July 11, 2017.
- Jiang V, Jiang B, Tate J, Parashar UD, Patel MM. Performance of rotavirus vaccines in developed and developing countries. *Hum Vaccin*. 2010;6(7):532-542.
- Yen C, Tate JE, Hyde TB, et al. Rotavirus vaccines: Current status and future considerations. *Hum Vaccines Immunother*. 2014;10(6):1436-1448. doi:10.4161/hv.28857
- 75. Isanaka S, Guindo O, Langendorf C, et al. Efficacy of a Low-Cost, Heat-Stable Oral Rotavirus Vaccine in Niger. *N Engl J Med.* 2017;376(12):1121-1130. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1609462

- 76. PATH. Global rotavirus vaccine options expand with World Health Organization prequalification of new vaccine from India. https://www.path.org/media-center/globalrotavirus-vaccine-options-expand-world-health-organization-prequalification-new-vaccineindia/. Published September 27, 2018. Accessed January 30, 2019.
- 77. Rota Council. ROTAVAC Vaccine Receives Prequalification by World Health Organization. http://rotacouncil.org/rotavac-vaccine-receives-prequalification-world-healthorganization/. Published February 22, 2018. Accessed January 30, 2019.
- 78. Kulkarni PS, Desai S, Tewari T, et al. A randomized Phase III clinical trial to assess the efficacy of a bovine-human reassortant pentavalent rotavirus vaccine in Indian infants. *Vaccine*. 2017;35(45):6228-6237. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.09.014
- Bhandari N, Rongsen-Chandola T, Bavdekar A, et al. Efficacy of a monovalent humanbovine (116E) rotavirus vaccine in Indian infants: a randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. *The Lancet*. 2014;383(9935):2136-2143. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62630-6
- Rota Council. Global rotavirus vaccine options expand with World Health Organization prequalification of new vaccine from India. http://rotacouncil.org/global-rotavirus-vaccineoptions-expand-world-health-organization-prequalification-new-vaccine-india/. Published October 1, 2018. Accessed February 17, 2019.
- Richardson V, Hernandez-Pichardo J, Quintanar-Solares M, et al. Effect of Rotavirus Vaccination on Death from Childhood Diarrhea in Mexico. *N Engl J Med*. 2010;362(4):299-305. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0905211

- do Carmo GMI, Yen C, Cortes J, et al. Decline in Diarrhea Mortality and Admissions after Routine Childhood Rotavirus Immunization in Brazil: A Time-Series Analysis. *PLoS Med*. 2011;8(4):e1001024. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001024
- Yen C, Armero Guardado JA, Alberto P, et al. Decline in Rotavirus Hospitalizations and Health Care Visits for Childhood Diarrhea Following Rotavirus Vaccination in El Salvador: *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* 2011;30:S6-S10. doi:10.1097/INF.0b013e3181fefa05
- 84. Raes M, Strens D, Vergison A, Verghote M, Standaert B. Reduction in Pediatric Rotavirusrelated Hospitalizations After Universal Rotavirus Vaccination in Belgium: *Pediatr Infect Dis J*. 2011;30(7):e120-e125. doi:10.1097/INF.0b013e318214b811
- 85. Paulke-Korinek M, Rendi-Wagner P, Kundi M, Kronik R, Kollaritsch H. Universal Mass Vaccination Against Rotavirus Gastroenteritis: Impact on Hospitalization Rates in Austrian Children. *Pediatr Infect Dis J*. November 2009:1. doi:10.1097/INF.0b013e3181c18434
- Field EJ, Vally H, Grimwood K, Lambert SB. Pentavalent Rotavirus Vaccine and Prevention of Gastroenteritis Hospitalizations in Australia. *PEDIATRICS*. 2010;126(3):e506-e512. doi:10.1542/peds.2010-0443
- 87. Cortese MM, Tate JE, Simonsen L, Edelman L, Parashar UD. Reduction in Gastroenteritis in United States Children and Correlation With Early Rotavirus Vaccine Uptake From National Medical Claims Databases: *Pediatr Infect Dis J*. March 2010:1. doi:10.1097/INF.0b013e3181d95b53

- Pindyck T, Tate JE, Parashar UD. A decade of experience with rotavirus vaccination in the United States – vaccine uptake, effectiveness, and impact. *Expert Rev Vaccines*. 2018;17(7):593-606. doi:10.1080/14760584.2018.1489724
- Velázquez RF, Linhares AC, Muñoz S, et al. Efficacy, safety and effectiveness of licensed rotavirus vaccines: a systematic review and meta-analysis for Latin America and the Caribbean. *BMC Pediatr*. 2017;17(1):14. doi:10.1186/s12887-016-0771-y
- 90. Enane LA, Gastañaduy PA, Goldfarb DM, et al. Impact of Rotavirus Vaccination on Hospitalizations and Deaths From Childhood Gastroenteritis in Botswana. *Clin Infect Dis*. 2016;62(suppl 2):S168-S174. doi:10.1093/cid/civ1210
- 91. Zaman K, Sack DA, Neuzil KM, et al. Effectiveness of a live oral human rotavirus vaccine after programmatic introduction in Bangladesh: A cluster-randomized trial. Tumwine JK, ed. *PLOS Med.* 2017;14(4):e1002282. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1002282
- 92. Linhares AC, Velázquez FR, Pérez-Schael I, et al. Efficacy and safety of an oral live attenuated human rotavirus vaccine against rotavirus gastroenteritis during the first 2 years of life in Latin American infants: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III study. *The Lancet*. 2008;371(9619):1181-1189. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60524-3
- Ruiz-Palacios GM, Pérez-Schael I, Velázquez FR, et al. Safety and Efficacy of an Attenuated Vaccine against Severe Rotavirus Gastroenteritis. *N Engl J Med.* 2006;354(1). doi:10.1056/NEJMoa052434

- 94. Platts-Mills JA, Amour C, Gratz J, et al. Impact of Rotavirus Vaccine Introduction and Postintroduction Etiology of Diarrhea Requiring Hospital Admission in Haydom, Tanzania, a Rural African Setting. *Clin Infect Dis*. 2017;65(7):1144-1151. doi:10.1093/cid/cix494
- 95. Operario DJ, Platts-Mills JA, Nadan S, et al. Etiology of Severe Acute Watery Diarrhea in Children in the Global Rotavirus Surveillance Network Using Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction. *J Infect Dis.* 2017;216(2):220-227. doi:10.1093/infdis/jix294
- World Health Organization. Rotavirus vaccines. WHO position paper January 2013.
 Releve Epidemiol Hebd. 2013;88(5):49-64.
- 97. Soares-Weiser K, MacLehose H, Bergman H, et al. Vaccines for preventing rotavirus diarrhoea: vaccines in use. In: The Cochrane Collaboration, ed. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2012. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/14651858.CD008521.pub3. Accessed December 14, 2016.
- 98. Patel M, Shane AL, Parashar UD, Jiang B, Gentsch JR, Glass RI. Oral Rotavirus Vaccines: How Well Will They Work Where They Are Needed Most? *J Infect Dis*. 2009;200(s1):S39-S48. doi:10.1086/605035
- 99. Patel M, Glass RI, Jiang B, Santosham M, Lopman B, Parashar U. A Systematic Review of Anti-Rotavirus Serum IgA Antibody Titer as a Potential Correlate of Rotavirus Vaccine Efficacy. J Infect Dis. 2013;208(2):284-294. doi:10.1093/infdis/jit166
- 100. Newburg DS, Peterson JA, Ruiz-Palacios GM, et al. Role of human-milk lactadherin in protection against symptomatic rotavirus infection. *Lancet Lond Engl.*1998;351(9110):1160-1164.

- 101. Velasquez DE, Parashar U, Jiang B. Decreased performance of live attenuated, oral rotavirus vaccines in low-income settings: causes and contributing factors. *Expert Rev Vaccines*. December 2017:1-17. doi:10.1080/14760584.2018.1418665
- 102. Bresee JS, Glass RI, Ivanoff B, Gentsch JR. Current status and future priorities for rotavirus vaccine development, evaluation and implementation in developing countries. *Vaccine*. 1999;17(18):2207-2222.
- 103. Naylor C, Lu M, Haque R, et al. Environmental Enteropathy, Oral Vaccine Failure and Growth Faltering in Infants in Bangladesh. *EBioMedicine*. 2015;2(11):1759-1766. doi:10.1016/j.ebiom.2015.09.036
- 104. Velasquez DE, Parashar U, Jiang B. Decreased performance of live attenuated, oral rotavirus vaccines in low-income settings: causes and contributing factors. *Expert Rev Vaccines*. December 2017:1-17. doi:10.1080/14760584.2018.1418665
- 105. Baicus A. History of polio vaccination. World J Virol. 2012;1(4):108. doi:10.5501/wjv.v1.i4.108
- 106. World Health Organization. Summary of WHO Position Papers- Recommended Routine Immunizations for Children. December 2018. https://www.who.int/immunization/policy/Immunization_routine_table2.pdf?ua=1. Accessed January 30, 2019.
- 107. Emperador DM, Velasquez DE, Estivariz CF, et al. Interference of Monovalent, Bivalent, and Trivalent Oral Poliovirus Vaccines on Monovalent Rotavirus Vaccine Immunogenicity in Rural Bangladesh. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2016;62(2):150-156. doi:10.1093/cid/civ807

- 108. Steele AD, De Vos B, Tumbo J, et al. Co-administration study in South African infants of a live-attenuated oral human rotavirus vaccine (RIX4414) and poliovirus vaccines. *Vaccine*. 2010;28(39):6542-6548. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.08.034
- 109. Li R, Huang T, Li Y, et al. Immunogenicity and reactogenicity of the human rotavirus vaccine, RIX4414 oral suspension, when co-administered with routine childhood vaccines in Chinese infants. *Hum Vaccines Immunother*. 2016;12(3):785-793. doi:10.1080/21645515.2015.1085143
- 110. Ramani S, Mamani N, Villena R, et al. Rotavirus Serum IgA Immune Response in Children Receiving Rotarix Coadministered With bOPV or IPV: *Pediatr Infect Dis J*.
 2016;35(10):1137-1139. doi:10.1097/INF.000000000001253
- 111. World Health Organization. Our Mission. Global Polio Eradication Initiative. http://polioeradication.org/who-we-are/our-mission/. Accessed January 31, 2019.
- 112. World Health Organization. IPV- Inactivated polio vaccine. Global Polio Eradication Initiative. http://polioeradication.org/polio-today/polio-prevention/the-vaccines/ipv/. Accessed January 31, 2019.
- 113. World Health Organization. Correlates of vaccine induced protection: methods and implications. 2013.
 http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/84288/1/WHO_IVB_13.01_eng.pdf. Accessed March 30, 2017.

- 114. de Oliveira LH, Danovaro-Holliday MC, Matus CR, Andrus JK. Rotavirus vaccine introduction in the Americas: progress and lessons learned. *Expert Rev Vaccines*. 2008;7(3):345-353. doi:10.1586/14760584.7.3.345
- 115. US Food and Drug Administration. Code of Federal Regulations: Title 21--Food and Drugs, Volume 5.

https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfcfr/CFRSearch.cfm?fr=314.500.

- 116. Ward RL, Bernstein DI. Lack of correlation between serum rotavirus antibody titers and protection following vaccination with reassortant RRV vaccines. US Rotavirus Vaccine Efficacy Group. *Vaccine*. 1995;13(13):1226-1232.
- 117. Ward RL, Knowlton DR, Zito ET, Davidson BL, Rappaport R, Mack ME. Serologic correlates of immunity in a tetravalent reassortant rotavirus vaccine trial. US Rotavirus Vaccine Efficacy Group. J Infect Dis. 1997;176(3):570-577.
- 118. Lanata CF, Midthun K, Black RE, et al. Safety, immunogenicity, and protective efficacy of one and three doses of the tetravalent rhesus rotavirus vaccine in infants in Lima, Peru. J Infect Dis. 1996;174(2):268-275.
- 119. Cheuvart B, Neuzil KM, Steele AD, et al. Association of serum anti-rotavirus immunoglobulin A antibody seropositivity and protection against severe rotavirus gastroenteritis: Analysis of clinical trials of human rotavirus vaccine. *Hum Vaccines Immunother*. 2014;10(2):505-511. doi:10.4161/hv.27097
- 120. Murphy K, Weaver C. Janeway's Immunobiology. 9th edition. New York, NY: Garland Science/Taylor & Francis Group, LLC; 2016.

- 121. Blutt SE, Miller AD, Salmon SL, Metzger DW, Conner ME. IgA is important for clearance and critical for protection from rotavirus infection. *Mucosal Immunol*. 2012;5(6):712-719. doi:10.1038/mi.2012.51
- 122. Haber M. Estimation of the direct and indirect effects of vaccination. *Stat Med*.1999;18(16):2101-2109.
- 123. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Lession 3: Measures of Risk. Principles of Epidemiology in Public Health Practice, Third Edition, An Introduction to Applied Epidemiology and Biostatistics. http://www.cdc.gov/ophss/csels/dsepd/ss1978/lesson3/section2.html. Accessed December 30, 2015.
- 124. Smith PG, Rodrigues LC, Fine PE. Assessment of the protective efficacy of vaccines against common diseases using case-control and cohort studies. *Int J Epidemiol*. 1984;13(1):87-93.
- 125. Goldstein E, Pitzer VE, O'Hagan JJ, Lipsitch M. Temporally Varying Relative Risks for Infectious Diseases: Implications for Infectious Disease Control. *Epidemiology*. 2017;28(1):136-144. doi:10.1097/EDE.000000000000571
- 126. Halloran ME, Struchiner CJ, Longini IM. Study designs for evaluating different efficacy and effectiveness aspects of vaccines. *Am J Epidemiol*. 1997;146(10):789-803.
- 127. Burnett E, Jonesteller CL, Tate JE, Yen C, Parashar UD. Global Impact of Rotavirus Vaccination on Childhood Hospitalizations and Mortality From Diarrhea. *J Infect Dis*. 2017;215(11):1666-1672. doi:10.1093/infdis/jix186

- 128. Quintanar-Solares M, Yen C, Richardson V, Esparza-Aguilar M, Parashar UD, Patel MM. Impact of Rotavirus Vaccination on Diarrhea-related Hospitalizations Among Children <5 Years of Age in Mexico: *Pediatr Infect Dis J*. 2011;30:S11-S15. doi:10.1097/INF.0b013e3181fefb32
- 129. Curns AT, Steiner CA, Barrett M, Hunter K, Wilson E, Parashar UD. Reduction in Acute Gastroenteritis Hospitalizations among US Children After Introduction of Rotavirus Vaccine: Analysis of Hospital Discharge Data from 18 US States. *J Infect Dis*. 2010;201(11):1617-1624. doi:10.1086/652403
- 130. Parashar UD, Alexander JP, Glass RI, Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Prevention of rotavirus gastroenteritis among infants and children. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). *MMWR Recomm Rep Morb Mortal Wkly Rep Recomm Rep.* 2006;55(RR-12):1-13.
- 131. International Vaccine Access Center (IVAC). VIEW-Hub Report: Global Vaccine Introduction and Implementation. Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health; 2016.
- 132. Cortese MM, Parashar UD, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Prevention of rotavirus gastroenteritis among infants and children: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). *MMWR Recomm Rep Morb Mortal Wkly Rep Recomm Rep.* 2009;58(RR-2):1-25.

- 133. Charles MD, Holman RC, Curns AT, Parashar UD, Glass RI, Bresee JS. Hospitalizations Associated With Rotavirus Gastroenteritis in the United States, 1993-2002: *Pediatr Infect Dis J*. 2006;25(6):489-493. doi:10.1097/01.inf.0000215234.91997.21
- 134. Pindyck T, Tate JE, Parashar UD. A decade of experience with rotavirus vaccination in the United States – vaccine uptake, effectiveness, and impact. *Expert Rev Vaccines*.
 2018;17(7):593-606. doi:10.1080/14760584.2018.1489724
- 135. Hill HA, Elam-Evans LD, Yankey D, Singleton JA, Kang Y. Vaccination Coverage Among Children Aged 19–35 Months — United States, 2017. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep*. 2018;67(40):1123-1128. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6740a4
- 136. Wang FT, Mast TC, Glass RJ, Loughlin J, Seeger JD. Effectiveness of the Pentavalent Rotavirus Vaccine in Preventing Gastroenteritis in the United States. *PEDIATRICS*. 2010;125(2):e208-e213. doi:10.1542/peds.2009-1246
- 137. Shah MP, Tate JE, Steiner CA, Parashar UD. Decline in Emergency Department Visits for Acute Gastroenteritis Among Children in 10 US States After Implementation of Rotavirus Vaccination, 2003 to 2013: *Pediatr Infect Dis J*. 2016;35(7):782-786. doi:10.1097/INF.00000000001175
- 138. Leshem E, Tate JE, Steiner CA, Curns AT, Lopman BA, Parashar UD. Acute Gastroenteritis Hospitalizations Among US Children Following Implementation of the Rotavirus Vaccine. JAMA. 2015;313(22):2282. doi:10.1001/jama.2015.5571

- Lopman BA, Curns AT, Yen C, Parashar UD. Infant Rotavirus Vaccination May Provide Indirect Protection to Older Children and Adults in the United States. *J Infect Dis*. 2011;204(7):980-986. doi:10.1093/infdis/jir492
- 140. Gastañaduy PA, Curns AT, Parashar UD, Lopman BA. Gastroenteritis Hospitalizations in Older Children and Adults in the United States Before and After Implementation of Infant Rotavirus Vaccination. JAMA. 2013;310(8):851. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.170800
- 141. Pitzer VE, Atkins KE, de Blasio BF, et al. Direct and Indirect Effects of Rotavirus
 Vaccination: Comparing Predictions from Transmission Dynamic Models. Roberts MG, ed.
 PLoS ONE. 2012;7(8):e42320. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0042320
- 142. Cortes JE, Curns AT, Tate JE, et al. Rotavirus Vaccine and Health Care Utilization for Diarrhea in U.S. Children. *N Engl J Med.* 2011;365(12):1108-1117. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1000446
- 143. Payne DC, Staat MA, Edwards KM, et al. Direct and Indirect Effects of Rotavirus
 Vaccination Upon Childhood Hospitalizations in 3 US Counties, 2006-2009. *Clin Infect Dis*. 2011;53(3):245-253. doi:10.1093/cid/cir307
- 144. Steele D, Kirkwood C, Lyou-Fu M. Next generation rotavirus vaccines. Presented at the: WHO Product Development for Vaccines Advisory Commitee; June 26, 2018. https://www.who.int/immunization/research/meetings_workshops/23_Steele_Rot_vaccines. pdf. Accessed January 31, 2019.

- 145. World Health Organization. List of Member States by WHO region and mortality stratum. http://www.who.int.proxy.library.emory.edu/whr/2003/en/member_states_182-184_en.pdf. Accessed August 12, 2017.
- 146. UNICEF. The UN Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation released the latest estimates on child mortality among children under age 5 and children aged 5-14. Child Mortality Estimates- CME Info. http://www.childmortality.org/. Published September 9, 2015. Accessed January 18, 2019.
- 147. The Hong Kong Council of Social Services. Social Indicators of Hong Kong: Under age 5 child mortality per 1,000 live births. https://www.socialindicators.org.hk/en/indicators/children/29.2. Accessed August 10, 2017.
- 148. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation: Taiwan. http://www.healthdata.org/taiwan. Accessed August 10, 2017.
- 149. Heathcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP). Overview of the State Inpatient Databases (SID). SID Overview. https://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/sidoverview.jsp. Published June 2016.
- 150. National Center for Health Statistics. *Health, United States, 2015: With Special Feature on Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*. Hyattsville, MD; 2016:238.
 http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/immunize.htm. Accessed November 30, 2016.
- 151. Hsu VP, Staat MA, Roberts N, et al. Use of Active Surveillance to Validate International Classification of Diseases Code Estimates of Rotavirus Hospitalizations in Children. Pediatrics. 2005;115(1):78-82. doi:10.1542/peds.2004-0860

- 152. Leshem E, Moritz RE, Curns AT, et al. Rotavirus Vaccines and Health Care Utilization for Diarrhea in the United States (2007-2011). *PEDIATRICS*. 2014;134(1):15-23. doi:10.1542/peds.2013-3849
- 153. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Bridged-Race Population Estimates Data Files and Documentation. National Center for Health Statistics. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nvss/bridged_race/data_documentation.htm. Published June 2018. Accessed February 2, 2019.
- 154. Hansen LG. Health Research Data for the Real World: The Marketscan Databases. July 2011.
 http://truvenhealth.com/portals/0/assets/PH_11238_0612_TEMP_MarketScan_WP_FINAL .pdf. Accessed August 16, 2018.
- 155. Kulkarni PS, Desai S, Tewari T, et al. A randomized Phase III clinical trial to assess the efficacy of a bovine-human reassortant pentavalent rotavirus vaccine in Indian infants. *Vaccine*. 2017;35(45):6228-6237. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.09.014
- 156. Parker EP, Ramani S, Lopman BA, et al. Causes of impaired oral vaccine efficacy in developing countries. *Future Microbiol.* 2018;13(1):97-118. doi:10.2217/fmb-2017-0128
- 157. Zaman K, Sack DA, Yunus M, et al. Successful co-administration of a human rotavirus and oral poliovirus vaccines in Bangladeshi infants in a 2-dose schedule at 12 and 16 weeks of age. *Vaccine*. 2009;27(9):1333-1339. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.12.059

- 158. Patel M, Steele AD, Parashar UD. Influence of oral polio vaccines on performance of the monovalent and pentavalent rotavirus vaccines. *Vaccine*. 2012;30:A30-A35. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.11.093
- 159. World Health Organization. Polio vaccines: WHO position paper, March 2016– recommendations. *Vaccine*. 2017;35(9):1197-1199. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.11.017
- 160. The World Bank. World Bank Open Data. World Development Indicators. https://data.worldbank.org/. Published 2018. Accessed September 28, 2018.
- 161. Taiwan (Taiwan Province of China) GDP per Capita (Current Prices, US Dollars) Statistics. Economy Watch. http://www.economywatch.com/economicstatistics/Taiwan/GDP_Per_Capita_Current_Prices_US_Dollars/#otheryears. Published November 28, 2018. Accessed November 28, 2018.
- 162. The World Bank. Mortality rate, under-5 (per 1,000 live births). World Development Indicators. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/sh.dyn.mort. Published 2018. Accessed September 28, 2018.
- 163. Knoema. Hong Kong- Under-five mortality rate. Knoema data. https://knoema.com/atlas/Hong-Kong/topics/Demographics/Mortality/Under-5-mortalityrate. Accessed November 28, 2018.
- 164. Wu JC-L, Chiang T-L. Comparing Child Mortality in Taiwan and Selected Industrialized Countries. J Formos Med Assoc. 2007;106(2):177-180. doi:10.1016/S0929-6646(09)60237-0

- 165. Zaccaro DJ, Wagener DK, Whisnant CC, Staats HF. Evaluation of vaccine-induced antibody responses: impact of new technologies. *Vaccine*. 2013;31(25):2756-2761. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.03.065
- 166. Beyer WE., Palache A., Lüchters G, Nauta J, Osterhaus ADM. Seroprotection rate, mean fold increase, seroconversion rate: which parameter adequately expresses seroresponse to influenza vaccination? *Virus Res.* 2004;103(1-2):125-132. doi:10.1016/j.virusres.2004.02.024
- 167. ThermoFisher Scientific. Overview of ELISA. https://www.thermofisher.com/us/en/home/life-science/protein-biology/protein-biologylearning-center/protein-biology-resource-library/pierce-protein-methods/overviewelisa.html. Accessed February 14, 2019.
- 168. Steele AD, Reynders J, Scholtz F, et al. Comparison of 2 Different Regimens for Reactogenicity, Safety, and Immunogenicity of the Live Attenuated Oral Rotavirus Vaccine RIX4414 Coadministered with Oral Polio Vaccine in South African Infants. *J Infect Dis*. 2010;202(S1):S93-S100. doi:10.1086/653550
- 169. Vesikari T, Karvonen A, Prymula R, et al. Immunogenicity and safety of the human rotavirus vaccine Rotarix co-administered with routine infant vaccines following the vaccination schedules in Europe. *Vaccine*. 2010;28(32):5272-5279. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.05.057

- 170. Desai R, Oliveira LH de, Parashar UD, Lopman B, Tate JE, Patel MM. Reduction in morbidity and mortality from childhood diarrhoeal disease after species A rotavirus vaccine introduction in Latin America - a review. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz*. 2011;106(8):907-911.
- 171. Bar-Zeev N, King C, Phiri T, et al. Impact of monovalent rotavirus vaccine on diarrhoeaassociated post-neonatal infant mortality in rural communities in Malawi: a populationbased birth cohort study. *Lancet Glob Health*. 2018;6(9):e1036-e1044. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30314-0
- 172. Karafillakis E, Hassounah S, Atchison C. Effectiveness and impact of rotavirus vaccines in Europe, 2006–2014. *Vaccine*. 2015;33(18):2097-2107. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.03.016
- 173. Tate JE, Patel MM, Cortese MM, et al. Remaining issues and challenges for rotavirus vaccine in preventing global childhood diarrheal morbidity and mortality. *Expert Rev Vaccines*. 2012;11(2):211-220. doi:10.1586/erv.11.184
- 174. Cox R. Correlates of protection to influenza virus, where do we go from here? *Hum Vaccines Immunother*. 2013;9(2):405-408. doi:10.4161/hv.22908
- 175. Miller E, Salisbury D, Ramsay M. Planning, registration, and implementation of an immunisation campaign against meningococcal serogroup C disease in the UK: a success story. *Vaccine*. 2001;20 Suppl 1:S58-67.
- 176. Siber GR, Chang I, Baker S, et al. Estimating the protective concentration of anti-pneumococcal capsular polysaccharide antibodies. *Vaccine*. 2007;25(19):3816-3826. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.01.119
- 177. Liang JL, Tiwari T, Moro P, et al. Prevention of Pertussis, Tetanus, and Diphtheria with Vaccines in the United States: Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). *MMWR Recomm Rep.* 2018;67(2):1-44. doi:10.15585/mmwr.rr6702a1
- 178. Roper M, Wassilak S, Scobie H, Ridpath A, Orenstein W. Chapter 58. Tetanus Toxoid. In: Plotkin S, Orenstein W, Offit P, Edwards K, eds. *Plotkin's Vaccines*. 7th ed. Elsevier; 2018:1052-1079.
- 179. Tiwari T, Wharton M. Chapter 19: Diphtheria Toxoid. In: Plotkin S, Orenstein W, Offit P, Edwards K, eds. *Plotkin's Vaccines*. Vol 7. Elsevier; 2018:261-275.
- 180. Kirkwood CD, Ma L-F, Carey ME, Steele AD. The rotavirus vaccine development pipeline. *Vaccine*. April 2017. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.03.076
- 181. Ward RL, Bernstein DI, Shukla R, et al. Effects of antibody to rotavirus on protection of adults challenged with a human rotavirus. *J Infect Dis*. 1989;159(1):79-88.
- 182. Ruuska T, Vesikari T. Rotavirus Disease in Finnish Children: Use of Numerical Scores for Clinical Severity of Diarrhoeal Episodes. *Scand J Infect Dis*. 1990;22(3):259-267. doi:10.3109/00365549009027046
- 183. Wood D. WHO informal consultation on quality, safety and efficacy specifications for live attenuated rotavirus vaccines. *Vaccine*. 2005;23(48-49):5478-5487.
 doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.07.035

- 184. Premkumar P, Lopman B, Ramani S, et al. Association of serum antibodies with protection against rotavirus infection and disease in South Indian children. *Vaccine*. 2014;32:A55-A61. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.04.077
- 185. Plotkin SA, Gilbert PB. Nomenclature for immune correlates of protection after vaccination. *Clin Infect Dis Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am*. 2012;54(11):1615-1617. doi:10.1093/cid/cis238
- 186. Trang NV, Braeckman T, Lernout T, et al. Prevalence of rotavirus antibodies in breast milk and inhibitory effects to rotavirus vaccines. *Hum Vaccines Immunother*. 2014;10(12):3681-3687. doi:10.4161/21645515.2014.980204
- 187. Widdowson M-A, Meltzer MI, Zhang X, Bresee JS, Parashar UD, Glass RI. Costeffectiveness and Potential Impact of Rotavirus Vaccination in the United States. *PEDIATRICS*. 2007;119(4):684-697. doi:10.1542/peds.2006-2876
- 188. De Vos B, Vesikari T, Linhares AC, et al. A rotavirus vaccine for prophylaxis of infants against rotavirus gastroenteritis. *Pediatr Infect Dis J*. 2004;23(10 Suppl):S179-182.
- 189. Salinas B, Pérez Schael I, Linhares AC, et al. Evaluation of safety, immunogenicity and efficacy of an attenuated rotavirus vaccine, RIX4414: A randomized, placebo-controlled trial in Latin American infants. *Pediatr Infect Dis J*. 2005;24(9):807-816.
- 190. Hill HA, Elam-Evans LD, Yankey D, Singleton JA, Dietz V. Vaccination Coverage Among Children Aged 19–35 Months — United States, 2015. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep*. 2016;65(39):1065-1071. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6539a4

- 191. Aliabadi N, Tate JE, Haynes AK, Parashar UD, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Sustained decrease in laboratory detection of rotavirus after implementation of routine vaccination—United States, 2000-2014. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(13):337-342.
- 192. Gurgel RQ, Correia JB, Cuevas LE. Effect of rotavirus vaccination on circulating virus strains. *The Lancet*. 2008;371(9609):301-302. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60164-6
- 193. Pitzer VE, Patel MM, Lopman BA, Viboud C, Parashar UD, Grenfell BT. Modeling rotavirus strain dynamics in developed countries to understand the potential impact of vaccination on genotype distributions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2011;108(48):19353-19358. doi:10.1073/pnas.1110507108
- 194. Bhaskaran K, Gasparrini A, Hajat S, Smeeth L, Armstrong B. Time series regression studies in environmental epidemiology. *Int J Epidemiol.* 2013;42(4):1187-1195. doi:10.1093/ije/dyt092
- 195. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). Rotavirus Vaccination Coverage and Adherence to the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP)-Recommended Vaccination Schedule ----United States, February 2006--May 2007. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2008;57(15):398-401.
- 196. Atchison C, Collins S, Brown D, Ramsay ME, Ladhani S. Reduction in rotavirus disease due to the infant immunisation programme in England; evidence from national surveillance. *J Infect.* 2015;71(1):128-131. doi:10.1016/j.jinf.2015.01.007

- 197. Buttery JP, Lambert SB, Grimwood K, et al. Reduction in Rotavirus-associated Acute Gastroenteritis Following Introduction of Rotavirus Vaccine Into Australia's National Childhood Vaccine Schedule: *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* 2011;30:S25-S29. doi:10.1097/INF.0b013e3181fefdee
- 198. Anderson EJ, Shippee DB, Weinrobe MH, et al. Indirect Protection of Adults From Rotavirus by Pediatric Rotavirus Vaccination. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2013;56(6):755-760. doi:10.1093/cid/cis1010
- 199. Leshem E, Lopman B, Glass R, et al. Distribution of rotavirus strains and strain-specific effectiveness of the rotavirus vaccine after its introduction: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2014;14(9):847-856. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(14)70832-1
- 200. Payne DC, Szilagyi PG, Staat MA, et al. Secular Variation in United States Rotavirus
 Disease Rates and Serotypes: Implications for Assessing the Rotavirus Vaccination
 Program. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* 2009;28(11):948-953. doi:10.1097/INF.0b013e3181a6ad6e
- 201. Anderson EJ, Katz BZ, Polin JA, Reddy S, Weinrobe MH, Noskin GA. Rotavirus in adults requiring hospitalization. *J Infect*. 2012;64(1):89-95. doi:10.1016/j.jinf.2011.09.003
- 202. Pitzer VE, Viboud C, Simonsen L, et al. Demographic Variability, Vaccination, and the Spatiotemporal Dynamics of Rotavirus Epidemics. *Science*. 2009;325(5938):290-294. doi:10.1126/science.1172330
- 203. Mossong J, Hens N, Jit M, et al. Social Contacts and Mixing Patterns Relevant to the Spread of Infectious Diseases. Riley S, ed. *PLoS Med.* 2008;5(3):e74. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.0050074

- 204. Cardemil CV. Two Rotavirus Outbreaks Caused by Genotype G2P[4] at Large Retirement Communities: Cohort Studies. Ann Intern Med. 2012;157(9):621. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-157-9-201211060-00006
- 205. Papaloukas O, Giannouli G, Papaevangelou V. Successes and challenges in varicella vaccine. *Ther Adv Vaccines*. 2014;2(2):39-55. doi:10.1177/2051013613515621
- 206. Trentini F, Poletti P, Merler S, Melegaro A. Measles immunity gaps and the progress towards elimination: a multi-country modelling analysis. *Lancet Infect Dis*.
 2017;17(10):1089-1097. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(17)30421-8
- 207. Tate JE, Haynes A, Payne DC, et al. Trends in National Rotavirus Activity Before and After Introduction of Rotavirus Vaccine into the National Immunization Program in the United States, 2000 to 2012: *Pediatr Infect Dis J*. 2013;32(7):741-744. doi:10.1097/INF.0b013e31828d639c
- 208. Hemming-Harlo M, Markkula J, Huhti L, Salminen M, Vesikari T. Decrease of Rotavirus Gastroenteritis to a Low Level Without Resurgence for Five Years After Universal RotaTeq Vaccination in Finland. *Pediatr Infect Dis J*. 2016;35(12):1304-1308. doi:10.1097/INF.00000000001305
- 209. Sabbe M, Berger N, Blommaert A, et al. Sustained low rotavirus activity and hospitalisation rates in the post-vaccination era in Belgium, 2007 to 2014. *Eurosurveillance*. 2016;21(27). doi:10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2016.21.27.30273

- 210. Jayasinghe S, Macartney K. Estimating rotavirus gastroenteritis hospitalisations by using hospital episode statistics before and after the introduction of rotavirus vaccine in Australia. *Vaccine*. 2013;31(6):967-972. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.11.099
- 211. Rha B, Tate JE, Payne DC, et al. Effectiveness and impact of rotavirus vaccines in the United States – 2006–2012. *Expert Rev Vaccines*. 2014;13(3):365-376. doi:10.1586/14760584.2014.877846
- 212. Panozzo CA, Becker-Dreps S, Pate V, et al. Direct, Indirect, Total, and Overall Effectiveness of the Rotavirus Vaccines for the Prevention of Gastroenteritis Hospitalizations in Privately Insured US Children, 2007-2010. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2014;179(7):895-909. doi:10.1093/aje/kwu001
- 213. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Department of Health and Human Services. The Recommended Immunization Schedules for Psersons Aged 0 Through 18 Years, United States, 2016. https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/schedules/downloads/past/2016child.pdf. Accessed January 17, 2019.
- 214. Baker JM, Tate JE, Steiner CA, Haber MJ, Parashar UD, Lopman BA. Longer-term direct and indirect effects of infant rotavirus vaccination across all ages in the US; 2000 - 2013: analysis of a large hospital discharge dataset. *Clin Infect Dis.* July 2018. doi:10.1093/cid/ciy580
- 215. Grassly NC, Fraser C. Seasonal infectious disease epidemiology. *Proc R Soc B Biol Sci*.
 2006;273(1600):2541-2550. doi:10.1098/rspb.2006.3604

- 216. Atchison C, Lopman B, Edmunds WJ. Modelling the seasonality of rotavirus disease and the impact of vaccination in England and Wales. *Vaccine*. 2010;28(18):3118-3126. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.02.060
- 217. Hill HA, Elam-Evans LD, Yankey D, Singleton JA, Kang Y. Vaccination Coverage Among Children Aged 19–35 Months — United States, 2016. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep*.
 2017;66(43):1171-1177. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6643a3
- 218. Bowen MD, Mijatovic-Rustempasic S, Esona MD, et al. Rotavirus Strain Trends During the Postlicensure Vaccine Era: United States, 2008–2013. *J Infect Dis*. 2016;214(5):732-738. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiw233
- 219. Tate JE, Mijatovic-Rustempasic S, Tam KI, et al. Comparison of 2 Assays for Diagnosing Rotavirus and Evaluating Vaccine Effectiveness in Children with Gastroenteritis. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2013;19(8):1245-1252. doi:10.3201/eid1908.130461
- 220. Verberk JDM, Pijnacker R, Bruijning-Verhagen P, et al. Biennial Pattern of Rotavirus Gastroenteritis in The Netherlands and a Shifting Age Distribution Following a Low Rotavirus Season, 2010-2016: *Pediatr Infect Dis J*. December 2017:1. doi:10.1097/INF.000000000001880

10 Appendix

Abbreviations

AGE	Acute gastroenteritis
AHRQ	Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality
AIC	Akaike information criterion
CI	Confidence interval
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GMC	Geometric mean concentration
GMT	Geometric mean titer
GSK	GlaxoSmithKline
HCUP	Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
НМО	Health maintenance organization
HR	Hazard ratio
ICD-9	International Classification of Disease, Ninth Revision
ICD-10	International Classification of Disease, Tenth Revision
ID	Identification
IgA	Immunoglobulin A
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
IgM	Immunoglobulin M
IQR	Interquartile range

IPV	Inactivated polio vaccine
LAZ	Length-for-age z-score
Ν	Number
NA	Not applicable
NAs	Neutralizing antibodies
NCHS	National Center for Health Statistics
OPV	Oral polio vaccine
OR	Odds ratio
POS	Point-of-service
PPO	Preferred provider organization
RR	Rate ratio
RV	Rotavirus
RVGE	Rotavirus gastroenteritis
SD	Standard deviation
SDI	Socio-demographic index
SID	State Inpatient Database
U5MR	Under 5 mortality rate
U/mL	Units per millileter
VE	Vaccine effectiveness
VP	Viral protein
WHO	World Health Organization